# THE CONTRIBUTION OF K<sup>+</sup> ION CHANNELS AND THE Ca<sup>2+</sup>-PERMEABLE TRPM8 CHANNEL TO BREAST CANCER CELL PROLIFERATION.

by

Jeremy W Roy

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia October 2010

© Copyright by Jeremy W Roy, 2010

## DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

## DEPARTMENT OF PHYSIOLOGY AND BIOPHYSICS

The undersigned hereby certify that they have read and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance a thesis entitled "THE CONTRIBUTION OF K<sup>+</sup> ION CHANNELS AND THE Ca<sup>2+</sup>-PERMEABLE TRPM8 CHANNEL TO BREAST CANCER CELL PROLIFERATION" by Jeremy W Roy in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Dated: October 26, 2010

Supervisor:

Readers:

## DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

DATE: October 26, 2010

AUTHOR: Jeremy W Roy

TITLE: THE CONTRIBUTION OF K<sup>+</sup> ION CHANNELS AND THE Ca<sup>2+</sup>-PERMEABLE TRPM8 CHANNEL TO BREAST CANCER CELL PROLIFERATION.

DEPARTMENT OR SCHOOL: Department of Physiology and Biophysics

DEGREE: PhD CONVOCATION: May YEAR: 2011 Permission is herewith granted to Dalhousie University to circulate and to have copied for non-commercial purposes, at its discretion, the above title upon the request of individuals or institutions.

Signature of Author

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

The author attests that permission has been obtained for the use of any copyrighted material appearing in the thesis (other than the brief excerpts requiring only proper acknowledgement in scholarly writing), and that all such use is clearly acknowledged.

For Dalhousie PhD Level Students

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
ABSTRACT	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATION	S AND SYMBOLS USEDxiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xvi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCT	ГІОЛ1
1.1 BREAST CANCER	1
1.2 MAMMARY GLAN PROPERTIES	ND STRUCTURE AND TRANSPORT
1.3 MALIGNANT TRA	ANSFORMATION5
1.4 CELL CYCLE	
1.5 ORIGIN, CLASSIF CANCER	ICATION AND MODELS OF BREAST 10
1.6 ESTROGEN AND	OTHER HORMONAL FACTORS12
1.7 ION CHANNELS A	AND CANCER18
1.7.1 K <sup>+</sup> CHANNELS	
1.7.2 Ca <sup>2+</sup> PERMEAE CHANNELS	SLE TRANSIENT RECEPTOR POTENTIAL
1.7.3 OTHERS	
1.8 HOW DO K <sup>+</sup> CHAN	NNELS CONTROL CELL PROLIFERATION?
1.8.1 Ca <sup>2+</sup> INFLUX	
1.8.2 CELL VOLUM	E
1.8.3 INTRACELLU	LAR pH41
1.9 HOW DO OTHER PROLIFERATION	ION CHANNELS CONTIBUTE TO CELL ?43
1.10 RATIONALE AND	SPECIFIC AIMS OF THE THESIS
CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS	S AND METHODS46

2.1	CELL CULTURE	46
2.2	SAMPLING	47
2.3	DRUGS USED	47
2.4	NOMENCLATURE	47
2.5	RNA EXTRACTION AND REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION (RT)	48
2.6	POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION (PCR) AND QUANTITATIVE PCR	48
2.7	WESTERN BLOTTING	51
2.8	[ <sup>3</sup> H]-THYMIDINE INCORPORATION	52
2.9	CELL COUNTING	54
2.10	TRYPAN BLUE EXCLUSION ASSAY	54
2.11	COMPETITIVE LIGAND BINDING ASSAY	54
2.12	<sup>45</sup> Ca <sup>2+</sup> UPTAKE ASSAY	56
2.13	[ <sup>3</sup> H]-THYMIDINE UPTAKE	57
2.14	siRNA TRANSFECTION	58
2.15	STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	59
CHAP	FER 3: RESULTS	60
3.1	MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION OF K <sup>+</sup> CHANNELS IN MCF-7 CELLS AND THEIR CONTRIBUTION TO CELL PROLIFERATION	60
3.2	REGULATION OF KCNH1 mRNA EXPRESSION BY E2	62
3.3	K <sub>v</sub> 10.1 AND K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1 ACTIVITY IS IMPORTANT FOR BASAL CELL PROLIFERATION BUT NOT E2-STIMULATED PROLIFERATION	64
3.4	ER ANTAGONIST-SENSITIVE EFFECTS OF TRAM-34	66
3.5	TRAM-34 MIMICS THE EFFECTS OF E2 ON GENE EXPRESSION IN MCF-7 CELLS	68
3.6	DIRECT INTERACTION OF TRAM-34 WITH THE ER	69
3.7	K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1, BUT NOT K <sub>V</sub> 10.1 CHANNEL INHIBITION LEADS TO REDUCED BASAL <sup>45</sup> Ca <sup>2+</sup> INFLUX	71

`RPM8 IS A Ca <sup>2+</sup> INFLUX PATHWAY IN MCF-7 CELLS	73
CTC AND ICILIN INHIBIT [ <sup>3</sup> H]-THYMIDINE NCORPORATION	75
FFECT OF TRPM8 MODULATION ON [ <sup>3</sup> H]-THYMIDINE `RANSPORT	76
'RPM8 CONTRIBUTES TO BASAL MCF-7 CELL   'ROLIFERATION	76
R 4: DISCUSSION	80
X <sup>+</sup> CHANNELS EXPRESSED IN MCF-7 CELLS	81
K <sup>+</sup> CHANNEL ACTIVITY AND MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION	84
E2 REGULATION OF KCNH1 mRNA EXPRESSION	87
K <sub>v</sub> 10.1 and K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1 CHANNEL ACTIVITIES ARE NOT CRITICAL FOR E2-STIMULATED CELL PROLIFERATION	89
TRAM-34 IS A NOVEL ER AGONIST	92
IYPOTHESIZED K <sup>+</sup> CHANNEL REGULATION OF CELL CYCLE IACHINERY	94
TRPM8 CHANNELS IN MCF-7 CELLS	96
FUNCTIONAL IDENTIFICATION OF TRPM8 CHANNELS IN MCF-7 CELLS	97
BCTC AND ICILIN ARE NUCLEOSIDE TRANSPORT INHIBITORS	99
TRPM8 CHANNEL ACTIVITY CONTRIBUTES TO MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION	101
K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1, BUT NOT K <sub>V</sub> 10.1 CHANNEL ACTIVITY REGULATES BASAL Ca <sup>2+</sup> INFLUX	103
ROPOSED MODEL FOR THE CONTRIBUTION OF K <sub>v</sub> 10.1, K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1 AND TRPM8 CHANNELS TO MCF-7 CELL ROLIFERATION	108
RELEVANCE TO BREAST CANCER	111
	RYMB IS A C4 INFLUX PATHWAY IN MCF-7 CELLS CTC AND ICILIN INHIBIT [ <sup>3</sup> H]-THYMIDINE NCORPORATION FFECT OF TRPM8 MODULATION ON [ <sup>3</sup> H]-THYMIDINE RANSPORT RPM8 CONTRIBUTES TO BASAL MCF-7 CELL ROLIFERATION R 4: DISCUSSION C <sup>+</sup> CHANNELS EXPRESSED IN MCF-7 CELLS K <sup>+</sup> CHANNEL ACTIVITY AND MCF-7 CELLS NC <sup>+</sup> CHANNEL ACTIVITY AND MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION E2 REGULATION OF KCNH1 mRNA EXPRESSION K <sub>1</sub> (0.1 and K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1 CHANNEL ACTIVITIES ARE NOT CRITICAL FOR E2-STIMULATED CELL PROLIFERATION TRAM-34 IS A NOVEL ER AGONIST IVPOTHESIZED K <sup>+</sup> CHANNEL REGULATION OF CELL CYCLE IACHINERY RPM8 CHANNELS IN MCF-7 CELLS FUNCTIONAL IDENTIFICATION OF TRPM8 CHANNELS IN MCF-7 CELLS BCTC AND ICILIN ARE NUCLEOSIDE TRANSPORT INHIBITORS TRPM8 CHANNEL ACTIVITY CONTRIBUTES TO MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION TRPM8 CHANNEL ACTIVITY CONTRIBUTES TO MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION Ca_3.1, BUT NOT K <sub>V</sub> 10.1 CHANNEL ACTIVITY REGULATES ASAL Ca <sup>2+</sup> INFLUX ROPOSED MODEL FOR THE CONTRIBUTION OF K <sub>V</sub> 10.1, Ca_3.1 AND TRPM8 CHANNELS TO MCF-7 CELL ROLIFERATION ELEVANCE TO BREAST CANCER

APPENDIX B: SOLUTION RECIPES18	32
--------------------------------	----

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. MCF-7 cell seeding and feeding schedule.	115
Table 2. Drug information.	116
Table 3: PCR primer information.	117
Table 4. Antibody information.	119

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Mammary gland structure of the adult female human	158
Figure 2. Ion distribution and transepithelial transport pathways in mammary epithelial cells.	. 159
Figure 3. Six hallmarks of cancer.	160
Figure 4. Simplified schematic of the cell cycle	161
Figure 5. Molecular identification of K <sup>+</sup> channel mRNA and protein in MCF-7 cells.	. 162
Figure 6. Contribution of K <sup>+</sup> channel activity to MCF-7 cell proliferation	163
Figure 7. Selective regulation of KCNH1 mRNA expression by E2.	164
Figure 8. Concentration-response and time course of KCNH1 mRNA expression with E2 treatment.	. 165
Figure 9. Contribution of K <sub>v</sub> 10.1 and K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1 channel activity to E2-stimulated MCF-7 cell proliferation.	. 166
Figure 10. Biphasic concentration-dependent effects of TRAM-34 on MCF-7 cell proliferation.	. 167
Figure 11. ER-antagonist sensitive effects of TRAM-34.	168
Figure 12. TRAM-34 mimics the effects of E2 on progesterone receptor (PR) and estrogen receptor-α (ER-α) mRNA expression	. 169
Figure 13. TRAM-34 and clotrimazole compete with [ <sup>3</sup> H]-E2 for binding to the ER	170
Figure 14. $K_{Ca}$ 3.1 channel activity controls $Ca^{2+}$ influx in MCF-7 cells	171
Figure 15. Resting membrane potential-dependent and osmolarity-independent effects of TRAM-34 on <sup>45</sup> Ca <sup>2+</sup> uptake in MCF-7 cells	. 172
Figure 16. The molecular identification of TRPM8 channel mRNA in MCF-7 cells	173
Figure 17. TRPM8 channel activity in MCF-7 cells	174
Figure 18. BCTC and icilin inhibit [ <sup>3</sup> H]-thymidine incorporation in MCF-7 cells	175
Figure 19. BCTC and icilin are nucleoside transport inhibitors in MCF-7 cells	. 176

Figure 20. Effect of TRPM8 modulators BCTC and icilin on MCF-7 cell proliferation	. 177
Figure 21. TRPM8 specific siRNA reduces TRPM8 protein abundance.	178
Figure 22. TRPM8 specific siRNA reduces MCF-7 cell proliferation	179
Figure 23. Chemical structures of K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1 channel inhibitors and E2.	180
Figure 24. Proposed model	181

### ABSTRACT

Breast cancer is the most prevalent cancer type among Canadian women. Breast cancers originate from the malignant transformation of mammary epithelial cells, which causes them to adopt an uncontrolled cell proliferation phenotype.

My research suggests that the activity of specific ion channels ( $K_V 10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8) contribute to the proliferation of MCF-7 cells, a cell line commonly used to study breast cancer *in vitro*. Pharmacologically inhibiting the activities of  $K_V 10.1$  or  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels decreased basal, but not estrogen-stimulated [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation, demonstrating that these channels contribute to MCF-7 cell proliferation. One way K<sup>+</sup> channel activity is hypothesized to control cell proliferation is via regulation of membrane potential-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx. Inhibition of  $K_{Ca}3.1$  but not  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity resulted in a membrane potential-dependent decrease in basal  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, suggesting that the way in which  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels contribute to cell proliferation is via regulation is via regulation is via regulation.

In addition, my research also demonstrated that TRAM-34 increased or decreased cell proliferation depending on the concentration used and mitogenesis by TRAM-34 was blocked by estrogen receptor antagonists. TRAM-34 increased progesterone receptor mRNA expression, decreased estrogen receptor-alpha mRNA expression and reduced the binding of radiolabelled estrogen to estrogen receptor protein, in each case mimicking the effects of estrogen. Our finding that TRAM-34 is able to activate the estrogen receptor suggests a novel action of this supposedly specific  $K^+$  channel inhibitor and raises concerns of interpretation in its use.

TRPM8 channels were also identified in MCF-7 cells, where they appeared to be important  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathways. Inhibiting the activity of TRPM8 pharmacologically, as well as knocking down TRPM8 mRNA expression decreased cell proliferation, indicating that TRPM8 also contributed to MCF-7 cell proliferation.

In conclusion, my research demonstrates that the activities of  $K_V 10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8 channels contribute to basal breast cancer cell proliferation. These findings suggest that the activity of specific ion channels may be potential targets for future therapeutic agents to treat breast cancer.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS USED

293B	Chromanol 293B
AF-1	Activation function-1 domain
AF-2	Activation function-2 domain
Ast	Astemizole
BCTC	(N-(4-tertiarybutylphenyl)-4-(3-cholorphyridin-2-yl)tetrahydropryazine-1(2H)-carbox-amide)
BK	Big K <sup>+</sup> channel
BWS	Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome
cAMP	Cyclic 3'5'-adenosine-monophosphate
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
CDKI	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator
СНО	Chinese hamster ovarian
Clt	Clotrimazole
CNT	Concentrative nucleoside transporter
C <sub>T</sub>	Cycle threshold
DCC-FBS	Dextran-coated charcoal foetal bovine serum
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	Deoxynucleotide triphosphate
E1	Estrone
E2	17β-estradiol
E3	Estriol
EAG	Ether a go-go
EBIO	1-ethyl-2-benzimidazolinone
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ELK	Ether a go-go-like
ENaC	Epithelial Na <sup>+</sup> channel
ENT	Equilibrative nucleoside transporter
ER	Estrogen receptor

Erb-B2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
ERE	Estrogen response element
ERG	Ether a go-go-related
FBS	Foetal bovine serum
Glib	Glibenclamide
HAP	Hydroxylapatite
HPRT	Hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyltransferase
hIK1	Human intermediate-conductance $Ca^{2+}$ -activated K <sup>+</sup> channel 1
ICI	ICI182,780
Ibx	Iberiotoxin
IDC-NST	Invasive ductal carcinomas of no specific type
IGF-1	Insulin growth factor-1
ILC	Invasive lobular carcinoma
Imip	Imipramine
INK4	Cyclin D-CDK4 inhibitor
K <sub>ATP</sub>	ATP-sensitive $K^+$ channel
K <sub>Ca</sub>	Calcium-activated K <sup>+</sup> channel
KIP	Kinase inhibitor protein
K <sub>ir</sub>	Inwardly rectifying K <sup>+</sup> channel
$K_V$	Voltage-gated K <sup>+</sup> channel
LQT-2	Long QT-syndrome-2
MAPK	Mitogen activated protein kinase
MCF-7	Michigan cancer foundation-7
MEM	Minimum essential media
M-MLV	Moloney murine leukemia virus
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
NBTI	Nitrobenzyl theoinosine
Na <sub>V</sub>	Voltage-gated Na <sup>+</sup> channel
NKCC1	Na <sup>+</sup> -K <sup>+</sup> -Cl <sup>-</sup> -cotransporter 1
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TCA	Trichloric acetic acid
TDLU	Terminal duct lobular unit

TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
TRAM	Triarylmethane-34
TRP	Transient receptor potential
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PI3K	Phosphoinositol-3 kinase
РКА	Protein kinase A
РКС	Protein kinase C
PMCA	Plasma membrane Ca <sup>2+</sup> ATPase
PR	Progesterone receptor
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
Ras	Rat Sarcoma
Rb	Retinoblastoma protein
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT	Reverse transcription
RVD	Regulatory volume decrease
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SEM	Standard error of the mean
siRNA	Small interfering ribonucleic acid
SPCA	Secretory pathway Ca <sup>2+</sup> ATPase
VEGF	Vascular endothelium growth factor
VIPR1	Vasoactive intestinal peptide receptor 1

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to dedicate my PhD thesis to family members, friends and to all those who are currently going through or have gone through cancer. Writing a thesis dissertation is obviously not possible without the personal and practical support of numerous people.

I want to first thank my supervisor Dr. Paul Linsdell for the constant encouragement. He has enlightened me through his knowledge of ion channel biology and has taught me the value of good solid scientific work. By providing me the intellectual space I have grown as a scientist under his tutelage.

Second, I would like to thank members of my supervisory committee Dr. Elizabeth Cowley, Dr. Jonathan Blay, Dr. Eileen Denovan-Wright and Dr. Michael Wilkinson. Without their help and constant guidance the work presented in this thesis would not have been achieved.

Third, I would like to thank all current and past members of Dr. Linsdell and Dr. Cowley's labs. On a day-to-day basis your constant support and friendship has helped me get through the most frustrating times.

Fourth, I would like to acknowledge my graduate level funding sources, which include the Nova Scotia Health Research foundation and the Cancer Research Training Program.

Last, but definitely not least, I would like to thank my wife Diane. For always standing by me, pushing and encouraging me to reach my fullest potential, and always reassuring me that there <u>is</u> light at the end of the tunnel.

xvi

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 BREAST CANCER**

Breast cancer is the most prevalent cancer type in Canadian females and is estimated to represent ~28% of the 83,900 new cases of cancer in 2010 (Canadian Cancer Society 2010). The mortality rate for breast cancer has reduced over the past couple of decades, from  $\sim 30\%$  in the 1980s to an estimated  $\sim 15\%$  in 2010. Currently, breast cancer represents the second leading type of cancer that can cause mortality (Canadian Cancer Society 2010). The reduction in mortality has been suggested to be a result of better and more effective adjuvant therapy following mastectomies, demonstrating that cancer research and the development of drugs to eradicate breast cancer has been effective (Canadian Cancer Society 2010). The Canadian Cancer Society (2010) describes the main risk factors for breast cancer to be sex, age, circulating hormone levels and childbearing and breast feeding later in life. Other risk factors include: hormone replacement therapy in menopausal women, oral contraceptives, diet, family history and lifestyle (Key et al. 2001). Breast cancer originates from the malignant transformation of mammary gland cells - predominantly of epithelial cell origin - that acquire successive genetic mutations, each conferring a particular growth advantage over normal cells.

I will first introduce normal mammary gland structure and function, with an emphasis on mammary epithelial cell function. A focus will be placed on the secretion of fluid and ions via transpeithelial ion transport and the current model of transepithelial transport by the mammary epithelium. This will then be followed by an introduction to the process of malignant transformation and details of the origins, classification and models of breast cancer. To conclude I will introduce the possible roles of hormones and ion channels in the development and progression of breast cancer.

#### **1.2 MAMMARY GLAND STRUCTURE AND TRANSPORT PROPERTIES**

The adult female human mammary gland is composed of a branching network of ducts, originating from the nipple and terminating at the alveoli (Figure 1). Numerous alveoli and their joining ducts form what is called a terminal duct lobular unit (TDLU) and a mammary gland consists of multiple TDLUs (McManaman *et al.* 2003). The TDLUs are surrounded by a layer of myoepithelial cells that are important for oxytocin-dependent milk let down and ejection (McManaman *et al.* 2003). Finally, the TDLUs and myoepithelial cells are located within stroma consisting of vascularised connective tissue, adipocytes and fibroblasts (McManaman *et al.* 2003).

Lining the ducts and alveoli are specialized epithelial cells whose main function is the production of milk during lactation (Shennan *et al.* 2000). In general, one of the main functions of any polarized epithelium is the secretion and absorption of fluid – in the case of the mammary epithelium, secretion of milk. To do this epithelial cells develop a "tight" epithelium in order to separate the interstitial space from the luminal space. A "tight" epithelium is defined as a monolayer of epithelial cells that exhibit a low permeability and high resistance (> 500  $\Omega$  cm<sup>2</sup>) to the movement of solutes and solvents between interstitial and luminal spaces, whereas a "leaky" epithelium exhibits a high permeability and low resistance (< 500  $\Omega$  cm<sup>2</sup>) (Wills *et al.* 1996). Mammary epithelial cells of the TDLU develop a barrier between the lumen and interstitial space via the formation of tight junctions, intermediate junctions, desmosomes and gap junctions between cells (Pitelka *et al.* 1973). The permeability and resistance of the mammary epithelial barrier is a hormone-dependent, dynamic process; during non-reproductive states and pregnancy the mammary epithelium is leaky, whereas following parturition and during lactation the epithelium becomes tight (Nguyen *et al.* 1998; Kuhn 2009; Linzell *et al.* 2009). A tight polarized epithelial monolayer allows the development of active secretory or absorptive solute transport pathways that are transcellular (through the cell) as opposed to paracellular (between the cells) (Wills *et al.* 1996).

As a result of the development of a tight epithelium and transcellular ion transport pathways during lactation, the mammary epithelium is able to generate and maintain ion gradients between milk and blood (Figure 2). For example, the concentration of Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> ions in milk is ~ 8, 24 and 12 mM, compared to ~150, 4.5, and 116 mM in the interstitial fluid, respectively (Shennan et al. 2000). In addition, it has been demonstrated that during lactation there is a transepithelial potential difference of up to 35 mV (lumen negative) between the lumen and interstitial space in mice (Berga 1984). The low luminal  $[Na^+]$  is developed by the glucocorticoid-sensitive absorption of  $Na^+$  via epithelial  $Na^+$ channels (ENaC) located in the apical (luminal) membrane and Na<sup>+</sup> extrusion via the Na<sup>+</sup>-K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase pump located in the basolateral (serosal) membrane (Shennan 1998; Blaug et al. 2001; Quesnell et al. 2007). It is believed that Cl<sup>-</sup> secretion is dependent on the activities of the basolaterally located Na<sup>+</sup>-K<sup>+</sup>-Cl<sup>-</sup>-cotransporter (NKCC1) and Cl<sup>-</sup> channels, such as the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) channel located on the apical membrane (Shennan 1989; Blaug et al. 2001; Shillingford et al. 2002). Milk contains a higher concentration of K<sup>+</sup> (24 mM) compared to blood, suggesting that an active K<sup>+</sup> secretory process occurs in mammary epithelial cells originally proposed by Linzell and Peaker (1971). Although numerous K<sup>+</sup> channels have

been identified in mammary epithelial cells (Enomoto et al. 1987; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004a; Lee et al. 2007; vanTol et al. 2007; Roy et al. 2008; Roy et al. 2010), identification of those important for *in vivo*  $K^+$  transport remains elusive. Basolateral  $K^+$ entry is dependent on both the Na<sup>+</sup>-K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase pump and the activity of NKCC1 (Shennan 1998; Shillingford et al. 2002). Strong evidence suggests that basolateral K<sup>+</sup> extrusion is dependent on the intermediate conductance  $Ca^{2+}$ -sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channel (KCNN4), which can be activated via mechanical-stretching (Enomoto et al. 1987; Furuya et al. 1989; Enomoto et al. 1991; Lee et al. 2007), whereas the volume-sensitive  $K^+$  channel implicated in long-QT syndrome (KCNQ1) has been suggested to be important for apical  $K^+$  extrusion (vanTol *et al.* 2007). Finally, the total concentration of Ca<sup>2+</sup> in milk can reach extremely high levels ranging between 10-100 mM depending on the species and neonate requirements (Neville 2005). Relatively speaking, very little is known of the basolateral  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathway. However, it has been suggested that  $Ca^{2+}$ entry is a temperature and volume-sensitive process involving Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeable channels (Neville et al. 1982; Shennan 1998; VanHouten et al. 2007). Two models have been proposed to explain Ca<sup>2+</sup> extrusion in the mammary gland (Shennan 2008). The first suggests that cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  is sequestered in the Golgi apparatus by the activity of secretory pathway  $Ca^{2+}$  ATPase (SPCA1-2) and is extruded via the Golgi-secretory vesicle system either as free  $Ca^{2+}$  or bound to  $Ca^{2+}$ -binding proteins. The second suggests that cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$ , in addition to the Golgi-secretory vesicle system, is pumped out of the epithelial cell through plasma membrane  $Ca^{2+}$  ATPases (PMCA2).

The blood-to-milk movement of water is primarily dependent on the production and secretion of lactose into the lumen by mammary epithelial cells, which, as a result, causes water movement to maintain isoosmolarity (McManaman *et al.* 2006). This was demonstrated in transgenic mice with a mutation in the ability to produce lactose, which generate highly viscous milk (Stinnakre *et al.* 1994). There is some evidence suggesting that water movement into the lumen may also be dependent on Cl<sup>-</sup> secretion via the CFTR channel, however cystic fibrosis patients with loss of function mutations in this channel do not develop inappropriate milk secretion (Shennan 1998; Blaug *et al.* 2001). Recent evidence also demonstrates that mammary epithelial cells from different species express multiple aquaporin channels in the basolateral membrane that may be important for water movement from blood into milk (Mobasheri *et al.* 2004; Matsuzaki *et al.* 2005; Mobasheri *et al.* 2009).

#### **1.3 MALIGNANT TRANSFORMATION**

Malignant neoplasms (cancers) are characterized as a group of diseases where normal cells undergo genetic mutations that lead to their malignant transformation. All cancer cells differ from normal cells in their ability to acquire and possess, in variable chronological order and degrees, six hallmark malignant phenotypes (Figure 3). These six malignant phenotypes are the abilities to be *self-sufficient in growth signals*, to be *insensitive to anti-growth signals*, to *evade apoptosis*, to have *limitless replicative potential*, to possess *sustained angiogenesis*, and to *invade surrounding tissues and metastasize* (Hanahan *et al.* 2000).

The ability of cancer cells to be *self-sufficient in growth signals* means that cancer cells can continue to proliferate in the absence of external stimuli. Under normal conditions, cells require an external growth signal in order to exit a quiescent state and enter active cell proliferation. By acquiring specific mutations, cancer cells evade the

dependency on external growth signals. Cancer cells have been found to acquire the ability to secrete growth factors in an autocrine or paracrine manner; for example breast cancer cells in culture secrete insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) into the medium which acts in an autocrine/paracrine way to stimulate cell proliferation (Freed *et al.* 1989). Cancer cells also aberrantly or overexpress growth factor receptors which allow cancer cells to respond inappropriately to growth factors; for example some breast cancer cell types aberrantly express estrogen receptors (ERs), which allow them to be stimulated to proliferate by physiological concentrations of estrogens (Lippman *et al.* 1976). Lastly, cancer cells can acquire deregulation of intracellular signaling pathways that ultimately lead to increased cell proliferation; for example ~90% of pancreatic cancers possess a mutation in Rat Sarcoma (ras) genes, leading to the activation of the ras signaling cascade in the absence of an extracellular signal (Bos 1989).

The ability of cancer cells to be *insensitive to anti-growth signals* means that cancers cells do not respond to external signals that would normally inhibit cell proliferation. This can occur through the insensitivity of anti-growth receptors. One well understood example of an anti-growth signal is the transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) signaling pathway, which has been shown to play a role as a tumour suppressor and to be deregulated in the development of numerous cancer types, including those of breast origin (Bottinger *et al.* 1997).

Cancer cells not only are able to proliferate uncontrollably but also develop the ability to *evade apoptosis*. Apoptosis, or pre-programmed cell death is a series of sequential events that leads to organized cell death. Cancer cells evade apoptosis by acquiring mutations in either the sensors or effectors of apoptosis. The most widely

studied example of this mechanism is the tumour suppressor protein 53 (p53), that when mutated allows cancer cells, including breast cancer cells, to proliferate and evade apoptosis in the presence of cell stress, such as DNA damage (Lacroix *et al.* 2006).

Normal cells undergo a limited number of possible cell divisions, because after each round of division a small amount of DNA at the end of each telomere does not get replicated. One way in which cancer cells can develop *limitless replicative potential* is through aberrant expression of telomerase, which can add random hexanucleotides to the ends of telomeres, preventing the loss of DNA during replication (Orlando *et al.* 2001). In fact, aberrant telomerase activity is found in ~80% of invasive ductal carcinomas of no specific type (IDC-NST), compared to ~2% in normal breast tissue (Orlando *et al.* 2001).

As cancer cells continue to divide they eventually form a tumour consisting of a large number of cancer cells. For cancer cells within the tumour to sustain continued proliferation they require oxygen and nutrients provided by the vasculature. Thus, cancer cells must gain the ability to support *sustained angiogenesis* in order to be provided with the needed requirements for cell proliferation and survival. Cancer cells do this through multiple mechanisms, however, one mechanism used by breast cancers is the ability to aberrantly express vascular endothelium growth factors (VEGFs), which stimulate neovascularization surrounding the tumour (Boudreau *et al.* 2003).

As cancer cells continue to proliferate they also acquire the ability to *invade surrounding tissues and metastasize* in order to form a tumour in a new and more advantageous environment. Tumour *invasion* and *metastasis* is a complex and multi-step process involving numerous genes (Hanahan *et al.* 2000). One set of genes that have been shown to be important for the invasion of breast cancer cells to surrounding tissues are

the cadherins (Berx *et al.* 2001). Reduction or loss of cadherin expression causes disruptions in the physical coupling between the cells and their microenvironment, allowing cancer cells to evade the normal restrictions to cell migration (Berx *et al.* 2001).

Cancer cells acquiring the ability to be *self-sufficient in growth factor signals, insensitive to anti-growth signals* or both would allow cancer cells to adopt an uncontrolled cell proliferation phenotype. Although cancer research has discovered some clues as to how cancer cells proliferate we still do not completely understand how cancer cells undergo uncontrolled cell proliferation. To gain clues to this question we must first understand how normal cells regulate cell proliferation.

#### **1.4 CELL CYCLE**

Normal cells are restricted from growing uncontrollably via a stringent regulation of cell proliferation through the tight regulation of the cell cycle. The cell cycle is the process whereby a single cell divides into two cells (cell division) by a series of sequentially regulated events (Morgan 2007). Shown in Figure 4 is a simplified view of the cell cycle, which is divided into 4 phases, called gap 1 phase (G<sub>1</sub>), synthesis phase (S), gap 2 phase (G<sub>2</sub>), and mitosis phase (M) (Abukhdeir *et al.* 2008). In both normal and cancer cells, progression through and out of each phase is a complex and highly regulated event, involving the expression of numerous genes and the activity of numerous protein kinases (Morgan 2007). Regulation of the cell cycle is dependent on the cyclical mRNA expression of genes from the cyclin family, of which there are numerous members. Cyclins were originally identify in sea urchins where their abundance fluctuated during distinct phases of the cell cycle (Evans *et al.* 1983). It is now understood that early G<sub>1</sub> phase progression and the G<sub>1</sub>-S phase transition are both dependent on the mRNA

expression of the cyclin D genes (CCND1-3), whereas late  $G_1$  phase and the  $G_1$ -S phase transition are both dependent on the mRNA expression of the cyclin E genes (CCNE1-2) (Lundberg et al. 1999; Sutherland et al. 2004). S, G<sub>2</sub> and M phases are dependent on cyclin genes A (CCNA1-2), A/B (CCNB1-3) and B, respectively (Lundberg et al. 1999; Sutherland et al. 2004). Numerous additional cyclin subyptes (F, G, H, I, J, K, L, O, T, Y) have been discovered and their role in the cell cycle is currently under investigation (Horne et al. 1996; Moiola et al. 2010). Cyclin proteins have no intrinsic kinase activity, however they bind to specific cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), forming a cyclin-CDK complex (Abukhdeir et al. 2008). For example, cyclin D proteins bind to CDK-4 and CDK-6, whereas Cyclin E proteins bind to CDK-2 (Abukhdeir *et al.* 2008). Following cyclin binding and activation via CDK activators, CDKs can then phosphorylate numerous downstream targets to cause changes in protein activity, gene expression and cell cycle progression. For example, first the cyclin D-CDK4/6 complex, then the cyclin E-CDK2 complex phosphorylates the retinoblastoma protein (Rb) causing it to become inactive (Abukhdeir et al. 2008). Inactive Rb allows the E2F family of transcription factors to become active, which translocate to the nucleus and cause changes in gene expression that allow the cell cycle to progress through  $G_1$  into S phase (Abukhdeir *et al.*) 2008). Cyclin-CDK complexes are also under the regulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CDKIs). There are two general classes of CDKIs. First are inhibitors of the cyclin D-CDK-4 complex (INK4), which includes p15<sup>INK4B</sup> (CDKN2B), p16<sup>INK4A</sup> (CDNK2A), and p18<sup>INK4C</sup> (CDKN2C) (Abukhdeir et al. 2008). Second are kinase inhibitor proteins (KIPs), including p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> (CDKN1A) and p27<sup>KIP1</sup> (CDKN1B), which can inhibit cyclin D, E and A-CDK complexes (Abukhdeir et al. 2008). How

cancer cells evade the normal regulation of the cell cycle is currently under much investigation. Generally, cancer cells have acquired mutations that trigger the deregulation of any number of factors that control the cell cycle, for example Cyclin D1 (CCND1) is routinely found overexpressed in primary breast cancers (Schuuring *et al.* 1992; Fantl *et al.* 1993; Dickson *et al.* 1995).

## 1.5 ORIGIN, CLASSIFICATION AND MODELS OF BREAST CANCER

Where breast cancer originates is an area of intensive research. Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease and there are many different types. The World Health Organization currently recognizes 18 distinct types of invasive breast cancer with many special histological subtypes (Tavassoli et al. 2003). Two main types of breast cancer, from the histological classification, are IDC-NSTs and invasive lobular carcinomas (ILC), both of which originate from the epithelial cells lining the ducts and alveoli of the TDLUs (Wellings et al. 1973; Wellings et al. 1975; Jensen 1986). Together IDC-NSTs and ILCs represent 80-90% of detected breast cancers, suggesting that the majority of breast cancers arise from TDLUs (Weigelt et al. 2009). Breast cancers can be further classified by their expression of specific molecular markers, such as the estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (Erb-B2), and others (Perou et al. 2000). Using this classification breast cancers can be divided into four molecularly distinct subgroups, ER+/luminal-like, Erb-B2+ (Erb-B2 overexpression), basal-like and normal breast (Perou et al. 2000). Therapeutic treatment of breast cancer is routinely dependent on the molecular subgroup, for example individuals with ER+/luminal-like cancers can be treated with the ER antagonist tamoxifen, whereas individuals with Erb-B2+ cancers can be treated with the Erb-B2

antibody trastuzumab (Herceptin<sup>™</sup>) to provide the most effective treatment (Ali *et al.* 2002; Dent *et al.* 2009).

Numerous cell lines have been developed to facilitate the study of breast cancer cell proliferation *in vitro*. The use of *in vitro* cell lines provides the breast cancer research community with an easy, cheap and practically limitless number of cells to conduct experiments. Cell lines are also relatively phenotypically stable from each successive passage. A literature search of breast cancer research using PubMed/Medline (Lacroix *et al.* 2004) demonstrated that the majority of published articles have come from three different cell lines, Michigan Cancer Foundation – 7 (MCF-7 cells), T-47D cells and MDA-MB-231 cells.

MCF-7 cells were isolated from a pleural effusion of a 69 year old Caucasian woman with metastatic breast cancer (Soule *et al.* 1973). MCF-7 cells appeared epithelial-like and formed monolayers and domes when grown in culture (Soule *et al.* 1973; Russo *et al.* 1977). When grown in 3D cultures MCF-7 cells demonstrated characteristics of IDCs and recapitulated the histological characteristics of the original tumour (Russo *et al.* 1976; Russo *et al.* 1977). MCF-7 cells were positive for ERs, PR, and had normal Erb-B2 expression (Brooks *et al.* 1973; Horwitz *et al.* 1975; Kraus *et al.* 1987). When treated with estrogen or epidermal growth factor (EGF) the rate of cell proliferation was increased, further demonstrating that functional receptors for these mitogens were present (Lippman *et al.* 1976; Osborne *et al.* 1980). MCF-7 cells are the most widely used breast cancer cell line to study breast cancer *in vitro* (Burdall *et al.* 2003). T-47D cells were isolated from a pleural effusion of a 54 year old Caucasian woman with primary infiltrating ductal breast cancer (Engel *et al.* 1978; Keydar *et al.* 

1979). T-47D cells also appeared epithelial-like when grown in culture (Keydar *et al.* 1979). They were also positive and possessed functional ERs, PR and normal Erb-B2 expression, although the level of ER expression was much lower than in MCF-7 cells (Horwitz *et al.* 1978; Keydar *et al.* 1979; Imai *et al.* 1982). MDA-MB-231 cells were isolated from a pleural effusion of a woman of unknown age that did not undergo previous hormone or chemotherapy (Cailleau *et al.* 1974). MDA-MB-231 cells retained morphological characteristics of epithelial cells and showed similar features of breast cancer tumours (Cailleau *et al.* 1974). MDA-MB 231 cells, in contrast to MCF-7 and T-47D cells, did not express functional ERs, or PR, and had normal Erb-B2 expression (Horwitz *et al.* 1978; Wright *et al.* 1997).

#### 1.6 ESTROGEN AND OTHER HORMONAL FACTORS

Cancer cells acquire an uncontrolled cell proliferation phenotype and can grow without the requirement for external signals (see Section 1.3). Most cancer cells, however, can be stimulated to grow much faster in the presence of specific growth factors and hormones. It has long been known that the majority of breast cancers respond to growth factor and hormone manipulation both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. For example, most breast cancer cell lines are stimulated to grow faster in the presence of growth factors such as EGF, and IGF-1 and hormones such as estrogens (Lippman, Bolan et al. 1976; Osborne, Hamilton et al. 1980; Huff, Kaufman et al. 1986). The importance of hormonal stimulation of breast cancer cell proliferation is exemplified by the fact that two common lines of treatment for patients with breast cancer interfere with estrogen stimulated pathways - estrogen receptor antagonism (via the estrogen receptor antagonist tamoxifen) and blockade of estrogen production (via inhibition of aromatase) (Jordan 2002; Berry 2005).

Estrogen is regarded as the most important female sex hormone and is involved in the development and maturation of primary and the majority of secondary female sex characteristics (Silverthorn et al. 2010). In humans there are three forms of estrogen: estrone (E1), 17β-estradiol (E2) and estriol (E3) (Kuiper et al. 1997). E2 is the predominant estrogen present during adulthood, whereas E1 is present during menopause and E3 during pregnancy (Grodin et al. 1973; Darne et al. 1987; Silverthorn et al. 2010). Although all three estrogens are high-affinity ligands for ERs, E2 is a much more potent ER agonist compared to E1 and E3 (Kuiper et al. 1997; Heldring et al. 2007). Circulating E2 is primarily synthesized by follicular cells in the ovaries through the conversion of testosterone or E1 to E2 by the enzymes aromatase (cyp19) and  $17\beta$ -hydroxysteroid (Payne et al. 2004). E2 synthesis is stimulated by dehydrogenase, respectively luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone that are released from the pituitary, which is in turn stimulated by gonadotropin releasing hormone released by the hypothalamus (Silverthorn et al. 2010). In addition, synthesis of smaller amounts of E2 has been identified in the adrenal cortex, fat tissue and both normal and malignant mammary tissue (James et al. 1987; Simpson 2003; Payne et al. 2004). Circulating levels of E2 fluctuate during the female menstrual cycle and serum E2 concentrations can range from 184-532 pM during the early follicular phase, 411-1626 pM during the preovulatory peak and 184-885 pM during the luteal phase (Kratz et al. 2004). During menopause circulating E2 levels drop to less than 250 pM, however local concentrations of E2 in breast tumour tissues has been found to be significantly greater than circulating E2 in

post-menopausal women as a result of aberrant expression and activity of enzymes responsible for the production of estrogens (Pasqualini *et al.* 1996; Kratz *et al.* 2004).

To date two main ERs have been identified. Estrogen receptor- $\alpha$  (ER- $\alpha$ ; NR3A1), considered the classical ER as it was the first to be cloned in 1986 (Green et al. 1986; Greene et al. 1986) and estrogen receptor- $\beta$  (ER- $\beta$ ; NR3A2) that was cloned in 1996 (Kuiper et al. 1996). Other putative ERs have been suggested, including GPR30 (Filardo et al. 2002), however their roles in mammary gland development and breast cancer are currently unclear. Classical ERs belong to the nuclear receptor family of liganddependent transcription factors. ER proteins can be structurally divided into different functional domains. The N-terminal A/B domain is involved in transactivation function and contains the activation function-1 domain (AF-1). This is followed by a highly conserved DNA-binding domain (C), a hinge domain (D), then a less conserved ligandbinding domain (E) and finally a C-terminal F domain that also has indirect transactivation function and contains the activation function-2 domain (AF-2) (Enmark et al. 1999). Biologically important ER alternative splice variants, which have been shown to be involved in breast cancer, have also been identified. These include ER- $\alpha$ 46, ERα36 and ER-βcx (Fuqua et al. 1999; Flouriot et al. 2000; Lee et al. 2008). E2 binds to ER- $\alpha$  and ER- $\beta$  with dissociation constants of 0.15 nM and 0.46 nM, respectively (Dahlman-Wright et al. 2006). Two widely used antagonists of ERs, with their respective inhibitory constants, are ICI182,780 (0.24 nM) and tamoxifen (15 nM) (Dahlman-Wright et al. 2006).

The mammary gland undergoes development in four sequential phases from birth to pregnancy, the first during embryogenesis, the second during puberty, the third during

sexual maturation, and the last during pregnancy (Sternlicht et al. 2006). At birth the mammary gland consists of an underdeveloped ductal system emanating from the nipple, and during puberty the ductal system elongates forming a highly branched network. During sexual maturation or repeated estrous cycles limited ductal side-branching, alveolus and TDLU development occurs and finally, during pregnancy there is extensive ductal side-branching and TDLU development to form a fully differentiated mature functioning mammary gland (Fendrick et al. 1998). Ovariectomy studies have shown that ovarian estrogen production is critically important for mammary gland development (Kumaresan et al. 1967; Daniel et al. 1987; Cowie et al. 2009). Recent ER knockout studies have demonstrated that ER- $\alpha$  but not ER- $\beta$  is important for ductal elongation in the mammary gland during puberty, whereas  $ER-\beta$  is important for terminal differentiation during pregnancy (Korach et al. 1996; Bocchinfuso et al. 1997; Couse et al. 2000; Curtis Hewitt et al. 2000; Forster et al. 2002; Mallepell et al. 2006). Thus, in adult ER- $\alpha$  knockout mice the mammary gland appears rudimentary and similar to the mammary gland at birth, whereas in adult ER- $\beta$  knockout mice the mammary gland appears normal, but during pregnancy the epithelium becomes disorganized (Couse et al. 2000; Curtis Hewitt et al. 2000). It is generally accepted that the effect of estrogens and ER activation on mammary gland development is via both direct (local) and indirect (hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis) pathways. Experiments using plastic implants that release E2 and antiestrogens (ICI182,780) locally in the mammary gland suggest that local E2 and ER activity are important for ductal elongation and ductal maintenance, demonstrating that estrogen does indeed have a direct effect on mammary gland development (Daniel et al. 1987; Silberstein et al. 1994). Both mammary epithelial cells

and stromal elements express ERs (Speirs et al. 2002) and thus it had been controversial as to which source of ER (epithelial or stromal) was functional and ultimately important for E2-dependent ductal elongation. It was initially suggested that stromal ERs were important for E2-dependent ductal elongation, however these experiments were performed with an ER- $\alpha$  knockout mouse strain in which there was incomplete ER- $\alpha$ ablation (Lubahn et al. 1993; Cunha et al. 1997). It has since been suggested that epithelial ERs, not stromal ERs, are required for E2-induced ductal elongation (Mallepell et al. 2006). Surprisingly, normal mammary epithelial cells that stain positive for ERs are not the cells that are undergoing active cell proliferation (Clarke et al. 1997; Russo et al. 1999). This suggests that estrogens act to release paracrine signals from ER positive cells onto neighbouring ER negative cells to induce cell proliferation and ductal elongation (Mallepell et al. 2006; Ciarloni et al. 2007; Sternlicht et al. 2008). E2 is also critically important for upregulating PR expression, therefore priming the mammary gland for the action of downstream mammogenic signals during sexual maturation and pregnancy (Hayden et al. 1979; Kraus et al. 1994; Fendrick et al. 1998; Sternlicht et al. 2006). In adult mice that are hypophysectomised and ovariectomized systemic E2 treatment alone does not rescue mammary gland development, demonstrating that the full effect of E2 on mammary gland development requires a functioning pituitary and synergism with other hormones or growth factors (Imagawa et al. 1990; Kleinberg et al. 2000; Cowie et al. 2009). Therefore, as proposed in a recent review by Sternlich et al (2006), estrogens may provide the "on-switch" for mammary gland development, but the "electricity" is provided by pituitary/hypothalamus hormones.

Estrogens have two distinct groups of intracellular effects, one that occurs in the nucleus (involving the regulation of transcription) and one that is initiated in the cytoplasm or on the inner side of the plasma membrane (involving the activation of signal cascades). The functional implications of these two signaling mechanisms are that estrogens can have rapid effects (signaling cascades), which occur on the order of seconds to minutes and slow effects (regulation of transcription), which occur on the order of hours. The nuclear effect, which is also referred to as genomic, transcriptional, or classical effect of estrogens, involves the binding of estrogens to ERs, dimerization of receptors and binding of the dimerized receptor to specific DNA binding motifs. DNA binding motifs for ERs, which is an estrogen response element (ERE), is a 13-base pair inverted palindromic sequence with the DNA sequence GGTCANNNTGACC (Klein-Hitpass et al. 1988). ER modulation of gene expression can be mediated through ER binding to EREs upstream of target genes (direct DNA interaction), or through proteinprotein interactions with other transcription factors already bound to DNA (indirect DNA interaction) (Bjornstrom et al. 2005). Therefore, ligand-bound ERs can modulate gene transcription either directly, by binding to an ERE in the target gene or indirectly, through interactions with other transcription factors. Ligand-independent ER activity has also been shown via phosphorylation by the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (Kato et al. 1995).

The rapid effects of estrogens have been known for many years (Szego *et al.* 1967), but have remained somewhat forgotten and it has only been in the last 2 decades that the importance of these rapid effects have been appreciated. The rapid effect is also referred to as non-genomic or non-classical. With respect to breast cancer, there are three

well-described signaling cascades that can be activated by estrogens. First, the adenylate cyclase, cyclic 3'5'-adenosine-monophosphate (cAMP)/protein kinase A (cAMP/PKA) pathway can be activated by E2 (Watters *et al.* 1998). E2 has been demonstrated to increase cAMP production in numerous cell types (Szego *et al.* 1967; Aronica *et al.* 1994; Zivadinovic *et al.* 2005a), possibly through an indirect activation of adenylate cyclase mediated by GPR30 (Filardo *et al.* 2002). Second, E2 has been demonstrated to activate the MAPK pathway in an intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent manner (Watters *et al.* 1997; Improta-Brears *et al.* 1999; Razandi *et al.* 2004; Zivadinovic *et al.* 2005b). Third, E2 has also been demonstrated to activate the phosphoinositol-3 kinase/Akt (PI3K/Akt) pathway (Lee *et al.* 2005; Szatkowski *et al.* 2010). Although still controversial it has been suggested that classical ERs (ER-α and -β) mediate the majority of the non-genomic effects of E2 (Levin 2005). Numerous other protein classes have also been hypothesized to bind E2 and mediate non-genomic effects, including steroid binding protein receptors, enzymes and ion channels (Watson *et al.* 2003).

#### **1.7 ION CHANNELS AND CANCER**

Ion channels are a class of integral membrane proteins that facilitate the passive movement of ions down their electrochemical gradient. However, ion channel proteins themselves are not passive. They are able to actively open and close, also called "gating", in response to a specific stimuli. For example, voltage-gated ion channels are closed at rest and only open in response to depolarization of the membrane potential. Ion channels can be highly selective or non-selective and, under physiological conditions, allow the movement of either one specific ion or more than one different ion. Examples of this are  $K^+$ -selective channels that allow the movement of  $K^+$  ions, and members of the transient

receptor potential family that allow the movement of both  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Na^+$ . Finally, their activity can also be regulated by intracellular signals and, as such, ion channels are sensitive to the metabolic and electrical activity of the cell. This combination of gating and selectivity allows the cell to independently and dynamically control membrane permeability to different ions according to its needs.

Ion channel activity is critically important for the physiological function of numerous cells, including neurons, epithelial cells, muscle cells, and endocrine cells, and for this reason mutations in ion channels can also lead to pathologies associated with these cells (Hille 2001; Ashcroft 2006). The intimate involvement of ion channels in certain pathological conditions has led to the term "channelopathy", in which the dysfunction of a specific ion channel is the underlying cause of a specific disease (Ashcroft 2000; Ashcroft 2006). It has recently been suggested that certain hallmarks of cancer (see above) may also be considered channelopathies (Prevarskaya et al. 2010). However, in contrast to other diseases, such as cystic fibrosis, where mutation in one channel gene leads to one disease (Riordan et al. 1989), it is suggested that a wide range of different ion channel genes and types may contribute to the hallmarks of cancer. For example, it has been suggested that specific  $K^+$  channels,  $Ca^{2+}$  channels, transient receptor potential (TRP) channels, and Na<sup>+</sup> channels all contribute to one or more aspect of the six hallmark malignant phenotypes of cancer described above (Prevarskaya et al. 2010). The evidence that ion channels might play a role in cancer is twofold. First, in some cases, specific ion channel types have been found to be aberrantly expressed or overexpressed in cancer cells. Second, inhibiting the activity of specific ion channel types has been shown to affect one or more of the hallmark properties of cancer cells. In some

cases, ion channel types that contribute to the malignant phenotype of cancer cells might be present in the normal cells from which the cancer was derived, in which case the channel presumably subserves some normal physiological function prior to transformation. In other cases, ion channel expression may occur only after transformation, allowing the activity of the aberrantly expressed ion channel to alter the membrane transport properties of the cell. In the following sections I will discuss the involvement of specific  $K^+$ , TRP and other ion channels suggested to play a role in cancer progression, focusing on those important for regulating cell proliferation.

# 1.7.1 K<sup>+</sup> CHANNELS

 $K^+$  channels represent one of the largest ion channel families which comprise over 80 different genes in mammals.  $K^+$  channels are mainly responsible for regulation of the resting membrane potential in all cells. This is because of the higher resting membrane permeability to  $K^+$  compared to other ions (Hille 2001). Opening of  $K^+$  channels leads to an increase in  $K^+$  efflux and hyperpolarization of the membrane potential. Conversely, closing of  $K^+$  channels leads to a decrease in  $K^+$  efflux and depolarization of the membrane potential. Similarly, pharmacological block of  $K^+$  channel activity leads to depolarization of the membrane potential. In proliferating cancer cells the function of certain  $K^+$  channels contributes to the regulation of cell cycle progression (Wonderlin *et al.* 1996; Wang 2004; Kunzelmann 2005). This section will be subdivided based on the primary stimulus type for regulating the activity of the  $K^+$  channel, for example voltagegated  $K^+$  ( $K_V$ ), calcium-activated  $K^+$  ( $K_{Ca}$ ) or ATP-sensitive  $K^+$  ( $K_{ATP}$ ) channels. *K<sub>V</sub> channels: K<sub>V</sub>*10.1
$K_V 10.1$ , the protein product of the KCNH1 gene, is a member of the ether a go-go (EAG) family and is also known as human ether a go-go 1 (hEAG1). The EAG locus was originally discovered in Drosophila melanogaster following screening of mutants exhibiting leg-shaking behaviour while under ether anesthesia (Warmke et al. 1991). The mammalian EAG family consists of 8 genes grouped into EAG, EAG-related (ERG) and EAG-like (ELK) subfamilies (Bauer et al. 2001). K<sub>V</sub>10.1 is a 6 transmembrane 1 pore (6TM1P)  $K^+$  channel, and can form homotetramers or heterotetramers with K<sub>v</sub>10.2 (EAG2) (Bauer *et al.* 2001). Upon depolarization  $K_V 10.1$  channels generate a slowly activating, non-inactivating outward current (Bauer et al. 2001). In addition they display a Cole and Moore shift property, whereby increasingly more negative voltage pre-pulses cause a delay in the activation of the channel (Ludwig et al. 1994). This property of the current has routinely been used to identify K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channels in cancer cells (Pardo et al. 1999; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2001; Gavrilova-Ruch et al. 2002; Farias et al. 2004). In normal cells  $K_V 10.1$  channels have been implicated in neuronal excitability (Ganetzky et al. 1983; Wu et al. 1983), odour transduction (Dubin et al. 1998), myoblast differentiation (Occhiodoro et al. 1998) and photoreceptor function (Frings et al. 1998). K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity has been shown to be endogenously regulated by intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin (Ziechner et al. 2006), intracellular Na<sup>+</sup> (Pardo et al. 1998), intracellular cytoskeleton interactions (Camacho et al. 2000), and arachidonic acid (Gavrilova-Ruch et al. 2007).

Aberrant expression or overexpression of  $K_V 10.1$  has been found in cancers from the breast, brain, skin, connective tissue, cervix and colon, but is absent in comparable normal tissues (Meyer *et al.* 1999; Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2001; Farias *et al.* 2004; Hemmerlein et al. 2006; Mello de Queiroz et al. 2006; Ousingsawat et al. 2007). The transfection of Chinese hamster ovarian (CHO) cells with K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channels yields cells with a transformed phenotype, suggesting that  $K_V 10.1$  may show oncogenic activity (Pardo *et al.* 1999). Expression and functional activity of  $K_V 10.1$  has also been demonstrated in human cancer cell lines, including the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2001). In MCF-7 cells K<sub>v</sub>10.1 chanel activity has been demonstrated to contribute to the membrane potential (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b). Pharmacological agents that have been routinely used to block  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity include astemizole and imipramine (Garcia-Ferreiro et al. 2004). Astemizole, a nonsedating anti-histaminergic drug and imipramine, a tricyclic antidepressant, nonselectively block K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel currents with IC<sub>50</sub> values of ~200 nM and ~2  $\mu$ M, respectively (Garcia-Ferreiro et al. 2004). Pharmacologically inhibiting K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel current with astemizole (3-10 µM) or imipramine (10-30 µM) reduces cancer cell proliferation and arrests cancer cells in the  $G_1$  phase of the cell cycle (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2001; Gavrilova-Ruch et al. 2002; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b; Borowiec et al. 2007). In addition, RNA interference (RNAi) has been used to demonstrate the contribution of  $K_V 10.1$  channels to both cancerous and non-cancerous cell proliferation (Weber et al. 2006). Blocking K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity with a K<sub>V</sub>10.1 inactivatingantibody has also been shown to inhibit tumour growth in mice, suggesting that K<sub>V</sub>10.1 may represent a target for the therapeutic intervention of cancer in vivo (Stuhmer et al. 2006; Gomez-Varela et al. 2007).

 $K_V$  channels:  $K_V 11.1$ 

 $K_{V}$ 11.1, the protein product of the KCNH2 gene, is a member of the ERG family and is also known as hERG or hERG1 (Bauer et al. 2001). K<sub>V</sub>11.1 is another K<sub>V</sub> channel suggested to play a role in the pathophysiology of cancer. K<sub>V</sub>11.1 is a 6TM1P channel and also forms homotetramers (Bauer *et al.* 2001). Upon depolarization,  $K_V$ 11.1 channels display a small transient and even smaller steady-state outward current. After repolarization this is followed by a larger outward current that deactivates (Bauer et al. 2001). The most notable physiological function of  $K_V 11.1$  channels is their contribution to the rapid component of the cardiac delayed rectifier K<sup>+</sup> current and the repolarization phase of the cardiac action potential (Charpentier et al. 2010). Indeed, loss-of-function mutations cause a form of cardiac arrhythmia called long QT-syndrome 2 (LQT-2) (Charpentier et al. 2010). K<sub>V</sub>11.1 channels have also been shown to play a role in other physiological processes, including insulin secretion from pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells (Rosati *et al.* 2000), and pacemaker activity in interstitial cells of Cajal (Zhu et al. 2003). In the heart  $K_{V}$ 11.1 channel activity is inhibited by alpha(1)-adrenoreceptor activation through protein kinase C (PKC) and PKA signaling pathways (Wang et al. 2009).

Aberrant expression or overexpression of K<sub>v</sub>11.1 has also been observed in many primary carcinomas, but not normal adjacent tissue (Bianchi *et al.* 1998; Cherubini *et al.* 2000; Smith *et al.* 2002; Wang *et al.* 2002a; Lastraioli *et al.* 2004; Suzuki *et al.* 2004). K<sub>v</sub>11.1 channel expression has been previously described in MCF-7 cells (Chen *et al.* 2005). Two pharmacological agents that have commonly been used to selectively inhibit K<sub>v</sub>11.1 channel activity are the methanesulfonanilide antiarrhythmic drug E-4031 (IC<sub>50</sub> ~7.7 nM) and the scorpion toxin Ergtoxin (IC<sub>50</sub>~12 nM) (Scaloni *et al.* 2000; Yao *et al.* 2005). With an IC<sub>50</sub> ~1.5 nM in native heart cells, K<sub>v</sub>11.1 is also more sensitive to channel inhibition by astemizole than to  $K_V10.1$  (Salata *et al.* 1995). In many cases, pharmacologically blocking  $K_V11.1$  channel activity with E-4031 or knocking down expression also leads to an inhibition of cancer cell proliferation (Smith *et al.* 2002; Crociani *et al.* 2003; Suzuki *et al.* 2004; Li *et al.* 2007; Lin *et al.* 2007). Interestingly, inhibiting  $K_V11.1$  channel activity with E-4031 (1 µM) arrests leukemic cells at the  $G_1/S$  phase transition (Li *et al.* 2007), whereas in uterine cells inhibiting activity with E-4031 blocks cells at the  $G_2/M$  phase transition (Suzuki *et al.* 2004). In addition,  $K_V11.1$  channel activity has been demonstrated to promote apoptosis in numerous cancer cell types, including mammary adenocarcinomas, neuroblastomas, and angiosarcomas, suggesting that  $K_V11.1$  may have numerous functions in cancer cells (Wang *et al.* 2002a).  $K_V$  channels:  $K_V7.1$ 

 $K_V7.1$ , the protein product of the KCNQ1 gene, is a member of the KCNQ family, which includes KCNQ2, KCNQ3, KCNQ4 and KCNQ5, and is also known as  $K_VLQT1$ (Gutman *et al.* 2005).  $K_V7.1$  is a 6TM1P  $K_V$  channel that forms homotetramers (Gutman *et al.* 2005). Additional regulation of  $K_V7.1$  channel activity occurs via the co-assembly with β-subunit accessory proteins KCNE1,2,3 (Gutman *et al.* 2005). Similar to  $K_V11.1$ ,  $K_V7.1$  channels also play a physiological role in the repolarization of the cardiac action potential and, with KCNE1, are responsible for the slow component of the cardiac delayed rectifier  $K^+$  current (Charpentier *et al.* 2010). Loss-of-function mutations in  $K_V7.1$  channels are also commonly expressed in epithelial cells. In intestinal crypt cells, and airway epithelial cells  $K_V7.1$  is found in the basolateral membranes, where it is responsible for basolateral  $K^+$  recycling and maintenance of the driving force for anion secretion (Dedek *et al.* 2001; Cowley *et al.* 2002). In inner ear epithelial cells  $K_V7.1$  channels are found in the apical membrane, where it is responsible for  $K^+$  secretion (Wangemann *et al.* 1995; Neyroud *et al.* 1997; Jespersen *et al.* 2005). More recently it has been demonstrated that apically localized  $K_V7.1$  channels contribute to the regulatory volume decrease (RVD) response to a hypoosmotic extracellular solution in MCF-7 cells (vanTol *et al.* 2007). This suggests that  $K_V7.1$  may be important for volume regulation and/or  $K^+$  secretion in mammary epithelial and/or breast cancer cells.

To date there is only a speculative relationship between  $K_V7.1$  channels and an increased risk of developing cancer. Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome (BWS) is characterized by an overgrowth disorder at birth (Weksberg *et al.* 2010). Children with BWS have an increased relative risk of developing childhood cancers, including Wilms tumours, neuroblastomas and hepatoblastomas (DeBaun *et al.* 1998; Weksberg *et al.* 2010). The majority of patients with BWS have genetic changes, such as chromosomal rearrangements, to the short arm of chromosome 11 within the specific region 11p15 (Weksberg *et al.* 2010). KCNQ1 and numerous other genes are encoded in this region and it has been suggested that chromosomal rearrangements in BWS and balanced chromosomal translocation in an embryonal rhabdoid tumour cause disruptions in the KCNQ1 gene (Lee *et al.* 1997; Weksberg *et al.* 2010). K<sub>V</sub>7.1 channel activity can be selectively blocked by the chromanol derivative, chromanol 293B (IC<sub>50</sub> ~ 1  $\mu$ M) (Yang *et al.* 2000).

#### $K_V$ channels: $K_V 1.3$ and $K_V 1.1$

 $K_V 1.3$  and  $K_V 1.1$ , protein products of KCNA3 and KCNA1 genes respectively, have also been implicated in the pathophysiology of cancer. Channel activity of either  $K_V 1.3$  or  $K_V 1.1$  can be selectively blocked by margatoxin (IC\_{50} \sim 110 \ pM) and dendrotoxin (IC<sub>50</sub> ~ 20 nM), respectively (Grissmer et al. 1994; Robertson et al. 1996; Gutman *et al.* 2005). Interestingly,  $K_V 1.3$  channel activity has been shown to play an important role in the proliferation of normal T lymphocytes (DeCoursey et al. 1984; Panyi 2005). In T lymphocytes at rest, the membrane potential is dependent on the activity of  $K_V 1.3$  channels, and  $K_V 1.3$  channel activity is important for the initial activation of T lymphocytes and progression through the early G<sub>1</sub> phase (Douglass *et al.* 1990; Kunzelmann 2005; Panyi 2005). Thus, Kv1.3 channel blockers have been suggested to be important pharmacological tools to treat autoimmune diseases that involve the hyperproliferation of immune cells (Beeton *et al.* 2005). Since  $K_V 1.3$  channel activity is important for normal cell proliferation it is possible that the channel may also play a role in cancer cell proliferation. Indeed,  $K_V 1.3$  channels have been found to be aberrantly expressed and to contribute to the proliferation of numerous different cancer cell types (Abdul et al. 2002a; Abdul et al. 2002b; Abdul et al. 2003; Fraser et al. 2003a; Preussat *et al.* 2003). In addition, KCNA3 mRNA expression and  $K_V 1.3$  protein abundance vary with tumour cell grade and are increased in highly metastatic cancer cells (Brevet et al. 2009; Jang et al. 2009). To date there is only one report describing the contribution of K<sub>V</sub>1.1 channels to cancer cell proliferation (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2000). In MCF-7 cells K<sub>V</sub>1.1 channel current was detected electrophysiologically and concentrations of dendrotoxin as low as 1 nM inhibited cell proliferation (Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2000). It remains to be determined what role  $K_V 1.1$  channels play in the proliferation of other cancer cell types.

 $K_{Ca}$  channels:  $K_{Ca}3.1$ 

There are 8 members of the K<sub>Ca</sub> channel family and they can be further functionally divided into subfamilies based on their single channel conductance.  $K_{Ca}3.1$ , the protein product of the KCNN4 gene, is a member of the "intermediate-conductance" subfamily and is also known as the human intermediate-conductance Ca<sup>2+</sup>-activated K<sup>+</sup> channel 1 (hIK1) (Ishii et al. 1997; Joiner et al. 1997). K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 is indirectly activated by physiological concentrations of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  (K<sub>d</sub> = 0.1-0.3 µM), through the close association with the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-binding protein calmodulin (Ishii et al. 1997; Joiner et al. 1997; Fanger et al. 1999). Endogenous regulation of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity includes inhibition by PKC (Bowley et al. 2007) and activation via PKA and PLC/Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling pathways (Wang et al. 2008). K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels have been detected in epithelial cells of numerous organs and have been demonstrated to play a role in Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent epithelial ion transport in the airways, mammary gland and colon (Devor et al. 1999; Cowley et al. 2002; Thompson-Vest et al. 2006; Flores et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2007). Similar to K<sub>V</sub>1.3 (see above), K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels have been shown to be important for regulating the proliferation of non-cancerous cells, including T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells (Ghanshani et al. 2000; Wulff et al. 2000; Wang et al. 2007a; Toyama et al. 2008). In T lymphocytes the level of KCNN4 gene expression increases upon activation and K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity controls the progression through the late G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle, as in to other cells (Ghanshani et al. 2000; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b; Shepherd et al. 2007). K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels have also been implicated in numerous pathophysiological conditions, including sickle cell anaemia, inflammatory diseases and hypertension (Brugnara 2003; Chou et al. 2008; Kohler et al. 2010). In sickle cell anaemia K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels have been suggested to play a role in the dehydration of erythrocytes, a common characteristic of the disease, and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel blockers are currently being tested in phase 2 clinical trials for their efficacy to ameliorate this characteristic of the disease (Brugnara 2003; Ataga *et al.* 2008).

In addition to their role in the proliferation of normal cells, K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels have also been implicated in the proliferation of numerous different cancer cell types, including those from the endometrium, pancreas, prostate and mammary gland (Enomoto et al. 1991; Wegman et al. 1991; Gerlach et al. 2000; Jager et al. 2004; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b; Wang et al. 2007b; Lallet-Daher et al. 2009). To study K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity numerous modulators have been described. These include non-specific channel blockers, such as clotrimazole (IC<sub>50</sub>  $\sim$  70 nM), the more specific clotrimazole derivative TRAM-34 (IC<sub>50</sub> ~ 20 nM) and the scorpion toxin charybdotoxin (IC<sub>50</sub> ~ 2.5 nM) (Ishii et al. 1997; Wulff et al. 2000). Pharmacological activators of channel activity include the benzimidazolone compound, 1-ethyl-2-benzimidazolinone (EBIO,  $EC_{50} = 74 \mu M$ ) (Devor et al. 1996; Jensen et al. 1998). Channel activity is also detectable in numerous cancer cell lines, including MCF-7 cells, and inhibition of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity with clotrimazole (5  $\mu$ M) arrests MCF-7 cells in the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle (Wegman *et al.* 1991; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b). TRAM-34 (1-40 µM) has also been used to demonstrate a role of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels in cancer cell proliferation (Jager et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2007a; Wang et al. 2007b). Activation of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels with EBIO has been shown to stimulate the proliferation of prostate cancer cells (Parihar et al. 2003). K<sub>Ca</sub> channels: K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1

 $K_{Ca}$ 1.1, the protein product of the KCNMA1 gene, is a member of the "largeconductance"  $K_{Ca}$  channel subfamily and is also known as big K<sup>+</sup> (BK) or maxi K<sup>+</sup> channel (Marty 1981; Wei *et al.* 2005).  $K_{Ca}$ 1.1 channels are distributed in both excitable and non-excitable cells where they play a physiological role in controlling vascular tone, neuronal excitability and K<sup>+</sup> secretion in the distal nephron (Ghatta *et al.* 2006; Eichhorn *et al.* 2007; Gurkan *et al.* 2007). K<sup>+</sup> currents through  $K_{Ca}$ 1.1 are activated by physiological concentrations of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> (K<sub>d</sub> ~0.8-11 μM) (Strobaek *et al.* 1996; Cui *et al.* 2009). However, unlike  $K_{Ca}$ 3.1,  $K_{Ca}$ 1.1 channel gating is sensitive to membrane potential and is activated by membrane depolarization (Strobaek *et al.* 1996; Cui *et al.* 2009). Also in contrast to  $K_{Ca}$ 3.1,  $K_{Ca}$ 1.1 channels are able to bind Ca<sup>2+</sup> directly instead of indirectly via calmodulin (Schreiber *et al.* 1997; Cui *et al.* 2009).  $K_{Ca}$ 1.1 channels are blocked by the scorpion toxins iberiotoxin (IC<sub>50</sub> = 1.7 nM) and charybdotoxin (IC<sub>50</sub> = 2.9 nM) and are activated by NS-1608 and NS-1619 (Kaczorowski *et al.* 1996; Strobaek *et al.* 1996; Wei *et al.* 2005).

 $K_{Ca}1.1$  channels have been implicated in the proliferation of numerous brain cancers, including gliomas and neuroblastomas (Brismar *et al.* 1989; Yin *et al.* 2007). In breast cancer cells  $K_{Ca}1.1$  channels have been suggested to play a role in cell proliferation only when the concentration of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  is elevated, and therefore not under basal conditions (Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2004a; Roger *et al.* 2004). It has been suggested that  $K_{Ca}1.1$  channel activity, under basal conditions, does not contribute to the resting membrane potential and this may explain why these channels do not appear important for basal cell proliferation (Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2004a). Coincidently,  $K_{Ca}1.1$  channels were also detected in normal mammary epithelial cells, suggesting that  $K_{Ca}1.1$ , like  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels may not be involved in the malignant transformation of these cells (Roger *et al.* 2004). Interestingly,  $K_{Ca}1.1$  channels have been demonstrated to play a role in the invasion and metastasis of breast cancer cells to the brain, suggesting that  $K_{Ca}1.1$  channel may confer a growth advantage to cancer cells in the microenvironment of the brain (Khaitan *et al.* 2009).

# $K^+$ channels: $K_{ATP}$

The K<sub>ATP</sub> channels are a subfamily contained within the larger family of inwardly rectifying K<sup>+</sup> channels (K<sub>ir</sub>). There are two K<sub>ATP</sub> channels K<sub>ir</sub>6.1 and K<sub>ir</sub>6.2, which are protein products of the KCNJ8 and KCNJ11 genes, respectively (Kubo *et al.* 2005). Both K<sub>ATP</sub> channels associate with the sulfonylurea receptors (SUR1 and SUR2) to form a functional protein complex (Aguilar-Bryan *et al.* 1999). Studies have shown that K<sub>ATP</sub> channels act as "metabolic thermostats" of pancreatic β-cells by coupling glucose metabolism and the ATP/ADP ratio to the resting membrane potential (Miki *et al.* 1999; Ashcroft 2005; Smith *et al.* 2007). K<sub>ATP</sub> channels are blocked by sulfonylurea drugs such as glibenclamide, which bind to sulfonylurea receptors (Kramer *et al.* 1995).

Previous results have shown that an ATP-sensitive  $K^+$  current regulates cell cycle progression in MCF-7 cells and that glibenclamide (50 µM) causes a reversible inhibition of MCF-7 cell proliferation in the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle (Woodfork *et al.* 1995; Klimatcheva *et al.* 1999). However, the molecular identity (KCNJ8 or KCNJ11) of the ATP- and glibenclamide-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channel is not known.

# **1.7.2** Ca<sup>2+</sup> PERMEABLE TRANSIENT RECEPTOR POTENTIAL CHANNELS

Ca<sup>2+</sup> is an important signal transduction molecule involved in a variety of cellular processes, including fertilization, contraction, secretion, excitability, proliferation and

death (Berridge et al. 2000). Ca<sup>2+</sup> signals have magnitude, spatial and temporal components, such that large ( $\mu$ M) or small (nM) increases in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> can arise from both an increase in  $Ca^{2+}$  influx from the extracellular space or an increase in  $Ca^{2+}$ release from intracellular stores and either of these can occur on a time scale of microseconds to hours (Berridge et al. 2000; Berridge et al. 2003). The free intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration in most cells is ~100 nM (at rest) and the extracellular concentration is between 1-2 mM (Berridge et al. 2000). This, combined with the negative resting membrane potential of most cells (-40 to -60 mV), generates a large electrochemical gradient for  $Ca^{2+}$  influx. The low intracellular concentration of  $Ca^{2+}$  is maintained by multiple mechanisms, such as actively pumping  $Ca^{2+}$  out of the cell and sequestering  $Ca^{2+}$  in intracellular stores (Berridge *et al.* 2000). Regulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling is of vital importance to cell growth and deregulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling has been implicated in all six hallmark cancer phenotypes (Prevarskaya et al. 2010). In particular, it is becoming increasingly evident that augmented Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling contributes to the uncontrolled cell proliferation of many different cancer cells (Schreiber 2005; Sergeev 2005; Lee et al. 2006; Capiod et al. 2007; Monteith et al. 2007). For example, Ca<sup>2+</sup> signals have been shown to be involved in stimulating the uncontrolled proliferation of breast cancer cells (Rodriguez-Mora et al. 2005; Scodelaro Bilbao et al. 2007; Taylor et al. 2008a). There are multiple  $Ca^{2+}$  influx pathways by which  $Ca^{2+}$  enters the cell, including voltage-gated  $Ca^{2+}$  channels, receptor-operated  $Ca^{2+}$  channels and store-operated  $Ca^{2+}$  channels (Berridge et al. 2000). Those involved in controlling breast cancer cell proliferation are largely unknown. However, it has been suggested that members of the transient receptor potential (TRP) family of plasma membrane channels and the T-type voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup>

channels may contribute to the proliferation of cancer cells (Bodding 2007; Prevarskaya *et al.* 2007; Taylor *et al.* 2008a). The mammalian TRP channel family contains 27 different genes divided into the following subfamilies: Vanilloid (TRPV1-6), Canonical (TRPC1-7), Melastatin (TRPM1-8), Polycystin (TRPP1-2), Mucolipin (TRPML1-3) and Ankyrin (TRPA1) (Clapham *et al.* 2005; Ramsey *et al.* 2006). The following sections will outline the five most studied TRP channels that have been implicated in the proliferation of cancer cells.

#### TRP channels: TRPM8

TRPM8, also known as Trp-p8, was original identified and cloned from the prostate, where it was found to be overexpressed in prostate cancer (Tsavaler *et al.* 2001). It has since been detected in normal tissues of the bladder, urogenital tract and temperature-sensing neurons (Peier *et al.* 2002; Tsukimi *et al.* 2005). Evidence from knockout mice suggests that TRPM8 channels act as cold temperature sensors in the somatosensory system (Reid *et al.* 2001; Colburn *et al.* 2007; Dhaka *et al.* 2007). In temperature-sensing neurons it is generally believed that TRPM8 acts as a plasma membrane Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel and facilitates the entry of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from the extracellular space (Reid *et al.* 2001; Okazawa *et al.* 2002). Evidence from other systems, however, has shown that TRPM8 channels are also localized to intracellular compartments, where they may act as Ca<sup>2+</sup> release channels (Zhang *et al.* 2004; Thebault *et al.* 2005; Bidaux *et al.* 2007; Phelps *et al.* 2007). In normal differentiated prostate epithelial cells TRPM8 is localized to the apical membrane, where it is hypothesized to play a role in androgendependent secretion in the prostate (Bidaux *et al.* 2005).

TRPM8 channels have been found to be overexpressed in prostate, pancreatic and breast cancers, and aberrantly expressed in colon, lung and skin cancers (Tsavaler et al. 2001; Yee et al. 2010). TRPM8 channels are activated by cool temperatures (<25°C), the cooling agents icilin (IC  $_{50}\sim 200$  nM) and (-)menthol (IC  $_{50}\sim 4~\mu M)$  and are partially activated by membrane depolarization (Peier et al. 2002; Behrendt et al. 2004; Voets et al. 2004). The most potent TRPM8 channel blocker is the non-specific agent BCTC ( $IC_{50}$ ) ~ 800 nM for menthol-stimulated  $Ca^{2+}$  influx), which has been shown to also block TRPV1 channel activity (Behrendt et al. 2004). Pharmacological activators cause a leftward shift in the voltage- and temperature-activation curves, so that the channels open at more negative membrane potentials (more physiological resting membrane potentials) or less cooling is required for activation (Malkia et al. 2007). Conversely, pharmacological blockers cause a rightward shift in the voltage- and temperatureactivation curves, so that the channels remain closed at more positive membrane potentials or more cooling is required for activation (Malkia et al. 2007). Interestingly, prostate and skin cancer cell survival is reduced by both knocking down TRPM8 channel expression and activation of TRPM8 channel activity with menthol (EC<sub>50</sub>  $\sim$  286  $\mu$ M), suggesting that TRPM8 activity may have a dual function in certain cancer cells (Zhang et al. 2004; Yamamura et al. 2008). In contrast, in pancreatic cancer cells TRPM8 channel knockdown resulted in a reduction in cell proliferation and cell cycle arrest in the G<sub>1</sub> phase, with no detectable effect on cell viability (Yee *et al.* 2010). The expression of TRPM8 channels in prostate cancer cells is also correlated with androgen receptor expression and differentiation status (Bidaux et al. 2007). TRPM8 expression decreases during the progression to androgen receptor independent growth and tumour cell dedifferentiation (Bidaux *et al.* 2007). Therefore, TRPM8 channels may represent both a diagnostic and prognostic marker for prostate cancer (Zhang *et al.* 2006).

#### TRP channels: TRPC6

TRPC6 was originally identified and cloned from mouse brain (Boulay *et al.* 1997). It was later found to be ubiquitously expressed in humans, with highest expression in lung, placenta, ovary and spleen (Hofmann *et al.* 2000). TRPC6 channels are activated directly by diacylglycerol and are considered an important receptor-mediated  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathway in most cells (Hofmann *et al.* 1999; Hofmann *et al.* 2000; Dietrich *et al.* 2007). TRPC6 channels have been implicated in numerous physiological processes, including vascular smooth muscle tone and glomerular filtration (Dietrich *et al.* 2007). In addition, TRPC6 channels contribute to numerous pathophysiological conditions, such as cardiac fibroblast hypertrophy and hyperglycemia, and loss of function mutations in TRPC6 contribute to focal and segmented glomerulosclerosis (Reiser *et al.* 2005; Winn *et al.* 2005).

A multitude of reports have demonstrated the aberrant expression or overexpression of TRPC6 channels in numerous cancers, including those from the brain, oesophagus, prostate, stomach, liver and breast (Thebault *et al.* 2006; El Boustany *et al.* 2008; Guilbert *et al.* 2008; Aydar *et al.* 2009; Cai *et al.* 2009; Ding *et al.* 2010b). TRPC6 channels have been shown to contribute to cell proliferation in all of the different cancer cells examined (Thebault *et al.* 2006; El Boustany *et al.* 2008; Guilbert *et al.* 2008; Cai *et al.* 2008; Guilbert *et al.* 2008; Aydar *et al.* 2006; El Boustany *et al.* 2008; Guilbert *et al.* 2008; Aydar *et al.* 2006; El Boustany *et al.* 2008; Guilbert *et al.* 2008; Aydar *et al.* 2009; Cai *et al.* 2009; Cai *et al.* 2009; Ding *et al.* 2010a; Ding *et al.* 2010b). There are no specific TRPC6 channel blockers, however the non-specific Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels inhibitors, La<sup>3+</sup> (IC<sub>50</sub> ~  $5 \mu$ M) and Gd<sup>3+</sup> (IC<sub>50</sub> ~  $2 \mu$ M) do block TRPC6 channel currents (Dietrich *et al.* 2007). In

contrast to all of the previously described ion channels, TRPC6 channels have been shown to contribute to later phases of the cell cycle and knockdown of TRPC6 channel expression in numerous different cancer cell types leads to an accumulation of cells at the  $G_2/M$  phase transition (Cai *et al.* 2009; Shi *et al.* 2009; Ding *et al.* 2010b). TRPC6 channels have been detected in MCF-7 cells, where they have been suggested to play a role in Ca<sup>2+</sup>-sensing receptor mediated Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and cell proliferation (El Hiani *et al.* 2006; El Hiani *et al.* 2009a; El Hiani *et al.* 2009b).

#### TRP channels: TRPV6

TRPV6 was originally identified and cloned from intestine (Peng *et al.* 1999), where it has since been demonstrated to be important for calciotropic-stimulated intestinal  $Ca^{2+}$  absorption (Hoenderop *et al.* 2005; Bianco *et al.* 2007). TRPV6 is a constitutively active, highly  $Ca^{2+}$  selective plasma membrane channel (Yue *et al.* 2001; Hoenderop *et al.* 2005).

TRPV6 channels have been found to be aberrantly expressed and overexpressed in prostate and breast cancer cells, respectively (Zhuang *et al.* 2002; Fixemer *et al.* 2003; Wissenbach *et al.* 2004; Bolanz *et al.* 2008). Transfection of hamster embryonic kidney cells with TRPV6, yields cells with a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent increase in cell proliferation (Schwarz *et al.* 2006). TRPV6 channels are blocked by the non-specific pharmacological agents ruthenium red (IC<sub>50</sub> = 9  $\mu$ M) and econazole (Hoenderop *et al.* 2001; Schwarz *et al.* 2006). In prostate cancer cells TRPV6 expression correlates with tumour grade and has been suggested as a prognostic tumour marker (Fixemer *et al.* 2003). In addition, it may also have a dual function in regulating both cell proliferation and cell survival in these cells (Lehen'kyi *et al.* 2007). Furthermore, TRPV6-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx has been shown to be regulated by the resting membrane potential and the activity of  $K_{Ca}$  channels (Lallet-Daher *et al.* 2009). TRPV6 channel activity has been suggested to control cell proliferation via the regulation of nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT) activity (Lehen'kyi *et al.* 2007). One report has demonstrated the expression of TRPV6 channels in the breast cancer cell line T47D, where TRPV6 gene knockdown resulted in reduced cell proliferation (Bolanz *et al.* 2008).

#### TRP channels: TRPM1 and TRPC1

Other TRP channels that have been associated with cancer and cell proliferation are TRPM1 and TRPC1. TRPM1 expression was shown to be inversely correlated with melanocytic tumour progression, with undetectable TRPM1 expression in highly metastatic tumours, suggesting that TRPM1 may act as a tumour suppressor (Deeds *et al.* 2000; Fang *et al.* 2000; Duncan *et al.* 2001). TRPC1, similar to TRPC6, was shown to contribute to  $Ca^{2+}$ -sensing receptor induced  $Ca^{2+}$  influx and cell proliferation in MCF-7 cells (El Hiani *et al.* 2009a; El Hiani *et al.* 2009b). The roles of these two TRP channels are not well defined in cancer and require further investigation.

#### **1.7.3 OTHERS**

Other ion channel types that have been associated with cancer are Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> channels. Na<sup>+</sup> channels facilitate Na<sup>+</sup> influx and Na<sup>+</sup> channel activation will tend to depolarize the membrane potential. Voltage-gated Na<sup>+</sup> channels (Na<sub>V</sub>), in particular, have been well documented to be associated with oncogenesis and are linked with tumour invasion and migration (Bennett *et al.* 2004; Onkal *et al.* 2009). Specific Na<sub>V</sub> genes have been demonstrated to be overexpressed in numerous cancer cell types, such as ovarian and breast cancers (Fraser *et al.* 2005; Gao *et al.* 2010). For example, the neonatal splice

variant of Na<sub>V</sub>1.5 was demonstrated to be upregulated ~1800-fold in the strongly metastatic cell line MBA-MB-231 compared to the weakly metastatic cell line MCF-7 (Fraser *et al.* 2005). It has been demonstrated in numerous cancer cell types that inhibition of specific Na<sub>V</sub> channel activity reduces cancer cell invasion and migration and reduces the metastatic cell behaviour (Fraser *et al.* 2003b; Fraser *et al.* 2004; Fraser *et al.* 2005).

The Cl<sup>-</sup> channel family is also a large and very diverse group of ion channels. Cl<sup>-</sup> channels can be activated by numerous stimuli, including voltage, Ca<sup>2+</sup> and volume (Suzuki *et al.* 2006). In most epithelial cells, Cl<sup>-</sup> channels facilitate the efflux of Cl<sup>-</sup>, and possibly  $HCO_3^-$ , down their electrochemical gradient, thus increases in Cl<sup>-</sup> channel activity would tend to depolarize the membrane potential and may cause intracellular acidification (Lang *et al.* 2007). Cl<sup>-</sup> channel activity is also critical to the regulation of cell volume (Hoffmann *et al.* 2009). Both membrane Cl<sup>-</sup> permeability and Cl<sup>-</sup> channel activity have been shown to be associated with cell cycle progression (Bubien *et al.* 1990; Chen *et al.* 2007). Thus, blocking Cl<sup>-</sup> channel activity frequently inhibits the proliferation of both normal and cancerous cell types (Voets *et al.* 1995; Schlichter *et al.* 1996; Shen *et al.* 2000; Chen *et al.* 2007).

# **1.8 HOW DO K<sup>+</sup> CHANNELS CONTROL CELL PROLIFERATION?**

It is becoming increasingly apparent that  $K^+$  channel activity contributes to the proliferation of cancer cells (see Section 1.7.1). However, what is still unclear is how cancer cell proliferation is regulated by these channels. In general, the membrane potential of cancer cells is less depolarized, compared to normal differentiated cells (Marino *et al.* 1994). Measurements in breast cancer cells demonstrate that changes in the

membrane potential also occur during the progression through the cell cycle (Wonderlin et al. 1995). Thus, in the  $G_1$  phase of the cell cycle the membrane potential is around -9 mV and during the transition through G<sub>1</sub> and into the S phase the membrane potential becomes more hyperpolarized shifting to membrane potentials between -24 mV and -40 mV (Wonderlin et al. 1995). Inhibiting this hyperpolarizating shift, either by increasing the external K<sup>+</sup> concentration or pharmacologically inhibiting the activity of specific K<sup>+</sup> channels, inhibits cell proliferation and arrests cells in the  $G_1$  phase (Freedman *et al.* 1992; Lee et al. 1993; Wilson et al. 1993; Woodfork et al. 1995; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b). In addition, cells can be rescued from the  $G_1$  phase cell cycle arrest by hyperpolarizing the membrane potential with the  $K^+$  ionophore valinomycin (Wang *et al.* 1998). These results suggest that there is a membrane potential-dependent, and thus  $K^+$ channel activity-dependent, cellular event required for cell cycle progression through the  $G_1$  phase of the cell cycle. However, it has been hypothesized that  $K^+$  channel activity, in addition to controlling the membrane potential, may concomitantly regulate other cellular events, such as changes in intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$ , cell volume, and intracellular pH, that may also contribute to the control of cell cycle progression. Along these same lines, it has been shown in neuroblastomas and astrocytes that inhibiting K<sup>+</sup> channel activity reduces cell proliferation without having any effect on membrane potential (Rouzaire-Dubois et al. 1991; Pappas et al. 1994).

# **1.8.1** Ca<sup>2+</sup> INFLUX

Changes in intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$  occur throughout the 4 phases of the cell cycle (Kahl *et al.* 2003; Santella *et al.* 2005). During the G<sub>1</sub> phase, two increases in intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$  occur. The first occurs during the early part of G<sub>1</sub> and the second during the later

part of  $G_1$  near the  $G_1/S$  phase transition (Pande *et al.* 1996; Roderick *et al.* 2008). These events have been suggested to be required for the proliferation of cancer cells (Panner et al. 2006; Lehen'kyi et al. 2007; Roderick et al. 2008). The first report demonstrating the regulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx by the membrane potential in cancer cells was in melanoma cells (Nilius et al. 1993). In these cells, the membrane potential directly correlated with intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$ , such that hyperpolarization of the membrane potential induced an increase in intracellular [Ca2+] via Ca2+ influx (Nilius et al. 1993). The relationship between intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$  and membrane potential suggested that even small changes in membrane potentials, around the resting membrane potential of these cells, may cause large changes in intracellular [Ca<sup>2+</sup>] (Nilius et al. 1993). Interestingly, it was also shown that a hyperpolarization of the membrane potential, and an increase in intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$ , subsequently activated  $Ca^{2+}$ -sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels that further hyperpolarized the membrane potential in melanoma cells (Nilius et al. 1993). These results were the first to suggest a relationship between basal Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and the membrane potential in cancer cells, and demonstrated that basal Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx can be influenced by the electrical gradient for Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry. This mechanism has also been demonstrated in normal cells, such as T lymphocytes, where the membrane potential, which is controlled by  $K_V 1.3$  or  $K_{Ca} 3.1$ channel activity, regulates  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in the early and late  $G_1$  phases of the cell cycle (Panyi 2005). If regulation of the membrane potential is critical for determining the driving force for  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, then this could provide one mechanism by which  $K^+$ channel activity stimulates cancer cell cycle progression and hence cell growth.

#### **1.8.2 CELL VOLUME**

In addition to regulating the membrane potential,  $K^+$  channels are also critically important for regulating the distribution of ions between the intra- and extracellular spaces. Disturbances in extracellular osmolarity result in compensatory cellular responses (Hoffmann *et al.* 2009). Thus, when cells are exposed to a hypoosmotic solution the cells initially swell, as a result of water entering the cell to re-establish isoosmolarity between intracellular and extracellular solutions. This would result in an increase in cell volume to accommodate the increase in water influx. At this point some cells remain enlarged, whereas others can undergo a response called regulatory volume decrease (RVD), which is dependent on the efflux of KCl and the amino sulfonic acid taurine followed by water (Hoffmann et al. 2009). Changes in both cell volume and the magnitude of RVD have been shown to be linked with phases of the cell cycle in cancer cells (Wang *et al.* 2002b). As cells progress through the cell cycle they must approximately double their size before they divide in order to maintain constant size after division. In general progression through the cell cycle is correlated with an increase in cell volume during the G<sub>1</sub> and M phases (Pendergrass et al. 1991; Wang et al. 2002b). In some cases, artificially increasing cell size stimulates cell proliferation, however increasing cell size too much causes cell cycle arrest, suggesting a narrow window of optimal cell size for cell proliferation to continue (Rouzaire-Dubois et al. 2000; Rouzaire-Dubois et al. 2004). The magnitude of RVD was greatest in the G<sub>1</sub> and M phases and lowest in the S phase in nasopharyngeal carcinomas, suggesting that the activity of K<sup>+</sup> and/or Cl<sup>-</sup> channels required for RVD may also be greatest in the G<sub>1</sub> and M phases (Wang et al. 2002b). RVD has been shown to be dependent on numerous different  $K^+$  channel types, including  $K_V$  channels and  $K_{Ca}$ channels (Lauf et al. 2008) and in neuroblastoma cells inhibiting K<sup>+</sup> channel activity

causes cell swelling (Rouzaire-Dubois *et al.* 1998). Previous research has shown that MCF-7 cells undergo a RVD in response to hypoosmotic stress, and RVD involves the activity of  $K_V$ 7.1 and  $K_V$ 11.1 channels in the plasma membrane (vanTol *et al.* 2007; Roy *et al.* 2008).

The same mechanisms used during RVD may also be involved in cell volume regulation occurring during cell cycle progression in cancer cells. An association between cell volume and cell proliferation has been shown in numerous cancer cell types, such as hepatomas and neuroblastomas (Schliess et al. 1995; Rouzaire-Dubois et al. 1998). The relationship between cell volume and cell proliferation can be explained by the macromolecular crowding theory proposed by Dubois and Rouzaire-Dubois (2004). They suggest that the activities of macromolecules involved in regulating cell cycle progression are sensitive to the degree of crowding within the cell and are optimally active within the narrow cell size window required for cell proliferation. Evidence from hepatoma cells support this theory, as cell swelling induced an activation of extracellular regulated kinases, which are important for regulating cell proliferation (Schliess *et al.* 1995). Furthermore, highly proliferative cells, such as cancer cells, require increased concentrations of substrates (amino acids, nucleotides) to support the increased rate of proliferation. It has been suggested that an increased ability to regulate of cell volume would be advantageous to compensate for the increased concentration of these building blocks in cancer cells (Kunzelmann 2005).

#### **1.8.3 INTRACELLULAR pH**

The extracellular pH of the tumour micro-environment is slightly more acidic compared to normal cells, whereas the intracellular pH of cancer cells is slightly more

alkaline compared to normal cells (Griffiths 1991). The increased extracellular pH is believed to be due to increased metabolism and lactic acid released by cancer cells (Kunzelmann 2005; Schreiber 2005). Intracellular pH fluctuates with the cell cycle and increases by 0.2-0.4 units during progression through the G<sub>1</sub> phase (Kunzelmann 2005). Intracellular pH is determined by the balance between acid loading and acid extrusion processes (Boron 2004). Acid loaders include the passive entry of H<sup>+</sup>, the passive exit of OH<sup>-</sup> and HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, the Cl/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> exchanger and the Na<sup>+</sup>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> cotransporter (operating in a 1 Na<sup>+</sup> to 3 HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> stoichiometry), whereas acid extruders include the vacuolar-type  $H^+$ pump, the Na<sup>+</sup>-driven Cl<sup>-</sup>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> exchanger, the Na<sup>+</sup>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> cotransporter (operating in a 1 Na<sup>+</sup> to 2 HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> stoichiometry) and the Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger (Boron 2004). The Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger functions by coupling the extrusion of  $H^+$  with the driving force for Na<sup>+</sup> entry. Alkalinisation of intracellular pH in cancer cells is believed to be the result of increased Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger activity (Kaplan *et al.* 1994; Reshkin *et al.* 2000). Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger gene knockdown decreased intracellular pH, cell proliferation, and arrested gastric carcinoma cells in the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle (Liu *et al.* 2008). Interestingly, blocking the activity of K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel reduced the ability of colon cancer cells to re-alkalinize intracellular pH following acid loading, suggesting that  $K^+$  channel activity may indirectly regulate Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger activity (Spitzner *et al.* 2007). In addition, astrocyte cell proliferation is inhibited by  $K^+$  channel blockers via alkalinisation of intracellular pH, suggesting that, similar to cell volume, there is an optimal intracellular pH range required for cell proliferation (Pappas et al. 1994).

# **1.9 HOW DO OTHER ION CHANNELS CONTIBUTE TO CELL PROLIFERATION?**

As outlined in section 1.7 other ion channel types, such as  $Ca^{2+}$ ,  $Na^+$  and  $Cl^-$  channels have been shown to be involved in cancer. Of these  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Cl^-$  channels have been suggested to contribute to cancer cell proliferation. It is hypothesized that  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Cl^-$  channels control cancer cell proliferation by common and overlapping mechanisms to  $K^+$  channels, which were described above.

 $Ca^{2+}$  channels are presumably responsible for the influx of  $Ca^{2+}$  or similarly the release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from intracellular stores. Thus,  $Ca^{2+}$  channels are important for regulating intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling (Berridge *et al.* 2000). In cancer cells  $Ca^{2+}$  channels have been suggested to regulate cell proliferation via the regulation of  $Ca^{2+}$ -sensitive proproliferative pathways (Capiod *et al.* 2007; Monteith *et al.* 2007; Roderick *et al.* 2008). These pathways include the activities of: activated protein 1, cAMP-responsive element binding protein, NFAT, calmodulin,  $Ca^{2+}$ /calmodulin-dependent kinases and calcineurin (Roderick *et al.* 2008). The activities of both TRPC6 and TRPV6 channels has been shown to regulate NFAT activity providing direct evidence to support this suggestion (Thebault *et al.* 2006; Lehen'kyi *et al.* 2007).

The mechanisms by which Cl<sup>-</sup> channels control cell proliferation are not well understood. In spite of this, Cl<sup>-</sup> channels are presumed to contribute to cell proliferation via the regulation of cell volume (Lang *et al.* 2000; Lang *et al.* 2007). However, since they may also facilitate the efflux of  $HCO_3^-$ , they may also be important for regulation of intracellular pH (Lang *et al.* 2000; Lang *et al.* 2007). In certain eukaryotic cells, such as yeast, cell cycle progression is regulated by a specific cell size checkpoint (Martin 2009). However, this type of cell cycle checkpoint appears absent in mammalian cells (Conlon *et al.* 2003). Therefore, it remains controversial whether this mechanism of cell cycle regulation occurs in mammalian cells that are either normal or transformed.

#### 1.10 RATIONALE AND SPECIFIC AIMS OF THE THESIS

Understanding how breast cancer cells undergo uncontrolled cell proliferation will aid in the development of new and different ways to treat breast cancer. My research was intended to identify the contribution of specific K<sup>+</sup> channels and members of the TRP channel family to breast cancer cell proliferation. As some specific ion channels appear to be aberrantly or overexpressed in breast cancers these ion channels may therefore be effective targets to inhibit the proliferation of cancer cells, while not affecting adjacent normal cells. Estrogen is a major contributor to the development and progression of the majority of breast cancers and estrogen stimulates the proliferation of breast cancers that express estrogen receptors. Understanding the mechanisms of estrogen-stimulated breast cancer cell proliferation will help identify novel ways to block the mitogenic effect of estrogen. Research will therefore hopefully lead to the development of therapeutic agents that target specific ion channels to inhibit both basal and estrogen-stimulated breast cancer cell proliferation. Furthermore, the basis for this research was to help elucidate which specific ion channels contribute to cancer and to test the hypothesis that the activity of specific K<sup>+</sup> channels controls cell proliferation via membrane potentialdependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx.

Using MCF-7 cells as an *in vitro* cell line model to study breast cancer cell proliferation my PhD research targeted three main projects that were subdivided into six specific aims:

(1a) I hypothesized that the activities of specific  $K^+$  channels contribute to basal MCF-7 cell proliferation. Therefore, the mRNA expression of specific  $K^+$  channels in MCF-7 cells was identified and the contribution of the activities of these  $K^+$  channels to basal MCF-7 cell proliferation was investigated. (1b) I hypothesized that estrogenstimulated MCF-7 cell proliferation may be dependent on specific  $K^+$  channel activity. Therefore, the regulation of  $K^+$  channel mRNA expression by estrogen was first examined, then the contribution of the activities of specific  $K^+$  channels to estrogenstimulated MCF-7 cell proliferation were tested. (1c) During the course of my research, I found that TRAM-34, a supposedly specific  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel inhibitor, surprisingly stimulated MCF-7 cell proliferation. Therefore I investigated the mechanism of TRAM-34-stimulated cell proliferation in more detail.

(2) I hypothesized that  $K^+$  channel activity contributes to cell proliferation via membrane potential-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx. To test this hypothesis I examined whether basal Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx was dependent on the activities of specific K<sup>+</sup> channels, which were previously shown to contribute to basal MCF-7 cell proliferation.

(3a) I hypothesized that specific members of the TRP channel family contribute to  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in MCF-7 cells. Therefore, the mRNA expression of TRP channels were identified in MCF-7 cells and the contribution of the activity of one TRP channel family member, TRPM8, to basal  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in MCF-7 cells was examined. (3b) I hypothesized that, by providing a  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathway TRPM8 channels may also contribute to MCF-7 cell proliferation. The contribution of TRPM8 channel activity to basal MCF-7 cell proliferation was therefore investigated.

#### **CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 2.1 CELL CULTURE

MCF-7 cells (human mammary adenocarcinoma cell line) were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, MD, USA). LNCaP cells (human prostate adenocarcinoma cell line) were a generous gift from Dr. Catherine Too (Department of Biochemistry, Dalhousie University). Stock cultures of MCF-7 cells were routinely cultured in Minimum Essential Media (MEM; Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) containing 5% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS; Invitrogen) and supplemented with 100 µg/ml human insulin (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, ON, Canada), 10 µM non-essential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (all from Invitrogen). Stock cultures of LnCAP cells were grown in RPMI-1640 Medium (Sigma-Aldrich) containing 5% FBS and supplemented with 100 U/ml penicillin and 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin (all from Invitrogen). All cells were kept in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Medium was replaced every two days on stock cells grown in T75 flasks (Corning, Lowell, MA, USA). For mRNA expression (semi quantitative or quantitative RT-PCR), Western blotting, cell counting, trypan blue exclusion, siRNA transfections and  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  uptake experiments  $5x10^4$  cells were plated in each well of 6well plates. For  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation and uptake experiments 2.5x10<sup>4</sup> cells were plated in each well of 24-well plates. Cells seeded for experiments followed the medium replacement schedule outlined in Table 1.

In order to test the effects of exogenous E2 treatment on MCF-7 cellular activity the medium was modified in a way to reduce the endogenous E2 levels already present in the medium. First, the 5% FBS was replaced with 5% dextran-coated charcoal-FBS (DCC-FBS, Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA), which contains a lower concentration of E2 (~1.8 pM), in addition to other growth factors. Secondly, the MEM was replaced with phenol red-free MEM (Invitrogen) as phenol red has previously been shown to act as an ER agonist in cultured breast cancer cells (Berthois *et al.* 1986).

#### 2.2 SAMPLING

In most cases, experiments were performed on multiple independent wells at each passage of cells, which is referred to as the number of technical replicates. In all cases, experiments were then performed on multiple passages of cells, which are referred to as the number of biological replicates. n-values refer to the number of biological replicates.

#### 2.3 DRUGS USED

Outlined in Table 2 are the drugs used, source, stock concentrations, vehicle in which they were solubilized, and how they were stored. In some cases, the optimal concentrations of drug used were both determined experimentally through concentration-response curves and tested to be non-toxic, as shown. Where channel blockers were used at a single high concentration, this concentration was chosen because it was expected to fully block all channel activity. Single high concentrations were also confirmed to be non-toxic as determined by a Trypan blue exclusion assay (data not shown).

#### 2.4 NOMENCLATURE

The nomenclature of all drugs, ion channel genes and protein names conform to the British Journal of Pharmacology's guide to receptors and channels (Alexander *et al.* 

2008). A condensed list of gene names and corresponding protein names can be found in Table 3.

#### 2.5 RNA EXTRACTION AND REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION (RT)

MCF-7 cell total RNA was extracted using TRIzol<sup>TM</sup> reagent (Invitrogen) following manufacturers' protocol. RNA was stored at -80°C until needed. Contaminating genomic DNA was removed using the Turbo DNA-free<sup>TM</sup> Kit (Ambion, Austin, TX, USA). RNA (2  $\mu$ g) was reversed transcribed into complementary DNA (cDNA) using 100  $\mu$ M deoxynucleotide triphosphate (dNTP) mix (Invitrogen), 500 ng oligo(dT) (Fisher Scientific, Ottawa, ON, Canada) and M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme (200 U; Invitrogen) in a total volume of 100  $\mu$ l. cDNA was stored at -20°C until needed.

#### 2.6 POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION (PCR) AND QUANTITATIVE PCR

To detect mRNA expression and measure changes in gene expression PCR and q-PCR was performed. Oligonucleotide primers (Invitrogen) were either designed using OligoPerfect<sup>™</sup> Designer (Invitrogen) or referenced where appropriate. The majority of primers used were designed to amplify exon-exon junctions and tested to confirm the absence of genomic DNA amplification by performing a negative RT reaction. A negative RT reaction consisted of omitting the M-MLV reverse transcriptase enzyme. All positive PCR amplicons were sequenced using a commercial sequence facility (DalGEN Microbial Genomics Centre, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada) to further confirm the correct gene product was amplified. Primer sequences, annealing temperatures, and predicted amplicon sizes are shown in Table 3. Each PCR reaction contained the following reagents in a final volume of 25 µl: 0.4 µM of corresponding forward and reverse primers, 200 µM dNTP mix (Invitrogen), 1 x PCR buffer, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2.5 U *Taq* DNA polymerase (all from Fermentas Canada, Burlington, ON, Canada) and 2 µl cDNA. PCR conditions were as follows: 95°C for 1 min followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 45 s, an appropriate annealing temperature (see Table 3) for 45 s, and extension at 72°C for 1 min. Finally, this was followed by a final extension step of 72°C for 10 min and held at 4°C.

PCR reactions were visualized by gel electrophoresis. PCR samples were diluted 6:1 with 6X Loading Dye solutions (Fermentas). Samples (15  $\mu$ l per well) were separated on 1.5% (<sup>w</sup>/<sub>v</sub>) agarose gels in 1X TBE buffer (135 mM Tris, 45 mM borate and 2.5 mM EDTA) containing 20 pg/ $\mu$ l ethidium bromide at 90 V for 45 min. Amplicons of the correct size were cut from the gel, extracted using a MinElute<sup>TM</sup> Gel Extraction Kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and sequenced (as mentioned above).

Quantitative PCR (qPCR) was performed using the Roche LightCycler® System (Roche Applied Science, Laval, PQ, Canada). Primers used for qPCR are also included in Table 3. Initially, amplicons from each individual PCR reaction were combined with Picogreen dye (Invitrogen) and the amount of fluorescence was determined. The amount of DNA in each sample was determined by extrapolating from a standard curve of known bacteriophage lambda DNA concentration vs. fluorescence. The copy number per microliter was calculated using the concentration determined for each amplicon and the following equation:

Copies per  $\mu$ l =  $\left[\frac{Amplicon \ concentration \ (g \cdot \mu l^{-1})}{Molecular \ Weight \ of \ Amplicon \ (g \ mole^{-1})}\right] \times 6.022 \ x \ 10^{23} \ (copies \ mole^{-1}).$ For each amplicon serial dilutions ranging from  $10^8 \cdot 10^1$  copies per  $\mu$ l were made and

used as standards of known concentration for qPCR. Each qPCR reaction contained the following reagents in a total volume of 20 µl: 0.5 µM forward and reverse primers, 4 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 2 µl cDNA, and 2 µl 1 x LightCycler DNA FastStart DNA Master SYBR® Green mix (Roche Applied Science) containing dNTP, buffer and hot start Taq DNA polymerase. PCR conditions were as follows: 95°C for 10 min, followed by 45 cycles of 95°C for 10 s, an appropriate annealing temperature (see Table 3) for 5 s, and 72°C for 10 s. The amount of fluorescence, corresponding to the amount of total double stranded DNA in each sample, was measured after each extension phase. After the 45 cycles, a melting curve analysis was performed in which the samples were gradually heated from 65 to 95°C while continuously measuring the amount of fluorescence in each sample. The melting curve analysis was used to confirm that only one amplicon was being produced in each reaction. For each qPCR experiment at least 4 extracted amplicons of known concentration ranging from  $10^8$ - $10^1$  copies per  $\mu$ l were amplified in parallel with samples of unknown concentration. A standard curve was generated from the concentrations of the 4 standards and their cycle threshold  $(C_T)$  value corresponding to the PCR cycle in which the amount of fluorescence is two fluorescent units above background. The concentration in each unknown sample was extrapolated from the standard curve of known concentration (copies/ $\mu$ l) vs C<sub>T</sub> value using the calculated C<sub>T</sub> of each unknown. Also, for each qPCR experiment two controls were added, a negative RT (described above) and a H<sub>2</sub>O control.

The amount of gene expression was normalized to the expression of housekeeping genes 18S rRNA or hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyltranferase (HPRT) where indicated. The gene of interest to housekeeping gene ratio (i.e. KCNH1/18S rRNA ratio) was converted to a percentage of control by dividing each ratio by the mean of the control ratios multiplied by 100. The percentage of control values were averaged and expressed as a mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). Three technical replicates were performed for each biological replicate for each drug treatment.

#### 2.7 WESTERN BLOTTING

To detect the protein presence and measure changes in protein expression Western blotting was performed using total cellular protein extracted from MCF-7 cells. Cells followed the medium replacement schedule outlined in Table 1. Confluent monolayers (85-90%) of cells grown in 6-well plates were rinsed with cold PBS, detached from the culture dish using cell scrapers and subjected to centrifugation at 1000 x g for 5 min to obtain a cell pellet. Cell pellets were resuspended in RIPA buffer (see Appendix A) containing HALT<sup>TM</sup> protease-inhibitor cocktail (Fisher Scientific), and left on ice for 30 min. Cell lysates were then centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 15 min at 4°C. The concentration of protein in each sample was measured using the Bradford method (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) modified for a microplate reader. Protein samples were stored at -80°C for no more than one month.

For Western blot analysis MCF-7 cell protein (20-100 µg per lane) was diluted with 2x Laemelli loading buffer (Bio-Rad) with 5% ( $^{v}/_{v}$ )  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol and heated to 95°C for 3 min. Protein was separated by sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis separating gels at 125V for 1.5 hr in 1x Running buffer (see Appendix A). The stacking gel consisted of 5% acrylamide with 0.125 M Tris-base (pH 6.8), 0.1% ammonium persulfate (APS) and 0.1% SDS. The resolving gel consisted of 7.5% acrylamide with 0.38 M Tris-base (pH 8.8), 0.1% APS and 0.1% SDS. Protein was

transferred electrophoretically to nitro-cellulose membranes at 90V for 1 hr in Transfer buffer (see Appendix A) cooled with ice. Nitro-cellulose membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk in Tris-base saline (TBS) containing 0.1% Tween20 (TBS-T, see Appendix A) for 1hr at room temperature. Membranes were then incubated with specific primary antibody in TBS in the presence of 0.2% bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich) overnight at 4°C with gentle shaking. The name, company, host and dilution of primary antibodies used are shown in Table 4. Each membrane was washed 3 times for 15 min with TBS-T and 1 time for 15 min with TBS. Membranes were finally incubated with appropriate secondary antibody in TBS containing 0.5% skim milk powder for 2 hr at room temperature. The name, company, host and dilution of secondary antibodies used are also shown in Table 4. To remove excess secondary antibody each membrane was again washed 3 times for 15 min with TBS-T and 1 time for 15 min with TBS. To visualize protein presence on the nitro-cellulose membrane the Amersham<sup>™</sup> Enhanced Chemiluminescence<sup>™</sup> Plus Western blotting detection system (GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences Corp., Piscataway, NJ, USA) was used following manufacturers' protocol. Membranes were stripped of antibodies with Restore<sup>™</sup> PLUS Western Blot Stripping Buffer (Fisher Scientific) for 15 min, then rinsed with TBS and incubated with beta-actin primary antibody to quantify the amount of protein loaded in each lane. One technical replicate was performed for each biological replicate.

# 2.8 [<sup>3</sup>H]-THYMIDINE INCORPORATION

To measure MCF-7 cell proliferation and passage through the cell cycle the amount of DNA synthesis was quantified using the [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation method. MCF-7 cells were seeded in 5% FBS MEM containing supplements for 24 hr, after which

the medium was changed to 5% DCC-FBS (Hyclone) phenol red-free MEM (Invitrogen) containing supplements for 48 hr. Medium was then changed to 1% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM containing supplements for 48 hr to partially synchronize the cells, with respect to cell cycle. Finally, cells were treated with the indicated drug in 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM containing supplements in the presence of 1µCi/ml [methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine (TRK-300, GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences Corp.) and 1µM non-radioactive thymidine. The doubling time of MCF-7 cells is estimated to be  $\sim 24$  hr (Sutherland *et al.* 1983), therefore the amount of DNA synthesis was measured after 36 hr as to measure the progression through no more than one passage through S phase. DNA was extracted and quantified as previously described (Mujoomdar et al. 2004). Cells were placed on ice, rinsed twice with 1 ml cold PBS and incubated in 0.5 ml cold 10%  $\binom{W}{v}$ trichloroacetic acid (TCA) for 1 hr to lyse cells and extract macromolecules. TCA was removed, macromolecules rinsed with 1 ml 100% ethanol and allowed to air dry. Macromolecules were then incubated in 0.5 ml 0.1 M NaOH with 1% SDS for 1 hr. The solution in each well was transferred to scintillation vials containing 2 ml scintillation cocktail acidified with TCA to neutralize the NaOH. A Beckman LS 5000TA scintillation counter (Beckman Coulter Canada, Mississauga, ON, Canada) was used to measure the radioactivity in each sample as counts per min (cpm). Six technical replicates were performed for each biological replicate for each drug treatment. Raw data (cpm) were converted to a percentage of control values on each plate and the percentages of control values from multiple experiments were combined and expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM.

#### 2.9 CELL COUNTING

The number of MCF-7 cells after treatments were also quantified to measure changes in cell proliferation. MCF-7 cells were cultured in a manner similar to [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiments except that after synchronization cells were treated with indicated drug in 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM containing supplements without [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine for 72 hr (see Table 1). Cells were then detached from the wells with 1 ml 0.25% trypsin/EDTA (Invitrogen), diluted 1:10 in PBS and counted using a Coulter Counter® model ZM30383 (Beckman Coulter Canada). Three technical replicates were performed for each biological replicate

#### 2.10 TRYPAN BLUE EXCLUSION ASSAY

Cell viability was measured using a trypan blue exclusion assay in order to assess the cytotoxicity of drug treatments. Cells followed the medium replacement schedule outlined in Table 1. Cells were detached as previously described for cell counting (see above). Detached cells were diluted 3:1 with 0.4% trypan blue (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated at room temperature for 3 min. Cells were counted on a haemocytometer (Fisher Scientific) following manufacturers' protocol. Clear cells were assigned into the live category, whereas blue and light blue cells were assigned into the dead category. The percentage of cell viability was determined by dividing the number of live cells by the total number of cells (live cells plus dead cells) multiplied by 100. Three technical replicates were performed for each biological replicate.

#### 2.11 COMPETITIVE LIGAND BINDING ASSAY

To test the ability of  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel blockers (TRAM-34 and clotrimazole) to bind directly to the ER protein competitive ligand binding assays were performed. Cytosolic ER protein from MCF-7, MDA-MB-231 or T47D cells were obtained as previously described (Kramer *et al.* 1997). Briefly, cells were cultured in 10 cm dishes in 5% FBS MEM containing supplements for 4 days, following which the medium was replaced with 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM containing supplements. Once cells reached a confluence of 85%, cells were incubated in 1 mM EDTA  $Ca^{2+}-Mg^{2+}$ -free PBS for 30 min to gently detach them from the dish. Cells from multiple dishes were combined and collected by centrifugation at 1000x g for 5 min. Once collected, cells were disrupted by ultrasonification in ice-cold 10 mM TRIS, 1.5 mM EDTA, 1 mM dithiothreitol and 10% glycerol, pH 7.4 (TEDG buffer) containing HALT<sup>TM</sup> proteaseinhibitor cocktail (Fisher Scientific). Cell lysates were then centrifuged at 100 000x g at 4°C for 30 min and the supernatant transferred to new 1.5 ml eppendorf tubes. The concentration of protein in each sample was measured using the Bradford method (Bio-Rad) modified for a microplate reader. Samples were stored in 500 µl aliquots at -80°C for no more than one month.

Competitive ligand binding assays were performed with cytosolic cell protein (250 µg) incubated at room temperature for 2 h in the presence of 0.1 nM [2,4,6,7,16,17-<sup>3</sup>H(N)]-estradiol ([<sup>3</sup>H]-E2) (110 Ci·mmol<sup>-1</sup>; Perkin-Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA) in a final volume of 500 µl diluted with TEDG buffer. E2 standards and test compounds (TRAM-34 and clotrimazole) were diluted in phenol red-free 5% DCC-FBS MEM containing supplements before being added to cytosolic cell protein. Two controls were performed in addition to test compounds, which consisted of a vehicle control comprised of 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM containing supplements with 0.7% DMSO and a non-specific binding control consisting of a 1000-fold excess of non-radioactive E2. ER-bound [<sup>3</sup>H]- E2 was separated from unbound [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 by adding 250  $\mu$ l hydroxylapatite (HAP, 60% in TEDG buffer; Sigma-Aldrich), vortexing the mixture every 5 min over 15 min and centrifugation at 1034x *g* for 10 min. The HAP-[<sup>3</sup>H]-E2-ER complex was washed with 1 ml TEDG buffer, centrifuged and repeated. To separate [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 from the HAP-[<sup>3</sup>H]-E2-ER complex, the mixture was incubated in 500  $\mu$ l of 100% ethanol for 15 min and centrifuged at 1034x *g* for 10 min. The resultant supernatant was removed and added to scintillation vials containing scintillation fluid. The amount of radioactivity was measured on a Beckman LS 5000TA scintillation counter (Beckman Coulter Canada) as described above for [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation. Four technical replicates were performed for each of four independent protein extractions for a total of 4 biological replicates. An apparent dissociation constant of 0.135 ± 0.034 nM and a maximum binding capacity of 48.3 ± 5.4 fmol·mg<sup>-1</sup> were determined by Scatchard analysis (n = 3).

# 2.12 <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> UPTAKE ASSAY

 $^{45}$ Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake was used as a marker to measure the amount of Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx into MCF-7 cells. Cells followed the medium replacement schedule outlined in Table 1. Cells were initially rinsed with 3 ml PBS and then incubated in 1 ml of 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM containing supplements including vehicle or drug of interest in the presence of 4 µCi/ml  $^{45}$ Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Perkin-Elmer) for 10, 30 or 60 min to allow  $^{45}$ Ca<sup>2+</sup> to enter cells. A 0 min time point was also included in all experiments to measure non-specific  $^{45}$ Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding. After the appropriate time, wells were rinsed 3 times with 3 ml PBS then incubated in 0.1 M NaOH with 1% SDS for 1 hr. The contents of the wells were then transferred to scintillation vials containing 2 ml acidified scintillation fluid and radioactivity measured as described above. Three technical replicates were performed for
each biological replicate for each vehicle control or drug treatment at each time point. The average of non-specific <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> binding for each trial was subtracted from each technical replicate for that experiment at each time point. Raw data (cpm) were converted to a percentage of control values for each experiment and the percentages of control values from multiple experiments were combined.

 $^{45}$ Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake experiments were performed in 5%DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM containing supplements, which contained a [K<sup>+</sup>] of ~1.4 mM. The external [K<sup>+</sup>] was raised to 40 mM by the addition of KCl to the medium. Under these conditions the external osmolarity would increase accordingly. To control for an increase in external osmolarity, mannitol (80 mM) was added to the medium in separate experiments.

# 2.13 [<sup>3</sup>H]-THYMIDINE UPTAKE

[<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake experiments, in contrast to incorporation experiments, were performed to measure the effect of icilin and BCTC on the transport of [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine into MCF-7 cells. Cells followed the medium replacement schedule as outlined in Table 1. At the time of treatment MCF-7 cells were incubated in the presence of  $1\mu$ Ci/ml [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine and 1  $\mu$ M non-radioactive thymidine at room temperature for 10 min. Cells were then rinsed twice with 1 ml cold PBS and incubated in 0.5 ml 10% (<sup>w</sup>/<sub>v</sub>) TCA for 1 hr. Wells were then rinsed with 1 ml 100% ethanol, allowed to air-dry and incubated in 0.5 ml 0.1 M NaOH with 1% SDS for 1 hr. The contents of the wells were transferred to scintillation vials containing 2 ml of acidified scintillation fluid and radioactivity measured as previously described (see above). Three technical replicates were performed for each biological replicate for each drug treatment. Raw data (cpm)

were converted to a percentage of control values on each plate and the percentages of control values from multiple experiments were combined.

#### 2.14 siRNA TRANSFECTION

MCF-7 cells were transfected using the lipid-based transfection reagent siPORT<sup>™</sup> NeoFX<sup>TM</sup> Transfection Agent (Ambion) and the reverse transfection methodology provided by the manufacturer. All siRNA oligonucleotides were provided by Ambion and were follows: TRPM8 #1 (siRNA ID: s35489) sense strand: 5'as GACUGAGAGUUGGAUCAAATT-3'; antisense strand. 5'-UUUFAUCCAACUCUCAGUCTC-3', TRPM8 #2 (siRNA ID: s35490) sense strand: 5'-5'-GUGAGACAGTGGTACGTAATT-3'; antisense strand: UUACGUACCACUGUCUCATT-3', and negative control #1 siRNA (siRNA ID: 4390843). Preliminary experiments demonstrated that 2 µl of siPORT<sup>™</sup> NeoFX<sup>™</sup> Transfection Agent and a final concentration of 100 nM siRNA were optimal for siRNA transfection experiments (data not shown). Briefly, the transfection agent and siRNA were incubated in opti-MEM medium (Invitrogen) for 10 min in separate tubes. The diluted transfection agent and siRNA were then combined and incubated for another 10 min. The transfection agent-siRNA complexes were then dispersed into empty 6-well plates. MCF-7 cells (5 x  $10^4$ ) in 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM containing supplements were then placed on top of the transfection agent-siRNA complexes. The medium was replaced after 2 days and the number of cells in each well was counted (see Section 2.9) 4 days after siRNA transfection.

# 2.15 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

For single concentration [ ${}^{3}$ H]-thymidine incorporation experiments data were analysed using Students *t*-test for unpaired values. For those experiments comparing multiple treatments, such as concentration-response [ ${}^{3}$ H]-thymidine incorporation experiments, cell counting, qRT-PCR, competitive ligand binding, [ ${}^{3}$ H]-thymidine uptake, trypan blue exclusion,  ${}^{45}$ Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake, and siRNA experiments data were analysed using ANOVA with Tukey's *post hoc* test. Data were analysed prior to normalization for [ ${}^{3}$ H]-thymidine incorporation and qRT-PCR. A P-value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

#### **CHAPTER 3: RESULTS**

# **3.1 MOLECULAR IDENTIFICATION OF K<sup>+</sup> CHANNELS IN MCF-7 CELLS AND THEIR CONTRIBUTION TO CELL PROLIFERATION**

MCF-7 cells were screened to identify the expression of specific  $K^+$  channel genes. To identify the mRNA expression of specific K<sup>+</sup> channels RT-PCR was performed on MCF-7 cell total RNA. A representative example of five trials from RT-PCR experiments is shown in Figure 5A. For KCNJ8 (RefSeq: NM-004982), the primers amplified a 336 basepair (bp) amplicon. For KCNO1 (NM-000218.2, NM-181798 and NM-181797), the primers amplified a 154 bp amplicon common to all three splice variants. For KCNH1 (NM-172362 and NM-002238), the primers amplified a 177 bp amplicon common to both splice variants. For KCNH2 (NM-000238, NM-172056 and NM-172057), the primers amplified a 172 bp amplicon common to all three splice variants. For KCNN4 (NM-002250), the primers amplified a 158 bp amplicon. For KCNMA1 (NM-001014797 and NM-002247), the primers amplified a 153 bp amplicon common to both splice variants. All amplicons were excised from the gel and sequenced, confirming the correct predicted sequence was amplified (data not shown). These results demonstrated that MCF-7 cells expressed mRNA transcripts for KCNQ1, KCNH1, KCNH2, KCNN4 and KCNMA1. We also demonstrated, for the first time, that MCF-7 cells expressed mRNA transcripts for the KATP channel KCNJ8. Western blotting confirmed that MCF-7 cells translate KCNH1 and KCNH2 mRNA into hEAG and hERG protein, subsequently referred to as K<sub>V</sub>10.1 and K<sub>V</sub>11.1, respectively (Figure 5B). K<sub>V</sub>10.1 protein in other cell types has previously been shown to be detected as two glycosylated forms at 130 kDa and 110 kDa (Napp et al. 2005). Our Western blotting results

confirmed the presence of the two glycosylated forms of  $K_V 10.1$  protein.  $K_V 11.1$  protein was detected as a predominant protein band at 155 kDa. Two other protein bands were also detected at ~110-120 kDa. In order to confirm the specificity of the  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_V 11.1$  antibodies, each antibody was pre-incubated with their respective control antigens prior to Western blotting. In the presence of the control antigens no protein was detected (Figure 5B; lanes 2 and 4, +P).

The contribution of each  $K^+$  channel identified in Figure 5 to the proliferation of MCF-7 cells was quantified by performing  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation assays in the presence of specific  $K^+$  channel blockers. The [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation assay quantifies the progression of cells through the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle and into S phase by measuring the amount of DNA synthesis occurring in the S phase. Glibenclamide (Glib) was used to block Kir6.1 (KCNJ8), chromanol 293B (293B) was used to block K<sub>v</sub>7.1 (KCNQ1), imipramine (Imip) and astemizole (Ast) were used to block K<sub>v</sub>10.1 (KCNH1), E-4031 and ERGtoxin were used to block  $K_v$ 11.1 (KCNH2), clotrimazole (Clt) and TRAM-34 (TRAM) were used to block K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 (KCNN4) and iberiotoxin (Ibx) was used to block K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1 (KCNMA1). Figure 6 shows the normalized data pooled from 3-11 experiments. Only astemizole, clotrimazole and TRAM-34 had consistent significant effects on proliferation. Astemizole (3  $\mu$ M, n = 11) decreased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation by ~50% compared to controls (P < 0.05). Clotrimazole (10  $\mu$ M, n = 6) and TRAM-34 (30  $\mu$ M, n = 4) also decreased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation by ~20% and ~80%, respectively (P < 0.05). The effect of imipramine was inconsistent between trials and imipramine (20  $\mu$ M, n = 9) only slightly decreased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation when averaged across all experiments (P = 0.22). This inconsistency was attributed to the

decreased potency of this drug as a K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel blocker as discussed in Roy *et al.* (2008). Glibenclamide (30  $\mu$ M, n = 4), chromanol 293B (100  $\mu$ M, n = 3), E-4031 (3  $\mu$ M, n = 5), ERGtoxin (300 nM, n = 3) and iberiotoxin (100 nM, n = 3) had no effect on [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation (P > 0.05). These results suggest that the activities of K<sub>v</sub>10.1 and K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels are involved in the basal proliferation of MCF-7 cells (Roy *et al.* 2008), corroborating previous suggestions (Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2001; Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2004b). In contrast, our results suggest that, in my experiments, K<sup>+</sup> channels Kir6.1, K<sub>v</sub>7.1, K<sub>v</sub>11.1 and K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1 are not involved in the basal proliferation of MCF-7 cells.

## 3.2 REGULATION OF KCNH1 mRNA EXPRESSION BY E2.

Estrogens are known to increase the proliferation of breast cancer cells via changes in gene expression. Our results demonstrate that K<sup>+</sup> channel activity contributes to the basal proliferation of MCF-7 cells (Figure 6). We therefore sought to identify whether E2 regulates the mRNA expression of these K<sup>+</sup> channels in MCF-7 cells. MCF-7 cells were treated with E2 (1  $\mu$ M) for 24 hr, after which the mRNA expression levels for KCNH1, KCNN4, KCNMA1 and KCNJ8 were analyzed using qPCR (Figure 7A). E2 treatment increased KCNH1 mRNA expression ~150% compared to controls (n = 3, P < 0.05). In contrast, E2 treatment had no significant effect on the mRNA expression of KCNN4, KCNMA1 and KCNJ8 (P > 0.05). We also analyzed the mRNA expression of two control genes (encoding cyclin D1 and VIPR1), which have previously been shown to be regulated by E2 in breast cancer cells (Madsen *et al.* 2000; Doisneau-Sixou *et al.* 2003) (Figure 7B). As expected, E2 treatment increased the mRNA expression of cyclin D1 by ~60% compared to controls, whereas E2 treatment decreased VIPR1 mRNA expression ~40% compared to controls (n = 3, P < 0.05). We also analyzed the expression of cyclin D1 by ~60% compared to controls (n = 3, P < 0.05). We also analyzed the expression of cyclin D1 by ~60% compared to controls, whereas E2 treatment decreased VIPR1 mRNA

of 18S rRNA between control and treatments. E2 treatment had no significant effect on 18S rRNA expression, which was ~105% compared to controls (n = 3, P > 0.05). Our results suggest that E2 selectively increases the expression of the pro-proliferative K<sup>+</sup> channel KCNH1. We next sought to investigate the regulation of KCNH1 mRNA expression by E2 in more detail by performing concentration-response and time-course experiments.

MCF-7 cells were treated with a range of E2 concentrations from 1 pM to 1  $\mu$ M for 24 hr. The results of the concentration-response experiment are shown in Figure 8A. An E2 concentration of 1 pM had no effect on KCNH1 mRNA expression (P > 0.05), whereas E2 concentrations from 10 pM to 1  $\mu$ M significantly increased KCNH1 mRNA expression (n = 4, P < 0.05). Plotting the data to a concentration-response curve yielded an EC<sub>50</sub> of 18.9 ± 28.5 pM and a maximum increase in KCNH1 expression of ~355% compared to controls. Our results suggest that KCNH1 mRNA expression is highly sensitive to E2 as changes in KCNH1 mRNA expression occurred at E2 concentrations as low as 10 pM. The greatest increase in KCNH1 mRNA expression was observed at 1 nM E2, therefore this concentration was used in time-course experiments.

MCF-7 cells were treated with E2 for 2, 6, 12, 18, and 24 hr and KCNH1 mRNA expression was measured using qPCR. The results of the time-course experiment are shown in Figure 8B. E2 (1 nM) treatment caused an increase in KCNH1 mRNA expression after 6, 12, 18 and 24 hr treatment (n = 4, P < 0.05). E2 treatment for 2 hr had no significant effect on KCNH1 mRNA expression. Therefore, E2 is able to increase KCNH1 mRNA expression within 6 hr of treatment and maintains a high level of KCNH1 mRNA expression up to 24 hr. Our concentration-response and time course

experiments suggest that KCNH1 mRNA expression may be an important genomic target for E2 in breast cancer cells. Since our [ $^{3}$ H]-thymidine incorporation results demonstrated that K<sub>v</sub>10.1 activity is important for the basal proliferation of MCF-7 cells (Figure 6) we next tested whether blocking the activity of K<sub>v</sub>10.1 would inhibit the mitogenic effect of E2.

# 3.3 K<sub>v</sub>10.1 AND K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 ACTIVITY IS IMPORTANT FOR BASAL CELL PROLIFERATION BUT NOT E2-STIMULATED PROLIFERATION

To test whether the activity of K<sub>v</sub>10.1 was important for E2-stimulated proliferation, MCF-7 cells were treated with E2 in the presence of K<sub>v</sub>10.1 channel blockers impramine and astemizole and DNA synthesis quantified using [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation. Figure 9 shows the average data from multiple experiments (n = 4-28). When averaged across all experiments E2 (1 nM) alone increased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation by ~60% compared to controls (P < 0.05, n = 28). Imipramine (20  $\mu$ M) alone had no statistically significant effect on  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation (Figure 6). In the presence of both imipramine and E2, E2 stimulated  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation by ~55% compared to imipramine alone (P < 0.05). Astemizole (3  $\mu$ M) alone decreased  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation by ~50% (P < 0.05; Figure 6), however, the decrease was reversed by the presence of E2, so that E2 was still able to increase [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation ~50% (P < 0.05).  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels were previously shown to contribute to basal MCF-7 proliferation (Figure 6), therefore we also wanted to test whether the activity of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 was important for E2-stimulated proliferation. Clotrimazole (10 µM) alone decreased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation by  $\sim 20\%$  (P < 0.05), however, similar to results using imipramine and astemizole, E2 was still able to stimulate [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation ~50% compared to clotrimazole alone (P < 0.05). The decrease in  $[^{3}H]$ -

thymidine incorporation by imipramine, astemizole and clotrimazole implicate  $K_v10.1$ and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels in constitutive pathways of cell growth regulation. However, in the presence of each specific channel blocker E2 was able to stimulate [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation, suggesting that the E2 response is still intact. The similar increases in [<sup>3</sup>H]thymidine incorporation seen with either E2 alone or E2 in the presence of imipramine, astemizole and clotrimazole (~50-60%) suggests that inhibition of  $K_v10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$ channel activity does not affect the ability of E2 to stimulate the proliferation of MCF-7 cells. Therefore, the activity of  $K_v10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels may play a role in basal cell proliferation, but appear to be non-essential for the stimulation of proliferation caused by E2.

TRAM-34, which is regarded as a more specific  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel blocker than clotrimazole, surprisingly gave quite different results (Figure 9). At 10  $\mu$ M (a lower concentration than used in Figure 6) TRAM-34 stimulated [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation ~50% compared to controls (P < 0.05). TRAM-34 also prevented E2 from stimulating [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation any further and there was no significant difference between TRAM-34 and TRAM-34 plus E2 (P > 0.6). Thus, the effect of TRAM-34 did not appear to be additive with E2. This result was in contrast to clotrimazole which inhibited proliferation and did not affect the E2 response. Therefore, it appears that the effect of TRAM-34 may be a result of acting in a similar way as E2 to stimulate MCF-7 proliferation and suggests a pathway common to both TRAM-34 and E2 that stimulates MCF-7 proliferation.

## 3.4 ER ANTAGONIST-SENSITIVE EFFECTS OF TRAM-34

Previous results demonstrated that TRAM-34 had different effects on proliferation depending on the concentration used. At 30 µM TRAM-34 decreased proliferation (Figure 6), whereas at 10 µM TRAM-34 significantly stimulated proliferation (Figure 9). To investigate these differences in  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation caused by TRAM-34 a concentration-response curve was constructed. Figure 10A shows the raw data from one representative [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiment and Figure 10B shows the combined normalized data from multiple experiments (n = 3-11). The results of the concentration-response experiment demonstrate that low concentrations of TRAM-34 (0.1-1  $\mu$ M) had no effect on [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation (P > 0.05). However, at concentrations (3-10  $\mu$ M) TRAM-34 increased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine intermediate incorporation  $\sim 40\%$  compared to controls (P < 0.05). In addition, at the highest concentrations tested (20-100 µM) TRAM-34 decreased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation ~45-80% compared to controls (P < 0.05). We also performed concentration-response experiments with clotrimazole to test whether the stimulatory effect was specific to TRAM-34. In contrast to TRAM-34, the effect of clotrimazole was monophasic and inhibited  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation at all concentrations > 10  $\mu$ M (Figure 11A; n = 3-4; P < 0.05).

In order to test whether the stimulatory effect of TRAM-34 may be via activation of ERs, two potent ER antagonists ICI182,780 (ICI) and tamoxifen were used in an attempt to block the stimulation of ERs by TRAM-34. ICI (1 nM) alone had no significant effect on [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation (P > 0.05) and, as expected, was able to inhibit an increase in [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation caused by 0.3 nM E2 (Figure 11B, P < 0.05). ICI (1 nM) also blocked the stimulatory effect of 3 and 10  $\mu$ M TRAM-34 (P < 0.05), and was able to unmask an anti-proliferative effect of TRAM-34 at 10  $\mu$ M (P < 0.05). As a result, the concentration-response of TRAM-34 in the presence of ICI now appeared monophasic and TRAM-34 only caused an inhibition in cell proliferation at concentrations > 10  $\mu$ M (Figure 10B), mimicking that of clotrimazole (Figure 11A). The stimulatory effect of 10  $\mu$ M TRAM-34 was also inhibited by the selective ER modulator tamoxifen (Figure 11C; n = 3). Tamoxifen alone increased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation (P < 0.05), probably due to its activity as a partial agonist, but inhibited the stimulatory effect of 10  $\mu$ M TRAM-34 (P < 0.05), also unmasking an anti-proliferative effect when compared to tamoxifen alone (P < 0.05).

Cell counting experiments were also performed to confirm the key results from [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiments. Figure 11D shows the combined data from 3 separate cell counting experiments. As a positive control, E2 (0.3 nM) significantly increased the number of cells compared to controls (P < 0.05). TRAM-34 (10  $\mu$ M) also significantly increased the number of cells compared to controls (P < 0.05), whereas TRAM-34 at 20  $\mu$ M had no effect (P > 0.05). The stimulatory effect of 10  $\mu$ M TRAM-34 was consistent with [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiments previously shown (Figure 10). ICI (1 nM) alone had no effect on cell number (P > 0.05) and was able to block the stimulatory effects of both E2 and 10  $\mu$ M TRAM-34 (P < 0.05). Thus cell counting experiments confirm our findings using [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation and provides further evidence that the stimulatory effect of TRAM-34 is sensitive to ER antagonists, suggesting that TRAM-34 is able to activate the ER to stimulate proliferation.

To confirm that the decreases in  $[{}^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation and cell number caused by K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel blockers were not due to cytotoxicity, cell viability assays using the Trypan blue exclusion protocol were performed. Figure 11E shows the combined data from 4 independent Trypan blue exclusion assays. The percentage of viable cells in the control wells were ~90%. The percentage of viable cells treated with vehicle (0.7% DMSO) was also ~90% and was not significantly different compared to controls (P > 0.05). Likewise, neither clotrimazole nor TRAM-34 had any significant effect on cell viability. The percentage of viable cells treated with an effective concentration of clotrimazole (10  $\mu$ M) was ~90% (P > 0.05) and the percentage of viable cells treated of viable cells treated with an effective concentration of clotrimazole (10  $\mu$ M) was ~90% (P > 0.05) and the percentage of viable cells treated with a range of TRAM-34 concentrations (3-100  $\mu$ M) was ~80-90% and was not significantly different compared to controls (P > 0.05).

# 3.5 TRAM-34 MIMICS THE EFFECTS OF E2 ON GENE EXPRESSION IN MCF-7 CELLS

Estrogen activation of ERs leads to well-described effects on gene expression in many different cells in addition to stimulation of cell proliferation. Two hallmark effects on mRNA expression in MCF-7 cells are the up-regulation of PR mRNA expression and the down-regulation of ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression (Ree *et al.* 1989). Using qPCR the levels of PR and ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression were measured after treatment with TRAM-34 (10  $\mu$ M) or E2 (1 nM) for 24 hr. Figure 12 shows the combined normalized PR/HPRT (Figure 12A) and ER- $\alpha$ /HPRT (Figure 12B) ratios from 4 independent qPCR experiments. As expected, E2 (1 nM) treatment increased PR mRNA expression ~250% (P < 0.05) and decreased ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression ~60% (P < 0.05). Mimicking these effects of E2, TRAM-34 (10  $\mu$ M) increased PR mRNA expression ~100% (P < 0.05) and decreased ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression ~60% (P < 0.05). Mimicking these effects of E2, TRAM-34 (10  $\mu$ M) increased PR mRNA expression ~100% (P < 0.05) and decreased ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression ~60% (P < 0.05). Mimicking these effects of E2, TRAM-34 (10  $\mu$ M) increased PR mRNA expression ~100% (P < 0.05) and decreased ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression ~60% (P < 0.05). Mimicking these effects of E2, TRAM-34 (10  $\mu$ M) increased PR mRNA expression ~100% (P < 0.05) and decreased ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression ~100% (P < 0.05) and decreased ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression ~100% (P < 0.05) and decreased ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression ~100% (P < 0.05) and decreased ER- $\alpha$  mRNA ~50% (P < 0.05). These effects of TRAM-34 were also sensitive to the ER antagonist ICI. ICI (1 nM) alone had no significant effects on PR or ER- $\alpha$ 

mRNA expression (P > 0.05). ICI completely blocked the increase in PR mRNA expression caused by TRAM-34 (Figure 12A; P < 0.05), however it only partially blocked the decrease in ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression (Figure 12B). Clotrimazole (10  $\mu$ M) caused a small but significant increase in PR mRNA expression of ~23% (P < 0.05) and had no effect on ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression (P > 0.05). Semi-quantitative RT-PCR experiments also demonstrated similar effects of TRAM-34 on ER- $\alpha$  and PR mRNA expression (data not shown; (Roy *et al.* 2010)). These results demonstrate that TRAM-34 can mimic cell growth-independent effects of E2, by increasing PR mRNA expression and decreasing ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression, suggesting that TRAM-34 may be activating ERs. In addition, activation of ERs appears to be more sensitive to TRAM-34 as similar concentrations of clotrimazole only weakly mimicked the effect of E2. These results suggest that TRAM-34 is able to activate the ERs more potently than clotrimazole.

### 3.6 DIRECT INTERACTION OF TRAM-34 WITH THE ER

Our results suggest that TRAM-34 can activate ERs to cause downstream changes in gene expression and increases in cell proliferation. To study the direct binding of TRAM-34 to the ERs, competitive ligand binding studies were performed. Figure 13 shows the combined normalized data from 1-4 independent competitive ligand binding assays where the data is expressed as a percentage of [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 bound to MCF-7 ER protein in the presence of vehicle controls (DMSO 0.7%). As expected, unlabelled E2 (10 nM) reduced the specific binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 to MCF-7 ER protein by ~50% compared to vehicle control (P < 0.05, n = 4). TRAM-34 (1-100  $\mu$ M) also reduced the specific binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 to MCF-7 ER protein compared to vehicle control (P < 0.05, n = 3). Lower concentrations of TRAM-34 did not reduce the amount of bound [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 (P > 0.05, n = 1). Fitting the data to a one-site competitive ligand binding curve yielded an IC<sub>50</sub> of 1.51  $\pm$  1.4 µM. Therefore, at concentrations similar to those that increase cell proliferation (3-10 µM) TRAM-34 is able to interact directly with ERs. Surprisingly, clotrimazole gave similar results to TRAM-34. Thus, at 100 µM clotrimazole reduced the amount of bound [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 by ~65% compared to vehicle control (P < 0.05). Therefore, clotrimazole appears also able to bind directly to ERs, however it does not appear to be able to cause downstream effects on gene expression and increases in cell proliferation. Furthermore, our results suggest that the binding site of TRAM-34 and clotrimazole on the ER is at or near to the estrogen-binding site as these competitors interfered directly with [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 binding.

We also wanted to know whether TRAM-34 could bind directly to ERs from other human mammary adenocarcinoma cell lines. MDA-MB-231 and T47D cell lysate was a generous gift from Dr. Jonathan Blay (Departments of Pharmacology, Biology and Pathology, Dalhousie University). MDA-MB-231 cells, a cell line classified with a highly invasive phenotype, demonstrated no specific [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 binding and thus were deemed ERnegative. T47D cells showed a specific [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 binding ~40% of that of MCF-7 cells, and thus had lower ER protein. TRAM-34 (100  $\mu$ M) caused a highly variable displacement of [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 with T47D ER protein in different trials. When averaged across multiple trials TRAM-34 (100  $\mu$ M) decreased the amount of [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 bound to T47D ER protein to 76.0 ± 14.6 % compared to vehicle control (n = 12). We believe that the highly variable results can be attributed to the lower yield of ER protein in these cells. Nevertheless, these results suggest that TRAM-34 has the ability to bind to ER protein taken from at least two different human mammary adenocarcinoma cell lines.

# 3.7 $K_{Ca}$ 3.1, BUT NOT $K_{V}$ 10.1 CHANNEL INHIBITION LEADS TO REDUCED BASAL <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> INFLUX

Our results suggested that K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 and K<sub>v</sub>10.1 channel activity contributed to basal MCF-7 cell proliferation (Figure 6). How does  $K^+$  channel activity contribute to cell proliferation? K<sup>+</sup> channel activity is important for regulating the electrochemical gradient for Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx into cancer cells (Nilius et al. 1993). Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx generates Ca<sup>2+</sup> signals that have been shown to contribute to cancer cell growth (Schreiber 2005; Sergeev 2005; Lee et al. 2006; Capiod et al. 2007; Monteith et al. 2007). We hypothesized that in MCF-7 cells the activities of  $K_v 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca} 3.1$  control the electrochemical gradient for basal  $Ca^{2+}$  influx. Therefore we predicted that  $K_v 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca} 3.1$  channel inhibition should lead to a sustained decrease in Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx under basal conditions. In order to test our hypothesis we measured basal  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, using a radioactive isotope of  $Ca^{2+}$  ( $^{45}Ca^{2+}$ ) as a marker for  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, in the presence of K<sup>+</sup> channel modulators. First we established the basal Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry over 60 min in MCF-7 cells (Figure 14A). <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx increased from 0 to 30 min and appeared to plateau from 30 to 60 min (n = 8). For all subsequent  ${}^{45}\text{Ca}^{2+}$  influx experiments the amount of  ${}^{45}\text{Ca}^{2+}$  in the cell was measured after 60 min, as results at this time point gave the least amount of deviation between technical replicates and were the most consistent between biological replicates. K<sub>v</sub>10.1 channel inhibition, using astemizole over a range of concentrations  $(0.1 - 30 \mu M)$ , had no significant effect on basal  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx (Figure 14B, n = 6). In contrast, K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel inhibition using TRAM-34 caused concentration-dependent decrease in basal  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx (P < 0.05, n = 4; Figure 14C). We also tested the effects of clotrimazole, EBIO (K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel opener) and chromanol 293B ( $K_v$ 7.1 channel blocker) on Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (Figure 14D). Clotrimazole (100  $\mu$ M) decreased <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (P < 0.05, n = 3), mimicking the effect of TRAM-34.

Surprisingly, EBIO (100  $\mu$ M) had no significant effect on <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (P > 0.05, n = 3). Chromanol 293B (100  $\mu$ M), which had no effect on MCF-7 cell proliferation (Figure 6), also had no significant effect on <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (P > 0.05, n = 3). As a control, concentration-response experiments with the vehicle DMSO were performed. As shown in Figure 14E, DMSO concentrations as high as 1% (<sup>V</sup>/<sub>v</sub>) had no significant effect on <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (P > 0.05, n = 4). Therefore, under basal conditions our results suggest that K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 but not K<sub>v</sub>10.1 or K<sub>v</sub>7.1 channel activity regulates Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in MCF-7 cells.

K<sup>+</sup> channel activity is expected to contribute to the electrochemical gradient for  $Ca^{2+}$  influx through regulation of the membrane potential. We hypothesized that  $K_{Ca}3.1$ channel inhibition should lead to a reduction in  $Ca^{2+}$  influx via a depolarization of the membrane potential. If this is the case, we predict that the effects of TRAM-34 on  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$ influx should be dependent on the membrane potential. To test this, we depolarized the membrane potential using high extracellular  $[K^+]$  (40 mM). Under these conditions we predicted that the effect of TRAM-34 on <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx would be diminished because the membrane potential would already be depolarized. Figure 15A shows the combined normalized data from 4 independent experiments. Raising the external [K<sup>+</sup>] to 40 mM had no significant effect on  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx (P > 0.05). TRAM-34 (30  $\mu$ M) decreased  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$ influx to 57.5  $\pm$  4.2% compared to controls (P < 0.05). In the presence of 40 mM external K<sup>+</sup> TRAM-34 had a much smaller effect on  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx, only decreasing it to 73.1 ± 1.8% compared to controls (P < 0.05). Comparing the mean difference between controls and TRAM-34 alone (42.5  $\pm$  6.3% decrease in  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx), and the mean difference between external [K<sup>+</sup>] (40 mM) alone and external [K<sup>+</sup>] (40 mM) plus TRAM-34 (30.8  $\pm$ 3.61% decrease in  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx) demonstrated that raising the external [K<sup>+</sup>] to 40 mM diminished the effect of TRAM-34 by ~12% (P < 0.05). Because raising the external [K<sup>+</sup>], by the addition of KCl to the culture medium, would also lead to an increase in external osmolarity, we tested whether the diminished effect of TRAM-34 caused by the additional external [K<sup>+</sup>] was caused by changes in external osmolarity. To do this we added mannitol (80 mM) to the culture medium in the absence and presence of TRAM-34 (30  $\mu$ M). Figure 15B shows the combined normalized data from 4 independent experiments. Mannitol (80 mM) had no significant effect on <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in the absence or presence of TRAM-34 (P > 0.05). These results demonstrate that the effect of TRAM-34 on Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx can be partially diminished by depolarizing the resting membrane potential using K<sup>+</sup>. Therefore, K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity appears to regulate Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in a resting membrane potential-dependent manner. This suggests a plausible mechanism by which K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity may regulate basal Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, which in turn contributes to cell proliferation in MCF-7 cells.

# 3.8 TRPM8 IS A Ca<sup>2+</sup> INFLUX PATHWAY IN MCF-7 CELLS

Numerous Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx pathways have been described in MCF-7 cells, including T-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and members of the TRP channel super family (El Hiani *et al.* 2006; Taylor *et al.* 2008a; Bolanz *et al.* 2009; Guilbert *et al.* 2009). A screen of total MCF-7 cell RNA revealed the expression of numerous genes of the TRP channel super family (unpublished data of (Copeland *et al.* 2010)). TRPM8 is a member of the 'melastatin' subfamily of TRP channels (Clapham *et al.* 2005). TRPM8 has previously been shown to be expressed in numerous tissues including the prostate, liver, and sensory neurons (Peier *et al.* 2002; Fonfria *et al.* 2006). As shown in Figure 16, MCF-7 cells express mRNA for TRPM8. For TRPM8 (NM024080.4) PCR primers amplified a 115 bp

amplicon in both MCF-7 cells and LnCAP cells (positive control). TRPM8 PCR amplicon was extracted from the gel and sequenced confirming the correct predicted sequence was amplified (data not shown). TRPM8 has previously been shown to be important for cell proliferation in other cancer cell types, including those from skin, pancreas and prostate (Thebault et al. 2005; Yamamura et al. 2008; Yee et al. 2010), therefore we were interested in investigating the functional significance of this channel in MCF-7 cells. First, to confirm that TRPM8 is a functional Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx pathway in the plasma membrane of MCF-7 cells, we investigated the effect of TRPM8 channel modulation on Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (Figure 17). BCTC, a known TRPM8 inhibitor (Behrendt et al. 2004), decreased <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx at concentrations 10-30  $\mu$ M (P < 0.05, n = 4; Figure 17A). BCTC has previously been shown to inhibit not only TRPM8, but also TRPV1 channel current (Behrendt et al. 2004), therefore we also tested a more specific TRPV1 inhibitor (capsezapine) and a TRPV1 activator (piperine) on Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in MCF-7 cells. Capsezapine (30  $\mu$ M) had no significant effect on  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx, whereas piperine (100  $\mu$ M) only slightly decreased <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx to ~88% compared to controls (P< 0.05, n = 3, Figure 17B). MCF-7 cells also do not appear to express mRNA transcripts for the TRPV1 channel (data not shown). TRPM8 can be selectively activated by the cooling agents icilin and menthol (Behrendt et al. 2004). As shown in Figure 17C, icilin (10 µM) increased  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx ~40% compared to controls (P < 0.05, n = 4). To test the specificity of icilin we tested whether the stimulatory effect of icilin could, in turn be inhibited by BCTC. BCTC (30  $\mu$ M) alone decreased <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and also inhibited the effect of icilin, thus the amount of  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx in the presence of icilin and BCTC was ~85% compared to controls (P < 0.05, n = 4; Figure 17C). These results suggest that MCF-7 cells express functional TRPM8 channels that are involved in  $Ca^{2+}$  influx across the plasma membrane. In addition, the activity of TRPM8 channels can be pharmacologically manipulated to increase or decrease  $Ca^{2+}$  influx into MCF-7 cells.

# 3.9 BCTC AND ICILIN INHIBIT [<sup>3</sup>H]-THYMIDINE INCORPORATION

Numerous  $Ca^{2+}$  channels have been shown to be important in regulating MCF-7 cell proliferation (Taylor et al. 2008a; Bolanz et al. 2009; El Hiani et al. 2009a; El Hiani et al. 2009b; Guilbert et al. 2009). Our results demonstrate that TRPM8 is a functional  $Ca^{2+}$  channel expressed by MCF-7 cells. We therefore sought to investigate whether TRPM8 activity also contributes to MCF-7 cell proliferation. This was first assessed by performing [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation assays in the presence of the TRPM8 inhibitor BCTC and activator icilin (Figure 18). Surprisingly, both BCTC (3-30 µM; Figure 18A) and icilin (3-100  $\mu$ M; Figure 18B) significantly decreased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation (P < 0.05, n = 3-6). At the highest concentrations tested both BCTC (30 µM) and icilin (100  $\mu$ M) decreased [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation by ~95 % compared to controls (P < 0.05). These results suggest that both BCTC and icilin are inhibitors of cell proliferation. However, BCTC and icilin had opposite effects on Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, whereby BCTC decreased and icilin increased  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx (Figure 17). It was therefore hard to reconcile  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$ uptake and [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiments. Furthermore, both BCTC and icilin inhibited [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation almost completely (~95%), suggesting that every treated cell had completely ceased progression through S phase. However, when visually inspecting the cells there appeared to be only slightly fewer cells after BCTC treatment and no visible change in cells after icilin treatment, when compared to their controls. In order for [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation assays to be used as an accurate

measure of progression through S phase of the cell cycle the  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine applied to the outside of the cell must be readily transported into the cell by nucleoside transporters. We therefore investigated whether BCTC and icilin might be acting as nucleoside transporter inhibitors in MCF-7 cells.

# 3.10 EFFECT OF TRPM8 MODULATION ON [<sup>3</sup>H]-THYMIDINE TRANSPORT

[<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake experiments were performed in order to test the effects of BCTC and icilin on plasma membrane nucleoside transport in MCF-7 cells. Our preliminary data demonstrated that MCF-7 cells take up [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine at a constant rate over 10 min (Figure 19A). For all subsequent experiments the amount of [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake into MCF-7 cells was assayed after a 10 min incubation in 1  $\mu$ Ci [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine. Figure 19 shows the combined normalized data from 5 experiments. Both BCTC (Figure 19B) and icilin (Figure 19C) inhibited [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake in MCF-7 cells in a concentration-dependent manner. These results suggest that BCTC and icilin are indeed nucleoside uptake inhibitors at concentrations used in [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiments, therefore [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation assays are not appropriate to investigate the effects of BCTC and icilin on cell proliferation. For this reason we instead used cell counting in all subsequent experiments to investigate the functional significance of TRPM8 channel activity in MCF-7 cell proliferation.

## 3.11 TRPM8 CONTRIBUTES TO BASAL MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION

Cell counting experiments were performed in order to quantify the effects of BCTC and icilin on MCF-7 cell proliferation. MCF-7 cells were treated for 72 hr with increasing concentrations of BCTC (1-30  $\mu$ M) and icilin (0.1-30  $\mu$ M). BCTC at concentrations > 10  $\mu$ M decreased the number of cells (n = 3-8; P < 0.05; Figure 20A).

Since BCTC also inhibited [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake in MCF-7 cells we tested whether the specific nucleoside inhibitor NBTI would have any effect on cell proliferation. At 1  $\mu$ M NBTI had no statistically significant effect on cell proliferation (n = 3; P > 0.05; Figure 20A). The TRPM8 activator icilin also had no statistically significant effect on cell number, however there appeared to be a trend to stimulate cell proliferation at low (0.3  $\mu$ M, 121 ± 5%, compared to control) concentrations and inhibit cell proliferation at high (30  $\mu$ M, 84 ± 6%, compared to control) concentrations (n = 4-10; Figure 20B). These results suggest that inhibiting TRPM8 activity with BCTC (10-30  $\mu$ M) inhibits cell proliferation. However, activation of TRPM8 with icilin is unable to significantly stimulate proliferation. The lack of effect of NBTI on cell proliferation further suggests that BCTC is not acting via inhibition of TRPM8 channels.

To confirm the direct involvement of TRPM8 channels in MCF-7 cell proliferation we next used siRNA technology to reduce TRPM8 channel expression. MCF-7 cells were seeded at a density of 5 x  $10^4$  cells/well and transfected with two siRNA sequences targeted to TRPM8 mRNA for 4 days. To show effective knockdown of TRPM8 protein abundance total cell lysate was collected following siRNA treatments and 30 µg of total cell protein was loaded on a 7.5% SDS-PAGE gel. Figure 21A demonstrates a representative Western blot of the levels of TRPM8 and β-actin protein following immunoblotting with TRPM8 and β-actin specific primary antibodies after siRNA transfection. TRPM8 antibody detected a predominant protein band at ~128 kDa, as previously described for this same antibody (Tsavaler *et al.* 2001; Thebault *et al.* 2005). β-actin was detected as a single protein band 45 kDa in size. Quantity One®

software (Bio-Rad) was used to quantify the relative abundance of TRPM8 and  $\beta$ -actin protein in each sample. The relative abundance of TRPM8 channel protein in each sample was divided by the corresponding relative abundance of  $\beta$ -actin and the TRPM8/β-actin ratio expressed as a percentage of control. Figure 21B demonstrates the average TRPM8 protein abundance from multiple siRNA experiments (n = 3). Treatment with a commercially available negative siRNA sequence (Neg. siRNA) had no statistically significant effect on TRPM8 protein abundance (P > 0.05), however treatment with two siRNA sequences, TRPM8 #1 and TRPM8 #2, targeted to TRPM8 mRNA reduced TRPM8 protein abundance by  $\sim$ 55 and  $\sim$ 85 %, respectively (P < 0.05; Figure 22B). Transfection reagent alone (siPORT) had no statistically significant effect on TRPM8 protein abundance (data not shown). These results demonstrate that siRNA transfection using TRPM8 specific siRNA sequences is an effective way to reduce TRPM8 protein abundance. We next measured the effect of TRPM8 siRNA treatment on MCF-7 cell proliferation. As shown in Figure 22A, the number of MCF-7 cells counted, following transfection with TRPM8 #1 and TRPM8 #2 siRNA sequences, was reduced compared to control (n = 3; P < 0.05). Negative siRNA and siPORT had no effect on the number of MCF-7 cells (P > 0.05). The number of MCF-7 cells was converted to a percentage of cell growth after 4 days in culture (Figure 22B). Under control conditions MCF-7 cells grew  $\sim 27\%$  after an initial seeding of 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/well. Cells treated with either a negative siRNA sequence or siPORT grew ~25% and ~23% respectively, and this was not significantly different than controls (P > 0.05). In contrast, MCF-7 cells treated with TRPM8 #1 and TRPM8 #2 siRNA sequences grew only ~9% and ~13%, respectively (n = 3; P < 0.05). These results demonstrate that knockdown of TRPM8

channel expression using siRNA results in a decrease in MCF-7 cell number after 4 days in culture.

#### **CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION**

In order to develop novel and more effective treatments for breast cancer, it is important to understand the mechanisms underlying their malignant phenotypes. By acquiring the abilities to be self-sufficient in growth signals and insensitive to anti-growth signals breast cancer cells evade the normal regulation of the cell cycle and ultimately develop an uncontrolled cell proliferation phenotype. As a result, some of the current chemotherapies against breast cancer, such as paclitaxel, fluorouracil, gemcitabine, and tamoxifen, work partially by inhibiting uncontrolled cell proliferation. The majority of breast cancers originate from the malignant transformation of mammary epithelial cells lining the TDLU (Weigelt et al. 2009). One of the main physiological functions of normal mammary epithelial cells is to facilitate the movement of ions and fluid from the blood into the milk by transepithelial transport, which is mediated by ion channels and transporters in the plasma membrane. The activities of specific ion channel types have been suggested to contribute to the six hallmark malignant phenotypes (Prevarskaya et al. 2010). They can contribute to cancer by (1) providing an aberrant function in transformed cells, where they were originally important for some physiological function of the cells prior to transformation or (2) being aberrantly expressed as a result of malignant transformation and imparting an advantage to transformed cells over normal cells. In addition to their possible normal physiological function, my results suggest that certain ion channels of the K<sup>+</sup> and TRP channel families may also contribute to the uncontrolled cell proliferation phenotype of breast cancer cells. Pharmacologically inhibiting the activities of  $K_V 10.1$ , which is aberrantly expressed, and  $K_{Ca}3.1$ , which is expressed in the normal mammary epithelium, reduces the proliferation of MCF-7 cells, a cell line model

widely used to study breast cancer in vitro. Understanding the mechanism of K<sup>+</sup> channeldependent cell proliferation is an area of intensive research. In this regard, the activity of  $K_{Ca}$ 3.1, but not  $K_V$ 10.1, regulates basal Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in MCF-7 cells. This suggests that the activity of certain  $K^+$  channels may regulate  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling to control cell proliferation. Further investigation demonstrated that TRPM8 may function as a  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathway in these cells. Thus, pharmacological activators or inhibitors of channel activity increase or decrease  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, respectively. In addition, I found that pharmacologically inhibiting TRPM8 function, as well as knocking down TRPM8 mRNA expression also slows the proliferation of MCF-7 cells. The following chapter will begin with a discussion regarding the expression of K<sup>+</sup> channels in MCF-7 cells and their contribution to proliferation, then discuss the expression and contribution of TRPM8 channels to MCF-7 cell proliferation. This will be followed by a discussion of the possible mechanisms by which  $K^+$  channels control MCF-7 cell proliferation and a hypothesized model for the contribution of  $K^+$  and  $Ca^{2+}$  channels to cell proliferation. A discussion of these results in the context of breast cancer and the treatment of the disease will complete this section.

# 4.1 K<sup>+</sup> CHANNELS EXPRESSED IN MCF-7 CELLS

The activity of certain  $K^+$  channel types has been shown to contribute to the proliferation of many types of cancer cells (Pardo 2004; Kunzelmann 2005; Prevarskaya *et al.* 2010), including breast cancer cells (Woodfork *et al.* 1995; Klimatcheva *et al.* 1999; Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2000; Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2001; Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2009; Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2001; Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2004b). The mRNA expression of six potentially pro-proliferative K<sup>+</sup> channels (K<sub>V</sub>10.1, K<sub>V</sub>11.1, K<sub>V</sub>7.1, K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1, K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1, K<sub>ir</sub>6.1) were identified in MCF-7 cells using RT-PCR. Some of these K<sup>+</sup> channels may be present in MCF-7 cells as remnants of the

normal physiological function of the normal mammary epithelial cells from which they are derived or they may be aberrantly expressed because these cells are transformed. For example, previous research has shown that K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 and K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1 channels are found in normal mammary epithelial cells where they have been suggested to be important for mammary gland function (Roger et al. 2004; Thompson-Vest et al. 2006). K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 is expressed in many different epithelial cell types, where its activity has been implicated in numerous physiological processes, including cell volume regulation, cell proliferation and transepithelial transport (Devor et al. 1999; Ghanshani et al. 2000; Wulff et al. 2000; Cowley et al. 2002; Thompson-Vest et al. 2006; Flores et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2007a; Toyama et al. 2008). Although speculative, in normal mammary epithelial cells K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity may contribute to any one of the previously mentioned cell physiological processes and therefore play a significant role in the normal physiological function of the mammary gland. In distal tubules of the nephron K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1 channel activity has been implicated in flow-dependent K<sup>+</sup> secretion (Gurkan et al. 2007). It is possible that K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1 channels perform an analogous function in normal mammary epithelia to secrete K<sup>+</sup> into milk. K<sub>V</sub>7.1, similar to K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1, channels are routinely found expressed in many different epithelia (Dedek et al. 2001; Cowley et al. 2002; Jespersen et al. 2005; Peroz et al. 2008) but it remains to be determined whether they are expressed in the normal mammary epithelium. However, recent research has demonstrated that  $K_V7.1$ channels are apically localized in polarized MCF-7 cell monolayers and that they contribute to the RVD response, therefore  $K_V7.1$  channels may also represent another  $K^+$ channel whose activity contributes to the normal function of the mammary gland (vanTol et al. 2007). To my knowledge I have provided the first evidence that the KATP channel,

 $K_{ir}6.1$ , is expressed in mammary epithelial cells. In pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells  $K_{ATP}$  channels couple glucose metabolism to the electrical activity of the cell (Miki *et al.* 1999; Ashcroft 2005; Smith *et al.* 2007), therefore it is possible that  $K_{ir}6.1$  channels perform a similar function in mammary epithelia. However, it remains to be determined whether this channel is present in the normal mammary epithelium or whether it is aberrantly expressed in breast cancer. Therefore,  $K_{Ca}3.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}1.1$ ,  $K_V7.1$  and  $K_{ir}6.1$  channels may contribute to the normal physiological function of the mammary gland.

Both  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_V 11.1$  appear to be aberrantly expressed in breast cancer cells as no or undetectable expression was observed in normal mammary epithelial cells (Bianchi *et al.* 1998; Hemmerlein *et al.* 2006). Therefore, it can be suggested that the expression of  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_V 11.1$  channels in MCF-7 cells is a result of the malignant transformation of these cells. This may not be surprising since these channels have frequently been found to be aberrantly expressed in other cancers (Bianchi *et al.* 1998; Cherubini *et al.* 2000; Farias *et al.* 2004; Hemmerlein *et al.* 2006). Interestingly, these channels are more typically associated with excitable cells, such as cardiomyocytes and neurons, than in non-excitable cells, such as epithelial cells. Furthermore, since these channels appear to be absent from normal mammary epithelial cells they also represent possible targets for the detection and treatment of breast cancers *in vivo*. For example, it has been shown that fluorescently-labelled antibodies against  $K_V 10.1$  channels can be used successfully to detect  $K_V 10.1$ -expressing tumours in live mice using molecular imaging (Pardo *et al.* 2005; Stuhmer *et al.* 2006).

## 4.1.1 K<sup>+</sup> CHANNEL ACTIVITY AND MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION

Numerous different ion channel types have been shown to contribute to the proliferation of cancer cells (see Section 1.7). The  $K^+$  channels  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca} 3.1$ , but not K<sub>V</sub>11.1, K<sub>V</sub>7.1, K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1 or K<sub>ir</sub>6.1 contribute to the basal proliferation of MCF-7 cells (see Section 3.1). This observation is based on the fact that pharmacological agents that block the channel activity of K<sub>V</sub>10.1 [astemizole (3 µM)] and K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 [TRAM-34 (30 µM) and clotrimazole (10  $\mu$ M)] inhibit [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation in MCF-7 cells, whereas pharmacological agents that block K<sub>V</sub>11.1, K<sub>V</sub>7.1, K<sub>Ca</sub>1.1 and K<sub>ir</sub>6.1 had no effect. In general, these results are in agreement with other reports in the literature. For example, it has been demonstrated previously that pharmacological inhibition of K<sub>V</sub>10.1 and K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity with the same agents reduced the basal proliferation of numerous cancer cell types (Jager et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2007a; Wang et al. 2007b), including MCF-7 cells (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2001; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b; Garcia-Becerra et al. 2010). However, in contrast to Woodfork et al. (1995) I did not observe any effect of glibenclamide (30 µM) on MCF-7 cell proliferation. In their paper they observed a decrease in MCF-7 cell proliferation following 3 days of glibenclamide treatment and analysis of their concentration-response curve would suggest that 30 µM glibenclamide should yield an ~75% decrease in cell proliferation compared to control cells. At this time it is unclear why I did not also observe an anti-proliferative effect of glibenclamide, however one possible explanation is the different culture conditions used. In my study <sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiments were performed in phenol red-free media containing 5% DCC-FBS, whereas in the Woodfork et al. (1995) study phenol redcontaining media with no serum were used. It is possible that there is something in the model used, such as a specific growth factor or the serum itself, which is able to occlude

the anti-proliferative effects of glibenclamide. I also tested a higher concentration of glibenclamide (100  $\mu$ M); however at this concentration glibenclamide was visibly cytotoxic after 36 hr in culture (data not shown). These results, in contrast to those presented by Woodfork *et al.* (1995), suggest that the ATP-sensitive channel K<sub>ir</sub>6.1 does not contribute to basal MCF-7 cell proliferation.

The [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiments presented here were designed to measure progression through  $G_1$  and into the S phase of the cell cycle. Therefore, my results also suggest that  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activities are important for  $G_1$  phase progression. This is in agreement with another report that suggests  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activities contribute to early and late  $G_1$  phase progression, respectively in MCF-7 cells (Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* 2004b).

In my study pharmacological agents were used to test whether the activity of certain K<sup>+</sup> channels contribute to MCF-7 cell proliferation. In most cases the IC<sub>50</sub> for the pharmacological agents used were within the nanomolar concentration range when used acutely to inhibit channel activity, for example the IC<sub>50</sub> to inhibit K<sub>v</sub>10.1 channel activity by astemizole is ~200 nM (Garcia-Ferreiro *et al.* 2004). However, the concentrations used in this study to effectively inhibit cell proliferation were on average a thousand times greater than the IC<sub>50</sub> for channel inhibition and were in the micromolar concentration range, for example at 3  $\mu$ M astemizole inhibited cell proliferation by ~55%. As discussed by Wonderlin and Strobl (1996) there are numerous factors that could increase the IC<sub>50</sub> for proliferation, compared to the IC<sub>50</sub> for channel current inhibition. First, they suggest that serum could potentially bind the antagonist, thereby reducing the amount of free antagonist able to bind to the channel. Second, the antagonist

could be metabolized by the cells to reduce its effective concentration during long term treatment of cells growing in culture. Third, if two or more K<sup>+</sup> channels control cell proliferation, and have redundant cellular functions, blocking only one channel might allow the other channels to partially compensate and allow cell proliferation to continue. Fourth, if the block of channel current by the antagonist is voltage-dependent, then the published IC<sub>50</sub> may have been determined at a membrane potential that is different than the membrane potential of the cells being examined. Fifth, the spare receptor theory might also explain the differences in IC<sub>50</sub>s observed. The spare receptor theory suggests that there may be many K<sup>+</sup> channel proteins, of one particular type that controls cell proliferation, present in the plasma membrane, but only a small fraction of these specific K<sup>+</sup> channels are required to allow cell proliferation to continue. Therefore, the antagonist might have to inhibit more than 50% of the channels to produce 50% cell proliferation inhibition. Thus, the size of the  $K^+$  channel reserve (i.e. the density of pro-proliferative  $K^+$ channels in the membrane) might determine the IC<sub>50</sub> for inhibition of cell proliferation, relative to the IC<sub>50</sub> for channel current inhibition. Any one, or a combination of these factors, could contribute to the high  $IC_{50}$ s for inhibition of cell proliferation observed. Nevertheless, the effective concentrations of K<sup>+</sup> channel antagonists determined in this study for inhibition of cell proliferation were similar to those previously reported by others (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2001; Gavrilova-Ruch et al. 2002; Jager et al. 2004; Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b; Wang et al. 2007a; Wang et al. 2007b). In addition, results obtained from knockdown of gene expression using siRNA technology have, in most cases, confirmed the contribution of a particular K<sup>+</sup> channel in cancer cell

proliferation (Weber *et al.* 2006; Spitzner *et al.* 2007; Wang *et al.* 2007b; Spitzner *et al.* 2008), validating the use of  $K^+$  channel blockers in cell proliferation assays.

In a recent report we addressed the issue of the non-specific action of astemizole (Roy *et al.* 2008), which has been shown to inhibit the activities of both  $K_V 10.1$  and K<sub>V</sub>11.1 channels (Salata et al. 1995; Garcia-Ferreiro et al. 2004). In cells that express the mRNA for both K<sub>V</sub>10.1 and K<sub>V</sub>11.1, such as MCF-7 cells, the anti-proliferative effect of astemizole cannot be attributed to the inhibition of a single channel. We concluded that in MCF-7 cells astemizely appeared to inhibit cell proliferation via inhibition of the activity of  $K_{\rm V}10.1$  channels. This conclusion was based on the fact that astemizole (3  $\mu$ M) inhibited cell proliferation by  $\sim$ 50%, whereas the more specific K<sub>V</sub>11.1 channel inhibitor E-4031 had no effect on cell proliferation, even at micromolar concentrations. Although  $K_{V}$ 11.1 channels appear to contribute to cell proliferation in other cell types (Smith *et al.* 2002; Crociani et al. 2003; Suzuki et al. 2004; Li et al. 2007; Lin et al. 2007), it is unclear why they do not contribute to MCF-7 cell proliferation. One possibility is that the cellular function of  $K_V 11.1$  channels is cell-type specific in cancer cells or another is that the activity of  $K_V 11.1$  channels is redundant with respective to contributing to cell proliferation. Nevertheless, by using astemizole to inhibit  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_V 11.1$  and E-4031 to specifically inhibit K<sub>V</sub>11.1 channel activities the cellular functions of these channels can be separated in MCF-7 cells, thus allowing us to conclude that K<sub>V</sub>10.1 contributes to cell proliferation and  $K_V 11.1$  contributes to cell volume regulation (Roy *et al.* 2008).

# 4.1.2 E2 REGULATION OF KCNH1 mRNA EXPRESSION

Estrogen is a potent mitogen of breast cancer cells (Lippman *et al.* 1976). It has been shown to stimulate the proliferation of breast cancer cells through both classical and

non-classical pathways (Improta-Brears et al. 1999; Doisneau-Sixou et al. 2003; Coiret et al. 2005). Estrogen increases the mRNA expression of numerous genes that regulate cell proliferation, such as c-Myc and cyclin D1 (Doisneau-Sixou et al. 2003). Results showed that E2 selectively increases the mRNA expression of the pro-proliferative channel gene KCNH1, while having no significant effect on other K<sup>+</sup> channels in MCF-7 cells (see Section 3.2). The maximum KCNH1 mRNA expression (~455% compared to control) was detected at 1 nM E2. Although the circulating concentration of E2 in the blood fluctuates with the menstrual cycle, the average concentrations of E2 in serum would range between ~260-1000 pM. The EC<sub>50</sub> for E2-stimulated KCNH1 mRNA expression was  $\sim 20$  pM, which suggests that KCNH1 mRNA expression may be strongly stimulated even at the lowest physiological concentrations of E2. Older women have an increased risk for developing breast cancer (Key et al. 2001). In menopausal women it has been shown that circulating E2 concentrations are very low (~250 pM) (Kratz et al. 2004). Even at these E2 concentrations my results suggest that KCNH1 mRNA expression may still be stimulated in ER+ breast cancer cells of patients that express KCNH1 mRNA.

At 1 nM E2 stimulated the maximum KCNH1 mRNA expression within 6 hr and this appeared to remain elevated up to 24 hr. This time course is similar to that of E2stimulated c-Myc and cyclin D1 mRNA expression, which are maximally induced after 2 and 6 hr of E2 treatment, respectively (Prall *et al.* 1997) and are critical for E2-stimulated breast cancer cell proliferation (Prall *et al.* 1998a; Prall *et al.* 1998b). The overlapping time-courses of cyclin D1 and KCNH1 mRNA expression suggest that the increase in KCNH1 mRNA expression may be required at a similar time in the cell cycle as the increase in cyclin D1 mRNA expression. At this time it is unknown which ER signaling pathway, classical versus non-classical, is responsible for E2-stimulated KCNH1 mRNA expression, however since KCNH1 mRNA was maximally expressed after 6 hr of E2 treatment this would appear consistent with the involvement of the classical ER signaling pathway. A recent report, describing the promoter region of the KCNH1 gene, demonstrated that KCNH1 gene expression was positively regulated by the E2F1, but not AP-1 or SP-1, transcription factor (Wang et al. 2010). Interestingly, E2F1 gene expression is upregulated by estrogen treatment in MCF-7 cells (Wang et al. 1999), suggesting that KCNH1 mRNA expression may be indirectly regulated by estrogen through the E2F1 transcription factor. KCNH1 mRNA expression was also similarly increased in IGF-1-stimulated breast cancer cell proliferation via the PI3K/Akt pathway (Borowiec et al. 2007). Since, estrogen can also stimulate the PI3K-Akt pathway, it is also possible that the E2-dependent increase in KCNH1 mRNA expression involves this signaling pathway. Interestingly, vitamin D, which is an inhibitor of breast cancer cell proliferation, has been shown to downregulate KCNH1 gene expression, suggesting that breast cancer cell proliferation may be highly dependent on the activity of  $K_V 10.1$ channel activity (Avila et al. 2010; Garcia-Becerra et al. 2010). It is currently unknown whether the downregulation of KCNH1 mRNA expression by vitamin D receptor signaling also involves the E2F1 transcription factor or the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway.

# 4.1.3 K<sub>v</sub>10.1 and K<sub>ca</sub>3.1 CHANNEL ACTIVITIES ARE NOT CRITICAL FOR E2-STIMULATED CELL PROLIFERATION

 $K^+$  channel activity has been shown to be important for the stimulation of breast cancer cell proliferation by numerous mitogens (Coiret *et al.* 2005; Borowiec *et al.* 2007; Coiret *et al.* 2007; Faouzi *et al.* 2010). For example, K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity has been shown to be required for IGF-1-stimulated MCF-7 cell proliferation via the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway (Borowiec *et al.* 2007), whereas very recently  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activity has been shown to be necessary for prolactin-stimulated MCF-7 cell proliferation via the Janus kinase-2 signaling pathway (Faouzi *et al.* 2010). Both tamoxifen and bovine serum albumin-conjugated E2 (BSA-E2) have been shown to activate and require the activity of  $K_{Ca}1.1$  channels to stimulate breast cancer cell proliferation (Coiret *et al.* 2005; Coiret *et al.* 2007). However, the effects of tamoxifen and BSA-E2 on  $K_{Ca}1.1$  channel activity were suggested to involve non-genomic pathways or possible direct interaction with the channel (Coiret *et al.* 2005; Coiret *et al.* 2007). My results demonstrated that although  $K_V10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activities appeared to contribute to basal cell proliferation they were not critical for E2-stimulated cell proliferation (see Section 3.3). Thus, E2 was still able to stimulate cell proliferation in the presence of astemizole and clotrimazole at concentrations that inhibited basal cell proliferation. At this time it is unclear why the activities of  $K_V10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  do not appear to be required for E2-stimulated cell proliferation even though gene expression of  $K_V10.1$  was increased by E2 treatment.

Is there any precedent that  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels be involved in E2stimulated cell proliferation?  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity appears to be necessary for IGF-1stimulated breast cancer cell proliferation (Borowiec *et al.* 2007). E2 and IGF-1 both can stimulate the PI3K/Akt pathway to stimulate cell proliferation (Lee *et al.* 2005; Borowiec *et al.* 2007). However, estrogen can stimulate cell proliferation via multiple other signaling pathways, such as activation of cAMP/PKA, MAPK signaling cascades and regulation of cell cycle machinery gene expression (Szego *et al.* 1967; Aronica *et al.* 1994; Watters *et al.* 1998; Doisneau-Sixou *et al.* 2003; Zivadinovic *et al.* 2005a). Therefore, it is possible that the activity of  $K_V 10.1$  channels may be required for PI3K/Akt-dependent cell proliferation only and not for estrogen, because estrogen is capable of stimulating cell proliferation via other non-PI3K/Akt-dependent pathways. Interestingly, my results demonstrate that both (1) the ability of E2 to stimulate cell proliferation and (2) the ability of astemizole and clotrimazole to inhibit cell proliferation appear intact when MCF-7 cells are treated with E2 and K<sup>+</sup> channel antagonists. This suggests that both effects are indeed separate in MCF-7 cells. Since estrogen causes an increase in KCNH1 mRNA expression, which has been shown to be a potential oncogene (Pardo *et al.* 1999), it still remains to be determined what role the KCNH1 gene has in estrogen-dependent breast cancer development and progression. In ER+ positive breast cancer cells that aberrantly express  $K_V10.1$  channels, expression of this potential oncogene would be increased by even very low levels of circulating E2. Therefore, these experiments should also be repeated in other breast cancer cell lines, such as T47D cells and primary breast cancer cells that are ER+.

One possibility is that E2-stimulated KCNH1 mRNA expression and  $K_V10.1$  activity is required at an early stage of breast cancer development. As normal mammary epithelial cells become transformed they first rely on ERs and E2 to stimulate cell proliferation. At this stage E2-stimulated cell proliferation might be dependent on the increased KCNH1 mRNA expression. However, as breast cancer progresses they lose their requirement on E2-stimulated KCNH1 mRNA expression on E2-dependent cell proliferation. If this is true than the MCF-7 cell line may represent breast cancer cells in a later stage of breast cancer development and this would warrant further investigation in other breast cancer cell lines and primary breast cancer cells at different stages of breast cancer development.

 $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels appear to be required for prolactin-stimulated cell proliferation (Faouzi *et al.* 2010). However, E2 and prolactin, to my knowledge, do not appear to share any of the same signaling pathways. Therefore, it is plausible that  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels are not involved in E2-stimulated breast cancer cell proliferation, and may be involved in other E2-independent effects on breast cancer cell proliferation.

## 4.1.4 TRAM-34 IS A NOVEL ER AGONIST

TRAM-34 was originally developed by Wulff and colleagues (2000) as a derivative of the commonly used antimycotic and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel blocker clotrimazole. It was selected from a group of clotrimazole derivatives, because of its high affinity for  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels ( $K_d \sim 20$  nM) and lack of cytochrome P450 inhibition (Wulff *et al.* 2000). The chemical structure of TRAM-34 differs from that of clotrimazole by a substituted pyrazole ring in place of an imidazole ring branching from a central carbon atom (see Figure 23).

Results demonstrated that TRAM-34 had a novel biphasic and concentrationdependent effect on MCF-7 cell proliferation (see Section 3.4). At high concentrations (> 20  $\mu$ M) TRAM-34 decreased MCF-7 cell proliferation, which mimicked the inhibitory effect of clotrimazole. This decrease in cell proliferation was attributed to the inhibition of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity, which was consistent with reports by others (Ghanshani *et al.* 2000; Wulff *et al.* 2000; Jager *et al.* 2004; Grgic *et al.* 2005; Wang *et al.* 2007a; Wang *et al.* 2007b; Toyama *et al.* 2008). At moderate concentrations (1-10  $\mu$ M) TRAM-34 increased MCF-7 cell proliferation. The increase in cell proliferation caused by moderate concentrations of TRAM-34 appeared to be non-additive with that caused by E2 and was inhibited by the ER antagonist ICI182,780, suggesting that TRAM-34 activated a similar
pathway to that of E2 to increase cell proliferation. As mentioned previously the classical pathway for estrogen action is the regulation of gene expression via ERs and two hallmark effects of ER activation are increases in PR and decreases in ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression (Ree *et al.* 1989). In MCF-7 cells TRAM-34 caused an increase in PR mRNA expression and a decrease in ER- $\alpha$  mRNA expression, which mimicked the effects of E2 (see Section 3.5). These effects of TRAM-34 on gene expression were also sensitive to the ER antagonist ICI182,780, such that ICI182,780 completely inhibited the increase in PR mRNA expression and partially inhibited the decrease in ER $\alpha$  mRNA expression caused by TRAM-34. Clotrimazole also caused a small but statistically significant increase in PR mRNA expression, suggesting that it may also be able to activate ERs. However, clotrimazole did not increase cell proliferation, which suggested that it may be a relatively weak ER agonist.

Ligands such as E2, bind at the E domain within the ER protein (Enmark *et al.* 1999). By performing competitive ligand binding experiments the ability of TRAM-34 to directly bind to the E domain of ER protein was tested. Results demonstrated that TRAM-34 was able to specifically reduce the amount of bound [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 to ER protein, which suggested that TRAM-34 was able to compete with E2 binding and that TRAM-34 does indeed bind directly to the E domain of ER protein (see Section 3.6). The ER ligand binding site and cavity is fairly large in comparison to the size of the estrogen molecule (Brzozowski *et al.* 1997), and is therefore able to accept a wide range of compounds with different structures, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, phthalates, pesticides and phytoestrogens (Heldring *et al.* 2007). This may help to explain how TRAM-34, which has a triarylmethane structure, and not very similar to the structure of estrogens (see

Figure 23), was able to directly bind and compete with E2 for binding to ER protein and activate ER signaling.

The high affinity of TRAM-34 for  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels and presumed lack of nonspecific effects has led to the suggestion that TRAM-34 or TRAM-34-like molecules could be used for the treatment of  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel-related diseases, such as sickle cell anaemia, inflammatory diseases, traumatic brain injury and cancer (Wulff *et al.* 2007; Chou *et al.* 2008). My research demonstrates previously unidentified effects of TRAM-34 and suggests that caution should be taken when interpreting results using this drug. In MCF-7 cells TRAM-34 appears to stimulate cell proliferation and to cause changes in gene expression via activation of ERs, suggesting that TRAM-34 is a novel non-steroidal ER agonist. In cells that are ER positive, such as the majority of breast cancers, TRAM-34 would therefore have  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel-independent effects. Therefore, my results raise caveats to the use of TRAM-34 *in vivo* to treat  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel-related diseases (Wulff *et al.* 2007; Chou *et al.* 2008).

## **4.2 HYPOTHESIZED K<sup>+</sup> CHANNEL REGULATION OF CELL CYCLE MACHINERY**

 $G_1$  phase progression is regulated by the D and E cyclins and by the activity of specific CDKs, which are in turn regulated by the activity of specific CDKIs (Abukhdeir *et al.* 2008). If K<sub>V</sub>10.1 and K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activities do indeed contribute to  $G_1$  phase progression, then it is possible that channel activity regulates any one or a combination of these  $G_1$  phase regulatory factors. Results from Wang *et al.* (2010) demonstrate that the tumour-suppressor protein p53 negatively regulates KCNH1 mRNA expression by repressing the E2F1 transcription factor. These results suggest that K<sub>V</sub>10.1 activity may be important for stress-induced cell cycle arrest during the  $G_1$  phase. When normal cells

are exposed to stress (DNA damage, hypoxia, adhesion), the activity of p53 increases and would presumably act to inhibit KCNH1 channel gene expression, however in many cancer cell types KCNH1 channels are aberrantly expressed. Therefore, it is hypothesized that the aberrant expression of KCNH1 channels in many cancer cells may occlude the normal function of p53 to cause cell cycle arrest and thus allow cell cycle progression to occur in cancer cells when exposed to stress. One way in which p53 induces cell cycle arrest in G<sub>1</sub> is via upregulation of the CDK inhibitor p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup>, which will inhibit the activity of cyclin D-CDK-4 and cyclin E-CDK2 complexes leading to dephosphorylation of Rb protein and cell cycle arrest (Lacroix et al. 2006; Abukhdeir et al. 2008). Therefore, the aberrant K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity observed in breast cancer cells may repress p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> gene expression upregulation and allow cell cycle progression. Consequently, pharmacological inhibition of K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity with astemizole, as well as knocking down KCNH1 mRNA expression, may result in the inhibition of repression on p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> gene expression, thus allowing p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> protein to accumulate and cause cell cycle arrest in the G1 phase. Inhibition of voltage-gated K<sup>+</sup> channel activity and depolarization of the membrane potential has been shown to increase the levels of p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> and p27<sup>KIP1</sup> protein in oligodendritic progenitor cells, while having no significant effect on cyclin gene expression, CDK activity or requirement for other CDKIs (Ghiani et al. 1999). However, the molecular identities of the K<sup>+</sup> channels responsible for maintenance of the membrane potential were not identified (Ghiani et al. 1999). Interestingly, in prostate cancer cells pharmacological inhibition of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity with TRAM-34 also resulted in accumulation of p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup>, while having no effect on the CDKI p27KIP1, cyclin gene expression or CDK activity (Lallet-Daher et al.

2009). Therefore, it appears that the activities of both  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels contribute to  $G_1$  phase progression by controlling the activity of specific CDKIs.  $K_V 10.1$ and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activities probably control  $G_1$  phase progression in a similar manner in MCF-7 cells, however it remains to be determined whether the activities of these channels also regulate cyclin gene expression and CDK activity in these cells. Preliminary data demonstrates that inhibition of  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activity with TRAM-34 (30  $\mu$ M), but not  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity with astemizole (3  $\mu$ M), results in a decrease in basal cyclin D1 mRNA expression after 24 hr of treatment (data not shown), suggesting that  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activity may also regulate additional cell cycle regulatory factors. However, these results are preliminary and would require many additional experiments before any conclusions could be drawn. How  $K^+$  channel activity controls cell cycle machinery is hypothesized to be via regulating  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, cell volume and/or intracellular pH (see Section 1.8).

#### 4.3 TRPM8 CHANNELS IN MCF-7 CELLS

TRPM8 channels were originally discovered as a result of their overexpression in prostate cancer cells, where they have since been found to contribute to cell proliferation and cell viability through their regulation of  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling (Tsavaler *et al.* 2001; Zhang *et al.* 2004; Yamamura *et al.* 2008; Yee *et al.* 2010). TRPM8 channels are also present in normal prostate epithelium where they have been suggested to play a role in androgendependent  $Ca^{2+}$ -regulated secretion (Bidaux *et al.* 2005). The mRNA expression of TRPM8 was detected in MCF-7 cell total RNA, however TRPM8 channels have been previously described in the normal mammary epithelium, suggesting that the TRPM8 mRNA detected in MCF-7 cells was a remnant of the normal function of these channels

in the mammary gland. TRPM8 channels may represent one component of the basolateral  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathway responsible for transpithelial  $Ca^{2+}$  transport. Transpithelial  $Ca^{2+}$ transport in the mammary gland is temperature-sensitive and is inhibited by cold temperatures (Neville et al. 1982). However, TRPM8 is activated by cold temperatures and localized to the apical membrane in prostate epithelium (Bidaux et al. 2005). In addition, TRPM8 channels may also play an important role in Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent secretion in the normal mammary gland (Blaug et al. 2003), similar to their proposed function in the normal prostate (Bidaux et al. 2005). In spite of this, TRPM8 channels have been found to be overexpressed in breast cancers, suggesting these channels may also play a role in oncogenesis, similar to their role in prostate cancers (Zhang et al. 2006). A recent report has confirmed my results demonstrating that TRPM8 channels are present in MCF-7 cells, however the contribution TRPM8 channels to Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, cell proliferation or cell viability was not examined (Chodon et al. 2010). Therefore, it was investigated whether TRPM8 forms a functional Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry pathway in MCF-7 cells and whether their activity contributed to basal cell proliferation.

### 4.3.1 FUNCTIONAL IDENTIFICATION OF TRPM8 CHANNELS IN MCF-7 CELLS

To measure the function of  $Ca^{2+}$ -permeable TRPM8 channels in MCF-7 cells  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx experiments were performed (see Section 3.8). This method isolates increases in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  due to  $Ca^{2+}$  influx via  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathways from  $Ca^{2+}$  release via intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  storage organelles.  $Ca^{2+}$  that enters the cell can then be either removed from of the cell or sequestered in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  storage compartments (Berridge *et al.* 2000). Under basal conditions  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx increased for 30 min, after which the amount of  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx reached a plateau until 60 min. We suggest that during

the plateau phase the amount of  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx would be in a steady-state with the amount of  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  efflux.

To date the most potent pharmacological agents demonstrated to modulate TRPM8 channel activity are the channel inhibitor BCTC and the channel activator icilin (Behrendt *et al.* 2004). In MCF-7 cells BCTC caused a concentration-dependent decrease in basal  $^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx, whereas icilin caused an increase in basal  $^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx. Furthermore, the increase in basal  $^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx caused by icilin was also blocked by BCTC. The specificity of BCTC to inhibit TRPM8 channels and not TRPV1 channels in MCF-7 cells was also confirmed by using a more specific TRPV1 channel inhibitor capsezapine, which had no statistically significant effect on  $^{45}Ca^{2+}$  influx. In addition, MCF-7 cells do not appear to express mRNA for TRPV1 channel (data not shown). These results demonstrated that functional TRPM8 channels were present in MCF-7 cells where they contribute to plasma membrane  $Ca^{2+}$  permeability under resting conditions.

In prostate cancer cells, functional TRPM8 channels can be found in both the plasma membrane and intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> storage organelles, such as the endoplasmic reticulum (Zhang *et al.* 2004; Thebault *et al.* 2005; Bidaux *et al.* 2007; Phelps *et al.* 2007). It has also been suggested that an mRNA splice variant of TRPM8, which would encode a protein product of ~95 kDa, represents the TRPM8 channels localized to the endoplasmic reticulum (Bidaux *et al.* 2007). PCR primers designed to detect the splice variant of TRPM8 channel failed to detect the expression of this mRNA in MCF-7 cell total RNA (data not shown). Furthermore, the putative ~95 kDa protein product of the TRPM8 splice variant was not detected in MCF-7 cell total protein using the same TRPM8 antibody used previously by Thebault *et al.* (2005) to describe the TRPM8

truncated protein in prostate cancer cells (data not shown). These two lines of evidence suggest that the TRPM8 mRNA splice variant representing the pool of TRPM8 channels in the endoplasmic reticulum may be absent in MCF-7 cells.

These results establish TRPM8 channels as a potential plasma membrane  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathway in MCF-7 cells and suggest that the activity of TRPM8 channels could contribute to  $Ca^{2+}$  signaling. In other cancer cell types TRPM8 channel activity contributes to cell proliferation (Zhang *et al.* 2004; Yamamura *et al.* 2008; Yee *et al.* 2010). Therefore, the contribution of TRPM8 channels to MCF-7 cell proliferation were first examined using modulators of channel activity and [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation as a measure of cell proliferation.

### 4.3.2 BCTC AND ICILIN ARE NUCLEOSIDE TRANSPORT INHIBITORS

My results demonstrated that both BCTC and icilin inhibited [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation in a concentration-dependent manner (see Section 3.9). However, this decrease in [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation was attributed not to a reduction in cell proliferation, but rather to an inhibition of nucleoside transporter activity as both BCTC and icilin inhibited [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake at similar concentrations (see Section 3.10).

Nucleoside transporters permit the entry of extracellular nucleosides into the cell and contribute to the salvage pathway for nucleic acid synthesis (King *et al.* 2006). They are also important for regulating the physiological effects of extracellular nucleosides in specific organs, such as adenosine activity in the superficial dorsal horn of the spinal cord (Baldwin *et al.* 2004). In the treatment of cancer, nucleoside transporters are important for facilitating the entry of a class of chemotherapeutics that function as nucleoside analogs and inhibit cancer cell proliferation by interfering with nucleic acid synthesis (King et al. 2006). There are two subfamilies of nucleoside transporters, the equilibrative nucleoside transporter family (ENT1-4) and the Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent concentrative nucleoside transporter family (CNT1-3) (Baldwin et al. 2004; Gray et al. 2004). The ENT family can be further divided into NBTI-sensitive (ENT1) or NBTI-insensitive (ENT2) forms (Baldwin et al. 2004). NBTI inhibits human ENT1 with a  $K_i \sim 2$  nM and completely inhibits ENT1-mediated transport of uridine at 1 µM (Griffiths et al. 1997). Interestingly, nucleoside transport is also sensitive to dihydropyridine  $Ca^{2+}$  channel antagonists (Agrotis et al. 1993). Nucleoside transporters are selective for the nucleoside substrates they transport (Baldwin et al. 2004; Gray et al. 2004). For example, the pyrimidine nucleoside thymidine (or  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine) would be transported into the cell via ENT1, ENT2, ENT3, CNT1 and CNT3 (Baldwin et al. 2004; Gray et al. 2004). The abundance of NBTI-sensitive nucleoside transporters has been shown to be regulated by the cell cycle, with highest abundance during the S phase of the cell cycle, suggesting that nucleoside transport may be important for cell proliferation (Cass et al. 1979; Pressacco et al. 1995).

MCF-7 cells have been shown to express mRNA for ENT1, ENT2, CNT1 and CNT3 nucleoside transporters and posses functional equilibrative (both NBTI-sensitive and NBTI-insensitive), but not concentrative nucleoside transport pathways (Cai *et al.* 1996; Goh *et al.* 1997; Paproski *et al.* 2008). At the moment it is unknown which of these nucleoside transport pathways may be responsible for [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine transport in MCF-7 cells, however the majority of [<sup>3</sup>H]-fluorothymidine has been shown to be transported via NBTI-sensitive (ENT1) pathways (Paproski *et al.* 2008). Therefore, it is hypothesized that BCTC and icilin inhibit the NBTI-sensitive nucleoside transport pathway in MCF-7

cells, however this would require further experiments to confirm. The relevance of these conclusions suggests that caution should also be used when interpreting results using BCTC and icilin at these concentrations.

In light of the results demonstrating that BCTC and icilin inhibit [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake, cell proliferation was subsequently measured using cell counting instead. These results also raised similar questions regarding previous conclusions made with the K<sup>+</sup> channel blockers astemizole and TRAM-34 using [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation assays (see Section 4.1.1). Therefore, the effects of astemizole and TRAM-34 on MCF-7 cell proliferation were also tested using cell counting. Both astemizole (3  $\mu$ M) and TRAM-34 (30  $\mu$ M) reduced the number of cells after 3 days in culture (data not shown). This suggests that astemizole and TRAM-34 do indeed genuinely inhibit cell proliferation and give merit to the conclusions made previously with [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation assays.

### 4.3.3 TRPM8 CHANNEL ACTIVITY CONTRIBUTES TO MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION

Results demonstrated that inhibition of TRPM8 channel activity with BCTC, as well as knockdown of TRPM8 channel mRNA expression, resulted in reduced MCF-7 cell proliferation (see Section 3.11). However, stimulation of TRPM8 channel activity with icilin had no significant effect on cell proliferation. In prostate and skin cancer cells knockdown of TRPM8 channel mRNA expression and stimulation of TRPM8 channel activity with menthol led to decreases in cell viability (Zhang *et al.* 2004; Yamamura *et al.* 2008). In contrast to these reports, no visible or measurable cytotoxicity using Trypan blue exclusion was observed following BCTC, icilin or siRNA treatment (data not shown). Interestingly, a recent report has demonstrated that the cytotoxic effects of menthol in prostate cancer cells were via TRPM8-independent mechanisms, involving

activation of the pro-apoptotic c-Jun N-terminal kinases (Kim *et al.* 2009). In pancreatic cancer cells knockdown of TRPM8 channel mRNA expression led to a reduction in cell proliferation with also no measurable cytotoxicity (Yee *et al.* 2010). Therefore, results in MCF-7 cells were more similar to those in pancreatic cancer cells, suggesting that the role of TRPM8 channels in cell proliferation in these two different cell lines may be also be similar. Yee and colleagues (2010) also reported that knockdown of TRPM8 channel mRNA resulted in an arrest of cells in the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle, suggesting that TRPM8 channel activity contributes to Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx in the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle. Although not measured directly in this study, it is hypothesized that TRPM8 channel activity also contributes to G<sub>1</sub> phase progression in MCF-7 cells.

NBTI, at a saturating concentration  $(1 \ \mu M)$  that would inhibit ENT1 activity completely, had no statistically significant effect on cell proliferation, suggesting that MCF-7 cell proliferation may not be regulated by NBTI-sensitive nucleoside transporter activity. Therefore, it is unlikely that the inhibitory effects of BCTC on cell proliferation were the result of inhibition of nucleoside transport. Since knockdown of TRPM8 channel expression also resulted in a decrease in cell proliferation I suggest that the antiproliferative effects of BCTC result from inhibition of TRM8 channel-mediated Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx.

How does TRPM8 channel activity contribute to cell cycle progression through the  $G_1$  phase? Similar to how the activity of K<sup>+</sup> channels is hypothesized to control cell cycle progression, TRPM8 channel activity may also regulate the activity of cell cycle control machinery, such as cyclin gene expression, CDKs and CDKIs. In pancreatic cancer cells knockdown of TRPM8 mRNA expression with siRNA increased p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> and p27<sup>KIP1</sup> mRNA expression, but had no effect on cyclin D1 mRNA expression (Yee *et al.* 2010). These results suggest that TRPM8 channel activity regulates CDKI mRNA expression, which in turn could control the activity of CDKs and cell cycle progression through the G<sub>1</sub> phase. Interestingly, in PC-3 prostate cancer cells vectormediated overexpression of TRPM8 channels caused cell cycle arrest in the G<sub>1</sub> phase and a decrease in CDK4 and CDK6 protein abundance (Yang *et al.* 2009). By providing a pathway for Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry TRPM8 channels are potentially important regulators of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis. Since intracellular [Ca<sup>2+</sup>] has been shown to be an important regulator of G<sub>1</sub> phase progression (Schreiber 2005; Sergeev 2005; Lee *et al.* 2006; Capiod *et al.* 2007; Monteith *et al.* 2007), overexpression of TRPM8 channels in breast cancers may impart an advantage to cancer cells, such as the ability to increase Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx and overcome any Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent checkpoints in the G<sub>1</sub> phase (Roderick *et al.* 2008).

# 4.4 K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1, BUT NOT K<sub>v</sub>10.1 CHANNEL ACTIVITY REGULATES BASAL Ca<sup>2+</sup> INFLUX

One mechanism hypothesized to explain how  $K^+$  channel activity contributes to cell proliferation is via membrane potential-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx. To test this hypothesis <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx was measured in the presence of acute application of  $K^+$  channel modulators. My results demonstrated that inhibition of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity with TRAM-34 or clotrimazole decreased <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx, whereas inhibition of other K<sup>+</sup> channels, such as K<sub>V</sub>10.1 and K<sub>V</sub>7.1, had no significant effect on <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (see Section 3.7). These results suggest that the activity of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels, but not the activities of the K<sub>V</sub>10.1 or K<sub>V</sub>7.1 channels regulate basal Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx into MCF-7 cells. Furthermore, the decreases in <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx caused by TRAM-34 and clotrimazole

occurred at or near the same concentrations that inhibited MCF-7 cell proliferation, suggesting a possible link between  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx and control of cell proliferation. Activation of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels with EBIO, however, did not lead to an increase in  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  uptake. It is currently unclear why EBIO had no effect on  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  uptake in MCF-7 cells. However, similar results have been shown in other cell types where stimulation of K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel activity and membrane hyperpolarisation with EBIO had no effect on intracellular [Ca<sup>2+</sup>] (Cuthbert et al. 1999; MacVinish et al. 2001). Using intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  imagining dyes as opposed to  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  uptake, other groups have shown that the activities of both  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca} 3.1$  channels contribute to basal  $Ca^{2+}$  influx (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b; Spitzner et al. 2007; Lallet-Daher et al. 2009). In MCF-7 cells  $K_V 10.1$  channel inhibition with astemizole lead to a decrease in intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$ with the maximum effect occurring when the cells were partially synchronized in the early G<sub>1</sub> phase, whereas K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel inhibition with clotrimazole lead to a decrease in intracellular  $[Ca^{2+}]$  with the maximum effect occurring in the late  $G_1$  phase (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b). One explanation for the lack of effect of astemizole in <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake experiments could be due to my cells being in a different part of the G<sub>1</sub> phase where the contribution of  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity to  $Ca^{2+}$  influx is believed to be less (Ouadid-Ahidouch et al. 2004b). Another explanation could be that in my cells K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity contributes to cell proliferation via membrane potential-dependent, but yet Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx-independent mechanisms.

Ouadid-Ahidouch *et al.* (2004b) have shown that  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity regulates the membrane potential in MCF-7 cells and astemizole treatment leads to a depolarization of the membrane potential. This could in turn decrease the driving force

for other membrane potential-dependent, but Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx-independent processes. For example the electrochemical gradient for Na<sup>+</sup> influx is also dependent on the membrane potential of the cell. Na<sup>+</sup> influx is important for driving the movement of many molecules, such as nutrients and  $H^+$  ions, in and out of the cell (Silverthorn *et al.* 2010). For example, the activity of the  $Na^+/H^+$  exchanger, which operates by exchanging extracellular Na<sup>+</sup> for intracellular H<sup>+</sup>, is dependent on the driving force for Na<sup>+</sup> influx (Boron 2004). Thus, decreases in the driving force for  $Na^+$  influx may indirectly contribute to intracellular pH. Therefore,  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity might be indirectly important for regulating the intracellular pH, which in turn controls cell proliferation. This has previously been shown in colonic cancer cells, where inhibiting the activity of  $K_{V}10.1$  channels with astemizole led to a decrease in the ability of Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchanger to efflux  $H^+$  ions (Spitzner *et al.* 2007). Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchangers were also shown to play a role in the increased intracellular alkalinisation of transformed fibroblasts, suggesting that they play a role in the malignant transformation of this cell type (Kaplan *et al.* 1994). Interestingly, Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchange activity has also been shown to be important for regulating MCF-7 cell proliferation (Friday et al. 2007). In addition, Ky10.1 channel activity is also regulated by intracellular [Na<sup>+</sup>], which acts to inhibit channel activity (Pardo et al. 1998). Na<sup>+</sup> influx through Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchangers could potentially provide a negative feedback regulation of K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity, thus providing a link between  $Na^{+}/H^{+}$  exchanger activity, intracellular pH and K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity. In this scenario increased K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channel activity in cancer cells provides a hyperpolarized membrane potential that increases the driving force for Na<sup>+</sup> influx and thus H<sup>+</sup> efflux through the Na<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>+</sup> exchangers and keeps the intracellular pH more alkaline compared to normal

cells. The increased Na<sup>+</sup> influx might reach a point where it turns off  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity and allows  $K_V 10.1$  channels to indirectly regulate the level of intracellular pH within a narrow window essential for cell cycle progression (Pappas *et al.* 1994; Kunzelmann 2005).

In addition to identifying a role for  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels in mediating basal  $Ca^{2+}$  influx my results suggest this regulation is via control of the membrane potential. Thus, depolarizing the membrane potential immediately prior to the application of TRAM-34 partially occluded the inhibitory effect of TRAM-34 on basal <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx. These results provide evidence that one way in which  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activity contributes to cell proliferation in the G<sub>1</sub> phase is via regulating basal  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in MCF-7 cells.  $K_{Ca}3.1$ channel activity has previously been shown to regulate the activity of p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> (Lallet-Daher *et al.* 2009) and p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> activity has also been shown to be regulated by the activity of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Yee *et al.* 2010). Therefore, it is hypothesized that  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx possibly controls cell proliferation via regulation of p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> activity.

It remains to be determined which  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathway is controlled by  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels and the membrane potential. Potential  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathways include TRPV6, TRPM8, TRPC1, TRPC3, TRPC6 and T-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels. In prostate cancer cells  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activity controls  $Ca^{2+}$  influx through TRPV6 channels (Lallet-Daher *et al.* 2009). MCF-7 cells also express TRPV6 channels (Bolanz *et al.* 2009) and TRPV6 channel activity has been shown to contribute to breast cancer cell proliferation (Bolanz *et al.* 2008). TRPV6 channels are constitutively active, highly  $Ca^{2+}$  selectively channels, and allow more  $Ca^{2+}$  influx at hyperpolarized membrane potentials due to the greater

driving force for  $Ca^{2+}$  entry (Peng *et al.* 1999). TRPV6 and K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel proteins have even been shown to coassemble with each other (Lallet-Daher *et al.* 2009). Therefore, TRPV6 channels represent one likely candidate to mediate K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in MCF-7 cells. In addition, TRPV6 channel activity controls prostate cancer cell proliferation via regulation of NFAT activity (Lehen'kyi *et al.* 2007), suggesting that K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels may also regulate NFAT activity to control cell proliferation in MCF-7 cells.

I provided the first evidence demonstrating that TRPM8 channels act as functional plasma membrane  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathways in MCF-7 cells and that their activity contributes to cell proliferation. It is possible that  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activity controls  $Ca^{2+}$  influx through TRPM8 channels. Under basal conditions there appears to be some TRPM8 channel activity as BCTC was able to inhibit  $Ca^{2+}$  influx by ~25%. Therefore, it is possible that under basal conditions constitutive  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channel activity provides a hyperpolarized membrane potential that would be essential for maintenance of the driving force for  $Ca^{2+}$  entry through TRPM8. However, TRPM8 channel activity is increased by membrane potential depolarization not hyperpolarization (Hui *et al.* 2005), suggesting that when the activity of  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels increases, the activity of TRPM8 channel would decrease.

Other potential  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathways include TRPC1 and TRPC6. Both of these channels have been shown to be expressed in MCF-7 and contribute to  $Ca^{2+}$  influx and cell proliferation (El Hiani *et al.* 2006; El Hiani *et al.* 2009a; El Hiani *et al.* 2009b). However, the activity of these channels under basal conditions would presumably to very low as TRPC1 and TRPC6 channel activity are activated by receptor-mediated

diacylglycerol production (Hofmann *et al.* 1999). In addition, TRPC6 channel activity appears to be important for G2/M phase progression not G1 phase progression, which is suggested for  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels, demonstrating that the activities of these channels may be important in different phases of the cell cycle.

Another possible candidate is the T-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channel which has also been shown to be overexpressed in breast cancer cells and involved in breast cancer cell proliferation (Taylor *et al.* 2008a). T-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels are activated by depolarization at low membrane voltages and they exhibit an interesting feature called "window current" (Taylor et al. 2008b). Window current describes the voltage overlap of activation and inactivation at low membrane potentials. This feature allows some T-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels in the plasma membrane to be incompletely inactivated at low membrane potentials (~-50 mV) and thus contribute to  $Ca^{2+}$  influx in non-excitable cells (Chemin *et al.* 2000). As suggested by Panner et al. (2006) in depolarized cells, such as cancer cells, T-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels would be in an inactive state. However,  $K^+$  channel-dependent hyperpolarization of the membrane potential would allow recovery from inactivation and re-initiation of T-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels voltage-dependent activation and consequent Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx. The fact that T-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channel activity is entirely dependent on the membrane potential makes these channels good candidates for at least part of the Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx that is controlled by K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels.

## 4.5 PROPOSED MODEL FOR THE CONTRIBUTION OF K<sub>V</sub>10.1, K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 AND TRPM8 CHANNELS TO MCF-7 CELL PROLIFERATION

The results of my PhD research are summarized in the following proposed model that will attempt to explain the contribution of  $K_V 10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8 channels to cell proliferation. Figure 24A demonstrates how the activities of these ion channels might

contribute to G<sub>1</sub> phase cell cycle progression and Figure 24B demonstrates how inhibiting the activities of these ion channels might arrest cells in the  $G_1$  phase of the cell cycle. As a new cell enters another round of the cell cycle it begins in the G<sub>1</sub> phase. Under basal conditions, the membrane potential in  $G_1$  is regulated by the activities of  $K_V 10.1$  and K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channels. The aberrant expression and deregulated activity of K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channels in breast cancer cells causes the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent inhibition of p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> relieving the repression on cyclin D1-CDK4/6 complexes allowing them to phosphorylate Rb, which permits cell cycle progression. The mechanism by which K<sub>V</sub>10.1 channels control p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> activity is currently unknown but may be via indirect regulation of intracellular pH. At a later or similar time in the G1 phase, KCa3.1 channel activity, which is found in normal mammary epithelial cells, controls the driving force for basal Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx or voltage-dependent gating through as yet unknown  $Ca^{2+}$  channels via regulation of the membrane potential. Specific Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels that could be involved include TRPV6, T-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels and TRPM8. K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 channel-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx that passes through one or more of these  $Ca^{2+}$  channels inhibits the activity of p21<sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup>, thus allowing cyclin D-CDK4/6 complexes to phosphorylate Rb, which also permits cell cycle progression. Also in the G<sub>1</sub> phase, the activity of TRPM8 channels contributes to basal  $Ca^{2+}$  influx that inhibits the activities of  $p21^{CIP1/WAF1}$  and  $p27^{KIP1}$ , allowing both cyclin D-CDK4/6 and cyclin E/CDK2 complexes to phosphorylate Rb and permit cell cycle progression (Figure 24A). In addition,  $Ca^{2+}$  influx through K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$ channels, which may include TRPM8, stimulates the progression through the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle via the activity of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-sensitive pro-proliferative pathways which includes

activated protein 1, cAMP-responsive element binding protein, NFAT, calmodulin, Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent kinases and calcineurin (Roderick *et al.* 2008).

Inhibiting the activities of  $K_V 10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8 channels arrests cells in the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle. For  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels this occurs because blocking their activity stimulates the function of  $p21^{CIP1/WAF1}$ , which in turn inhibits cell cycle progression by inhibiting cyclin D-CDK4/6 complexes. Blocking  $K_V 10.1$  and  $K_C 3.1$  channel activity causes  $Ca^{2+}$ -independent and –dependent loss of  $p21^{CIP1/WAF1}$ repression, which allows  $p21^{CIP1/WAF1}$  to inhibit cell proliferation. Blocking the activity of TRPM8 removes the repression on  $p21^{CIP1/WAF1}$  and also  $p27^{KIP1}$  causing cell cycle arrest (Figure 24B).

Although this model outlines how these specific channels may contribute to cell cycle progression separately there most likely exists interplay between the activities of  $K_V10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8. On one hand,  $K_V10.1$  channels are inhibited by  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Na^+$  (Pardo *et al.* 1998; Ziechner *et al.* 2006), therefore the activity of TRPM8 channels, which allows influx of both  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Na^+$  (Hui *et al.* 2005), or other  $Ca^{2+}$  channels could cause feedback inhibition to inhibit  $K_V10.1$  channel activity. Through this mechanism TRPM8 or other  $Ca^{2+}$  channels could ensure that the activity of  $K_V10.1$  channels does not become too great and cause large membrane potential-dependent influxes in  $Ca^{2+}$  that can cause cell death. It is possible that this mechanism contributes to the sometimes observed resistance of breast cancer cells to  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent apoptosis (Chen *et al.* 2002). On the other hand,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  channels are activated by  $Ca^{2+}$ , therefore the activity of TRPM8 or other  $Ca^{2+}$  channels are activated by  $Ca^{2+}$ .

sustain constitutive membrane potential-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx that is vital for the uncontrolled cell proliferation phenotype of cancer cells.

### 4.6 RELEVANCE TO BREAST CANCER

Breast cancer cells proliferate uncontrollably and it is important to determine ways to stop them from doing so. Although breast cancer mortality rates have declined, breast cancer is still part of every-day life for most Canadians. Breast cancer mortality rates have declined partly because of new research, but more research is still required to aid in the early detection, diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer. Currently, early detection and treatment offer the best prognosis in battling breast cancer, but new approaches to early detection and more specific treatments must be developed. The role of ion channels in controlling the growth of many different types of cancer is becoming increasingly apparent (Kunzelmann 2005; Pardo et al. 2005; Felipe et al. 2006; Prevarskaya et al. 2007). Ion channels have been shown to be aberrantly expressed in numerous cancer tissues, including breast cancer (Meyer et al. 1999; Farias et al. 2004; Hemmerlein et al. 2006; Ousingsawat et al. 2007) and have been shown to have oncogenic potential when expressed in normal cells (Pardo et al. 1999). For these reasons ion channels have been proposed as novel drug targets for the treatment of breast cancer (Wonderlin et al. 1996; Kunzelmann 2005; Pardo et al. 2005; Felipe et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2006). My research was aimed at understanding the molecular mechanisms by which different  $K^+$  and  $Ca^{2+}$  channel types contribute to altered  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis and the uncontrolled proliferation of breast cancer cells. This research provides important new information on the role of K<sub>V</sub>10.1, K<sub>Ca</sub>3.1 and TRPM8 ion channels in breast cancer, and their potential as novel therapeutic targets. Since inhibiting the activity of  $K_V 10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca} 3.1$ 

and TRPM8 ion channels inhibits breast cancer cell proliferation, these ion channels represent future therapeutic targets to inhibit breast cancer cell proliferation *in vivo*.

Current research has implicated the female sex hormone estrogen in the etiology and pathophysiology of breast cancer, therefore it is important to understand how estrogen affects the growth of breast cancer cells. Two-thirds of clinical breast cancer cases are hormone receptor-positive and these tumours will grow faster when exposed to hormones such as estrogen. Understanding how estrogen causes hormone receptorpositive breast cancer cells to grow faster will aid in the development of new and different treatments to block the mitogenisis of estrogen. I have found that estrogen increases the levels of KCNH1 mRNA expression, a proto-oncogenic K<sup>+</sup> channel that contributes to basal breast cancer cell proliferation. Current research has shown that  $K_{V}10.1$  is present only in cancerous tissue of the mammary gland, suggesting that blocking the estrogen effect on KCNH1 mRNA expression or K<sub>V</sub>10.1 function may interfere with estrogen-dependent mammary oncogenesis and have no effect on normal mammary tissue. Although my research suggests that blocking  $K_V 10.1$  channel activity may not be critically for estrogen-stimulated cell proliferation in MCF-7 cells, it remains to be determined what effect estrogen-stimulated KCNH1 mRNA expression has on estrogen-dependent oncogenesis. This novel mechanism may represent a potentially new way in which to inhibit estrogen-dependent breast cancer development. This research will hopefully advance our knowledge into how breast cancer cells respond to hormones such as estrogen and provide much needed information on emerging novel targets of anticancer treatment.

Hyperpolarization of the membrane potential during  $G_1$  is believed to be an important regulatory event for cancer cells to continue through the cell cycle. Inhibiting this hyperpolarization by blocking  $K^+$  channels appears to be a novel way to inhibit basal breast cancer cell proliferation. For certain  $K^+$  channels ( $K_{Ca}3.1$ ), but not others ( $K_V10.1$ ) this appears to involve inhibiting membrane potential-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx. These results suggest that  $K^+$  channels contribute to cell proliferation via  $Ca^{2+}$ -independent and –dependent mechanisms. Therefore interfering with  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis appears to be one effective way in which to inhibit breast cancer cell proliferation.  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis can also be modulated by interfering with  $Ca^{2+}$  entry pathways, such as TRPM8 channels, which also contribute to breast cancer cell proliferation. This mechanism provides evidence to suggest that targeting  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis in breast cancer may be an effective approach to treat the disease.

The historical definition of a channelopathy is a disease that results from the dysfunction of one specific ion channel. It is currently believed that breast cancer is a multifactorial disease that arises as a result of genetic mutations brought on by both genetic and environmental factors. It is not surprising then that it appears that numerous ion channels contribute to breast cancer. While breast cancer is not defined as a channelopathy in the strictest sense, it is clear that aberrant ion channel expression and activity make a significant contribution to the growth of breast cancer cells, and hence to breast cancer pathogenesis.

Uncontrolled cell proliferation in cancer cells is the result of acquiring the combined abilities to be *self-sufficient in growth factor signals* and *insensitive to anti*growth signals. The activities of  $K_V 10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8 channels appear to

113

contribute to basal MCF-7 cell proliferation and to contribute to progression through the  $G_1$  phase of the cell cycle. Cell proliferation in normal cells is controlled by either growth factor signal stimulation or anti-growth signal repression of the passage through the  $G_1$  phase of the cell cycle. Therefore, these results suggest that the activities of  $K_V 10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8 channels may contribute to the ability of cancer cells to be *self-sufficient in growth factor signals* and *insensitive to anti-growth signals* because these channels support unstimulated cell cycle progression through the  $G_1$  phase. Future research will help delineate the pathways used by  $K_V 10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8 channels to support these hallmark malignant phenotypes.

	Day								
Experiment	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
qRT-PCR; Western Blotting	Seed 5x10 <sup>4</sup> cells in 5% FBS MEM	Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 1% DCC- FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM, including indicated treatment	Collect RNA or protein for analysis		
Cell Counting	Seed 5x10 <sup>4</sup> cells in 5% FBS MEM	Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 1% DCC- FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM, including indicated treatment or siRNA			Detach cells and count cell number
[ <sup>3</sup> H]-thymidine incorporation or uptake	Seed 2.5x10 <sup>4</sup> cells in 5% FBS MEM	Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 1% DCC- FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM, including [ <sup>3</sup> H]- thymidine and indicated treatment		Extract and collect DNA for analysis	
Trypan blue exclusion assay	Seed 2.5x10 <sup>4</sup> cells in 5% FBS MEM	Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 1% DCC- FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM, including indicated treatment		Perform trypan blue exclusio n assay	
<sup>45</sup> Ca <sup>2+</sup> uptake	Seed 5x10 <sup>4</sup> cells in 5% FBS MEM	Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 1% DCC- FBS phenol red-free MEM		Change medium to 5% DCC-FBS phenol red-free MEM, including indicated treatment	Perform <sup>45</sup> Ca <sup>2+</sup> uptake assay		
siRNA transfections	Seed 5x10 <sup>4</sup> cells in 5%DCC-FBS pheonol-red free MEM with siRNA		Feed cells		Detach cells and count cell number				

 Table 1. MCF-7 cell seeding and feeding schedule.

115

Drug	Source	Stock concentration	Vehicle	Storage	Concentrations used
17β-estradiol (E2)	Sigma- Aldrich	100 µM	Ethanol	-20°C	1 pM – 1 μM
Astemizole	Sigma- Aldrich	100 mM	DMSO	-20°C	$0.3 - 30 \ \mu M$
BCTC	Biomol	30 mM	DMSO	-20°C	$0.01 - 30 \ \mu M$
Capsezapine	Sigma- Aldrich	100 mM	DMSO	-20°C	30 µM
Chromanol 293B	Sigma- Aldrich	100 mM	DMSO	-20°C	100 µM
Clotrimazole	Sigma- Aldrich	100 mM	Ethanol	-20°C	0.3 – 30 μM
E-4031	Sigma- Aldrich	3 mM	H <sub>2</sub> O	-20°C	3 μΜ
EBIO	Tocris bioscience	100 mM	DMSO	-20°C	100 µM
ERGtoxin	Alomone	1 μM	0.1% BSA, 100 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris	-20°C	300 nM
Glibenclamide	Sigma- Aldrich	100 mM	DMSO	-20°C	30 µM
Iberiotoxin	Sigma- Aldrich	10 µM	H <sub>2</sub> O	-20°C	100 nM
ICI182,780	Tocris bioscience	10 mM	DMSO	-20°C	1 nM
Icilin	Sigma- Aldrich	100 mM	DMSO	4°C	10 nM - 30 μM
Imipramine	Sigma- Aldrich	100 mM	H <sub>2</sub> O	-20°C	$3-20 \ \mu M$
NBTI	Sigma- Aldrich	10 mM	DMSO	-20°C	1 μM
Piperine	Sigma- Aldrich	100 mM	DMSO	-20°C	$1-100 \ \mu M$
Tamoxifen	Sigma- Aldrich	50 mM	DMSO	-20°C	1 nM
TRAM-34	Sigma- Aldrich	14.5 mM	DMSO	4°C	$0.1 - 30 \ \mu M$

Table 2. Drug information.

Gene Name (Protein name)	Primer Sequences	Annealing Temp.	Predicted Base Pair Size (bp)	Reference
KCNJ8 (K <sub>ir</sub> 6.1)	Forward 5' –CATCTTTACCATGTCCTTCC– 3' Reverse 5' –GTGAGCCTGAGCTGTTTTCA– 3'	52°C	336	(Curley <i>et al.</i> 2002)
KCNQ1 (K <sub>v</sub> 7.1)	Forward 5' –CCCAAGAAGTCTGTGGTGGT– 3' Reverse 5' –TGTCATAGCCGTCGACAGAG– 3'	60°C	154	(Roy <i>et al.</i> 2009)
KCNH1 (K <sub>v</sub> 10.1)	Forward 5' -GTGGTGGCCATTCTAGGAAA– 3' Reverse 5' -GGAGAAGGAATGGGAGAAGG– 3'	60°C	177	(Roy <i>et al.</i> 2008)
KCNH2 (K <sub>v</sub> 11.1)	Forward 5' –ATGTGACGGCGCTCTACTTC– 3' Reverse 5' –GAGTACAGCCGCTGGATGAT– 3'	60°C	172	(Roy <i>et al.</i> 2008)
KCNN4 (K <sub>Ca</sub> 3.1)	Forward 5' –CATCACATTCCTGACCATCG– 3' Reverse 5' –ACGTGCTTCTCTGCCTTGTT– 3'	60°C	158	(Brakemeier et al. 2003)
KCNMA1 (K <sub>Ca</sub> 1.1)	Forward 5'-GGAATGGGAGACGCTTCATA-3' Reverse 5'-CCTGCAGCGAAGTATCATCA-3'	60°C	153	(Roy <i>et al.</i> 2009)
ER-α	Forward 5'-AAGTTCAGGCACAATTGGATG -3' Reverse 5'-CCCTGCATGACACTGATTACA-3'	60°C	502	(Chen <i>et al.</i> 2003)
PR	Forward 5'-GAGAGCTCATCAAGGCAATTGG-3' Reverse 5'-CACCATCCCTGCCAATATCTTG-3'	60°C	226	(Roy <i>et al.</i> 2009)
TRPM8	Forward 5' – CCAGAGGTACTTCCTGGTGCAG– 3' Reverse 5' – CCTTGCAGCAACACTTGAAGC– 3'	62°C	115	(Fonfria <i>et al.</i> 2006)
TRPV1	Forward 5' – GCTCAGCCCGAGGAAGTT– 3' Reverse 5' – ACTCTTGAAGACCTCAGCGTC– 3'	60°C	114	(Sanchez <i>et al.</i> 2005)
Cyclin D1	Forward 5' – CCGCTGGCCATGAACTACCT– 3' Reverse 5' – ACGAAGGTCTGCGCGTGTT– 3'	60°C	304	N/A

### Table 3: PCR primer information.

Gene Name	Primer Sequences	Annealing Temp.	Predicted Base Pair Size (bp)	Reference
HPRT	Forward 5'-GCCAGACTTTGTTGGATTTG-3' Reverse 5'-CTCTCATCTTAGGCTTTGTATTTTG-3'	60°C	141	(Roy <i>et al.</i> 2006)
18S rRNA	Forward 5' – TTCGGAACTGAGGCCATGAT– 3' Reverse 5' – TTTCGCTCTGGTCCGTCTTG– 3'	60°C	100	N/A

N/A = not applicable; primers were designed specifically for the present study. bp = base pair.

Antibody	Name	Company	Host	Dilution
	K <sub>v</sub> 10.1	Alomone Labs, Jerusalem, Israel	Rabbit	1:200
1°	K <sub>v</sub> 11.1	Alomone Labs, Jerusalem, Israel	Rabbit	1:200
	TRPM8	Abcam, Cambridge, UK	Rabbit	1:500
	beta-Actin	Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA	Rabbit	1:2000
2°	Anti-Rabbit IgG secondary	Jackson Immunoresearch, West Grove, PA, USA	Goat	1:5,000 or 1:10,000

Table 4. Antibody information.

### REFERENCES

- Abdul, M. and N. Hoosein (2002a). "Expression and activity of potassium ion channels in human prostate cancer." *Cancer Lett* **186**(1): 99-105.
- Abdul, M. and N. Hoosein (2002b). "Voltage-gated potassium ion channels in colon cancer." *Oncol Rep* **9**(5): 961-964.
- Abdul, M., A. Santo and N. Hoosein (2003). "Activity of potassium channel-blockers in breast cancer." *Anticancer Res* 23(4): 3347-3351.
- Abukhdeir, A. M. and B. H. Park (2008). "P21 and p27: roles in carcinogenesis and drug resistance." *Expert Rev Mol Med* 10: e19.
- Agrotis, A., P. J. Little, J. Saltis and A. Bobik (1993). "Dihydropyridine Ca2+ channel antagonists inhibit the salvage pathway for DNA synthesis in human vascular smooth muscle cells." *Eur J Pharmacol* 244(3): 269-275.
- Aguilar-Bryan, L. and J. Bryan (1999). "Molecular biology of adenosine triphosphatesensitive potassium channels." *Endocr Rev* **20**(2): 101-135.
- Alexander, S. P., A. Mathie and J. A. Peters (2008). "Guide to Receptors and Channels (GRAC), 3rd edition." *Br J Pharmacol* **153 Suppl 2**: S1-209.
- Ali, S. and R. C. Coombes (2002). "Endocrine-responsive breast cancer and strategies for combating resistance." *Nat Rev Cancer* 2(2): 101-112.
- Aronica, S. M., W. L. Kraus and B. S. Katzenellenbogen (1994). "Estrogen action via the cAMP signaling pathway: stimulation of adenylate cyclase and cAMP-regulated gene transcription." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 91(18): 8517-8521.
- Ashcroft, F. M. (2000). <u>Ion channels and disease : channelopathies</u>. San Diego, Academic Press.
- Ashcroft, F. M. (2005). "ATP-sensitive potassium channelopathies: focus on insulin secretion." J Clin Invest 115(8): 2047-2058.
- Ashcroft, F. M. (2006). "From molecule to malady." Nature 440(7083): 440-447.
- Ataga, K. I., W. R. Smith, L. M. De Castro, P. Swerdlow, Y. Saunthararajah, O. Castro, E. Vichinsky, A. Kutlar, E. P. Orringer, G. C. Rigdon and J. W. Stocker (2008).
  "Efficacy and safety of the Gardos channel blocker, senicapoc (ICA-17043), in patients with sickle cell anemia." *Blood* 111(8): 3991-3997.

- Avila, E., R. Garcia-Becerra, J. A. Rodriguez-Rasgado, L. Diaz, D. Ordaz-Rosado, U. Zugel, A. Steinmeyer, D. Barrera, A. Halhali, F. Larrea and J. Camacho (2010).
   "Calcitriol down-regulates human ether a go-go 1 potassium channel expression in cervical cancer cells." *Anticancer Res* 30(7): 2667-2672.
- Aydar, E., S. Yeo, M. Djamgoz and C. Palmer (2009). "Abnormal expression, localization and interaction of canonical transient receptor potential ion channels in human breast cancer cell lines and tissues: a potential target for breast cancer diagnosis and therapy." *Cancer Cell Int* 9: 23.
- Baldwin, S. A., P. R. Beal, S. Y. Yao, A. E. King, C. E. Cass and J. D. Young (2004). "The equilibrative nucleoside transporter family, SLC29." *Pflugers Arch* 447(5): 735-743.
- Bauer, C. K. and J. R. Schwarz (2001). "Physiology of EAG K+ channels." *J Membr Biol* **182**(1): 1-15.
- Beeton, C., M. W. Pennington, H. Wulff, S. Singh, D. Nugent, G. Crossley, I. Khaytin, P. A. Calabresi, C. Y. Chen, G. A. Gutman and K. G. Chandy (2005). "Targeting effector memory T cells with a selective peptide inhibitor of Kv1.3 channels for therapy of autoimmune diseases." *Mol Pharmacol* 67(4): 1369-1381.
- Behrendt, H. J., T. Germann, C. Gillen, H. Hatt and R. Jostock (2004). "Characterization of the mouse cold-menthol receptor TRPM8 and vanilloid receptor type-1 VR1 using a fluorometric imaging plate reader (FLIPR) assay." *Br J Pharmacol* 141(4): 737-745.
- Bennett, E. S., B. A. Smith and J. M. Harper (2004). "Voltage-gated Na+ channels confer invasive properties on human prostate cancer cells." *Pflugers Arch* 447(6): 908-914.
- Berga, S. E. (1984). "Electrical potentials and cell-to-cell dye movement in mouse mammary gland during lactation." *Am J Physiol* **247**(1 Pt 1): C20-25.
- Berridge, M. J., M. D. Bootman and H. L. Roderick (2003). "Calcium signalling: dynamics, homeostasis and remodelling." *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 4(7): 517-529.
- Berridge, M. J., P. Lipp and M. D. Bootman (2000). "The versatility and universality of calcium signalling." *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 1(1): 11-21.
- Berry, J. (2005). "Are all aromatase inhibitors the same? A review of controlled clinical trials in breast cancer." *Clin Ther* **27**(11): 1671-1684.
- Berthois, Y., J. A. Katzenellenbogen and B. S. Katzenellenbogen (1986). "Phenol red in tissue culture media is a weak estrogen: implications concerning the study of estrogen-responsive cells in culture." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **83**(8): 2496-2500.

- Berx, G. and F. Van Roy (2001). "The E-cadherin/catenin complex: an important gatekeeper in breast cancer tumorigenesis and malignant progression." *Breast Cancer Res* **3**(5): 289-293.
- Bianchi, L., B. Wible, A. Arcangeli, M. Taglialatela, F. Morra, P. Castaldo, O. Crociani, B. Rosati, L. Faravelli, M. Olivotto and E. Wanke (1998). "herg encodes a K+ current highly conserved in tumors of different histogenesis: a selective advantage for cancer cells?" *Cancer Res* 58(4): 815-822.
- Bianco, S. D., J. B. Peng, H. Takanaga, Y. Suzuki, A. Crescenzi, C. H. Kos, L. Zhuang, M. R. Freeman, C. H. Gouveia, J. Wu, H. Luo, T. Mauro, E. M. Brown and M. A. Hediger (2007). "Marked disturbance of calcium homeostasis in mice with targeted disruption of the Trpv6 calcium channel gene." *J Bone Miner Res* 22(2): 274-285.
- Bidaux, G., M. Flourakis, S. Thebault, A. Zholos, B. Beck, D. Gkika, M. Roudbaraki, J. L. Bonnal, B. Mauroy, Y. Shuba, R. Skryma and N. Prevarskaya (2007). "Prostate cell differentiation status determines transient receptor potential melastatin member 8 channel subcellular localization and function." *J Clin Invest* 117(6): 1647-1657.
- Bidaux, G., M. Roudbaraki, C. Merle, A. Crepin, P. Delcourt, C. Slomianny, S. Thebault, J. L. Bonnal, M. Benahmed, F. Cabon, B. Mauroy and N. Prevarskaya (2005).
  "Evidence for specific TRPM8 expression in human prostate secretory epithelial cells: functional androgen receptor requirement." *Endocr Relat Cancer* 12(2): 367-382.
- Bjornstrom, L. and M. Sjoberg (2005). "Mechanisms of estrogen receptor signaling: convergence of genomic and nongenomic actions on target genes." *Mol Endocrinol* **19**(4): 833-842.
- Blaug, S., K. Hybiske, J. Cohn, G. L. Firestone, T. E. Machen and S. S. Miller (2001). "ENaC- and CFTR-dependent ion and fluid transport in mammary epithelia." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 281(2): C633-648.
- Blaug, S., J. Rymer, S. Jalickee and S. S. Miller (2003). "P2 purinoceptors regulate calcium-activated chloride and fluid transport in 31EG4 mammary epithelia." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 284(4): C897-909.
- Bocchinfuso, W. P. and K. S. Korach (1997). "Mammary gland development and tumorigenesis in estrogen receptor knockout mice." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **2**(4): 323-334.

Bodding, M. (2007). "TRP proteins and cancer." Cell Signal 19(3): 617-624.

- Bolanz, K. A., M. A. Hediger and C. P. Landowski (2008). "The role of TRPV6 in breast carcinogenesis." *Mol Cancer Ther* 7(2): 271-279.
- Bolanz, K. A., G. G. Kovacs, C. P. Landowski and M. A. Hediger (2009). "Tamoxifen inhibits TRPV6 activity via estrogen receptor-independent pathways in TRPV6expressing MCF-7 breast cancer cells." *Mol Cancer Res* 7(12): 2000-2010.
- Boron, W. F. (2004). "Regulation of intracellular pH." Adv Physiol Educ 28(1-4): 160-179.
- Borowiec, A. S., F. Hague, N. Harir, S. Guenin, F. Guerineau, F. Gouilleux, M. Roudbaraki, K. Lassoued and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2007). "IGF-1 activates hEAG K(+) channels through an Akt-dependent signaling pathway in breast cancer cells: role in cell proliferation." *J Cell Physiol* 212(3): 690-701.
- Bos, J. L. (1989). "ras oncogenes in human cancer: a review." *Cancer Res* **49**(17): 4682-4689.
- Bottinger, E. P., J. L. Jakubczak, D. C. Haines, K. Bagnall and L. M. Wakefield (1997). "Transgenic mice overexpressing a dominant-negative mutant type II transforming growth factor beta receptor show enhanced tumorigenesis in the mammary gland and lung in response to the carcinogen 7,12-dimethylbenz-[a]anthracene." *Cancer Res* 57(24): 5564-5570.
- Boudreau, N. and C. Myers (2003). "Breast cancer-induced angiogenesis: multiple mechanisms and the role of the microenvironment." *Breast Cancer Res* **5**(3): 140-146.
- Boulay, G., X. Zhu, M. Peyton, M. Jiang, R. Hurst, E. Stefani and L. Birnbaumer (1997).
  "Cloning and expression of a novel mammalian homolog of Drosophila transient receptor potential (Trp) involved in calcium entry secondary to activation of receptors coupled by the Gq class of G protein." *J Biol Chem* 272(47): 29672-29680.
- Bowley, K. A., J. E. Linley, G. G. Robins, S. Kopanati, M. Hunter and G. I. Sandle (2007). "Role of protein kinase C in aldosterone-induced non-genomic inhibition of basolateral potassium channels in human colonic crypts." *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* **104**(1-2): 45-52.
- Brakemeier, S., A. Kersten, I. Eichler, I. Grgic, A. Zakrzewicz, H. Hopp, R. Kohler and J. Hoyer (2003). "Shear stress-induced up-regulation of the intermediateconductance Ca(2+)-activated K(+) channel in human endothelium." *Cardiovasc Res* 60(3): 488-496.
- Brevet, M., N. Haren, H. Sevestre, P. Merviel and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2009). "DNA methylation of K(v)1.3 potassium channel gene promoter is associated with

poorly differentiated breast adenocarcinoma." *Cell Physiol Biochem* **24**(1-2): 25-32.

- Brismar, T. and V. P. Collins (1989). "Potassium and sodium channels in human malignant glioma cells." *Brain Res* **480**(1-2): 259-267.
- Brooks, S. C., E. R. Locke and H. D. Soule (1973). "Estrogen receptor in a human cell line (MCF-7) from breast carcinoma." *J Biol Chem* **248**(17): 6251-6253.
- Brugnara, C. (2003). "Sickle cell disease: from membrane pathophysiology to novel therapies for prevention of erythrocyte dehydration." *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol* **25**(12): 927-933.
- Brzozowski, A. M., A. C. Pike, Z. Dauter, R. E. Hubbard, T. Bonn, O. Engstrom, L. Ohman, G. L. Greene, J. A. Gustafsson and M. Carlquist (1997). "Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor." *Nature* 389(6652): 753-758.
- Bubien, J. K., K. L. Kirk, T. A. Rado and R. A. Frizzell (1990). "Cell cycle dependence of chloride permeability in normal and cystic fibrosis lymphocytes." *Science* 248(4961): 1416-1419.
- Burdall, S. E., A. M. Hanby, M. R. Lansdown and V. Speirs (2003). "Breast cancer cell lines: friend or foe?" *Breast Cancer Res* 5(2): 89-95.
- Cai, J. and C. W. Lee (1996). "Tamoxifen inhibits nitrobenzylthioinosine-sensitive equilibrative uridine transport in human MCF-7 breast cancer cells." *Biochem J* 320 (Pt 3): 991-995.
- Cai, R., X. Ding, K. Zhou, Y. Shi, R. Ge, G. Ren, Y. Jin and Y. Wang (2009). "Blockade of TRPC6 channels induced G2/M phase arrest and suppressed growth in human gastric cancer cells." *Int J Cancer* 125(10): 2281-2287.
- Cailleau, R., B. Mackay, R. K. Young and W. J. Reeves, Jr. (1974). "Tissue culture studies on pleural effusions from breast carcinoma patients." *Cancer Res* **34**(4): 801-809.
- Camacho, J., A. Sanchez, W. Stuhmer and L. A. Pardo (2000). "Cytoskeletal interactions determine the electrophysiological properties of human EAG potassium channels." *Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology* **441**(2-3): 167-174.
- Canadian Cancer Society. (2010). "Canadian Cancer Statistics 2010." Retrieved April 30, 2010, from <u>http://www.cancer.ca/Canada-wide/About%20cancer/Cancer%20statistics/~/media/CCS/Canada%20wide/Files</u> %20List/English%20files%20heading/pdf%20not%20in%20publications%20secti on/Stats%202009E%20Cdn%20Cancer.ashx.

- Capiod, T., Y. Shuba, R. Skryma and N. Prevarskaya (2007). "Calcium signalling and cancer cell growth." *Subcell Biochem* **45**: 405-427.
- Cass, C. E., E. Dahlig, E. Y. Lau, T. P. Lynch and A. R. Paterson (1979). "Fluctuations in nucleoside uptake and binding of the inhibitor of nucleoside transport, nitrobenzylthioinosine, during the replication cycle of HeLa cells." *Cancer Res* 39(4): 1245-1252.
- Charpentier, F., J. Merot, G. Loussouarn and I. Baro (2010). "Delayed rectifier K(+) currents and cardiac repolarization." *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **48**(1): 37-44.
- Chemin, J., A. Monteil, C. Briquaire, S. Richard, E. Perez-Reyes, J. Nargeot and P. Lory (2000). "Overexpression of T-type calcium channels in HEK-293 cells increases intracellular calcium without affecting cellular proliferation." *FEBS Lett* **478**(1-2): 166-172.
- Chen, J. S., N. Agarwal and K. Mehta (2002). "Multidrug-resistant MCF-7 breast cancer cells contain deficient intracellular calcium pools." *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **71**(3): 237-247.
- Chen, L. X., L. Y. Zhu, T. J. Jacob and L. W. Wang (2007). "Roles of volume-activated Cl- currents and regulatory volume decrease in the cell cycle and proliferation in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells." *Cell Prolif* **40**(2): 253-267.
- Chen, S. Z., M. Jiang and Y. S. Zhen (2005). "HERG K+ channel expression-related chemosensitivity in cancer cells and its modulation by erythromycin." *Cancer Chemother and Pharmacol* **56**(2): 212-220.
- Chen, W. F., M. H. Huang, C. H. Tzang, M. Yang and M. S. Wong (2003). "Inhibitory actions of genistein in human breast cancer (MCF-7) cells." *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1638**(2): 187-196.
- Cherubini, A., G. L. Taddei, O. Crociani, M. Paglierani, A. M. Buccoliero, L. Fontana, I. Noci, P. Borri, E. Borrani, M. Giachi, A. Becchetti, B. Rosati, E. Wanke, M. Olivotto and A. Arcangeli (2000). "HERG potassium channels are more frequently expressed in human endometrial cancer as compared to non-cancerous endometrium." *Br J Cancer* 83(12): 1722-1729.
- Chodon, D., A. Guilbert, I. Dhennin-Duthille, M. Gautier, M. S. Telliez, H. Sevestre and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2010). "Estrogen regulation of TRPM8 expression in breast cancer cells." *BMC Cancer* **10**: 212.
- Chou, C. C., C. A. Lunn and N. J. Murgolo (2008). "KCa3.1: target and marker for cancer, autoimmune disorder and vascular inflammation?" *Expert Rev Mol Diagn* 8(2): 179-187.

- Ciarloni, L., S. Mallepell and C. Brisken (2007). "Amphiregulin is an essential mediator of estrogen receptor alpha function in mammary gland development." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **104**(13): 5455-5460.
- Clapham, D. E., D. Julius, C. Montell and G. Schultz (2005). "International Union of Pharmacology. XLIX. Nomenclature and structure-function relationships of transient receptor potential channels." *Pharmacol Rev* 57(4): 427-450.
- Clarke, R. B., A. Howell, C. S. Potten and E. Anderson (1997). "Dissociation between steroid receptor expression and cell proliferation in the human breast." *Cancer Res* **57**(22): 4987-4991.
- Coiret, G., A. S. Borowiec, P. Mariot, H. Ouadid-Ahidouch and F. Matifat (2007). "The antiestrogen tamoxifen activates BK channels and stimulates proliferation of MCF-7 breast cancer cells." *Mol Pharmacol* 71(3): 843-851.
- Coiret, G., F. Matifat, F. Hague and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2005). "17-beta-estradiol activates maxi-K channels through a non-genomic pathway in human breast cancer cells." *FEBS Lett* **579**(14): 2995-3000.
- Colburn, R. W., M. L. Lubin, D. J. Stone, Jr., Y. Wang, D. Lawrence, M. R. D'Andrea, M. R. Brandt, Y. Liu, C. M. Flores and N. Qin (2007). "Attenuated cold sensitivity in TRPM8 null mice." *Neuron* 54(3): 379-386.
- Conlon, I. and M. Raff (2003). "Differences in the way a mammalian cell and yeast cells coordinate cell growth and cell-cycle progression." *J Biol* **2**(1): 7.
- Copeland, E., J. Roy, P. Linsdell and E. Cowley (2010). "Transient receptor potential channel mRNA expression in MCF-7 cells."
- Couse, J. F., S. Curtis Hewitt and K. S. Korach (2000). "Receptor null mice reveal contrasting roles for estrogen receptor alpha and beta in reproductive tissues." *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* **74**(5): 287-296.
- Cowie, A. T. and W. R. Lyons (2009). "Mammogenesis and lactogenesis in hypophysectomized, ovariectomized, adrenalectomized rats. 1959." J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 14(3): 321-325.
- Cowley, E. A. and P. Linsdell (2002). "Characterization of basolateral K+ channels underlying anion secretion in the human airway cell line Calu-3." *J Physiol* **538**(Pt 3): 747-757.
- Crociani, O., L. Guasti, M. Balzi, A. Becchetti, E. Wanke, M. Olivotto, R. S. Wymore and A. Arcangeli (2003). "Cell cycle-dependent expression of HERG1 and HERG1B isoforms in tumor cells." *J Biol Chem* **278**(5): 2947-2955.

- Cui, J., H. Yang and U. S. Lee (2009). "Molecular mechanisms of BK channel activation." *Cell Mol Life Sci* 66(5): 852-875.
- Cunha, G. R., P. Young, Y. K. Hom, P. S. Cooke, J. A. Taylor and D. B. Lubahn (1997).
  "Elucidation of a role for stromal steroid hormone receptors in mammary gland growth and development using tissue recombinants." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* 2(4): 393-402.
- Curley, M., M. T. Cairns, A. M. Friel, O. M. McMeel, J. J. Morrison and T. J. Smith (2002). "Expression of mRNA transcripts for ATP-sensitive potassium channels in human myometrium." *Mol Hum Reprod* 8(10): 941-945.
- Curtis Hewitt, S., J. F. Couse and K. S. Korach (2000). "Estrogen receptor transcription and transactivation: Estrogen receptor knockout mice: what their phenotypes reveal about mechanisms of estrogen action." *Breast Cancer Res* **2**(5): 345-352.
- Cuthbert, A. W., M. E. Hickman, P. Thorn and L. J. MacVinish (1999). "Activation of Ca(2+)- and cAMP-sensitive K(+) channels in murine colonic epithelia by 1-ethyl-2-benzimidazolone." *Am J Physiol* **277**(1 Pt 1): C111-120.
- Dahlman-Wright, K., V. Cavailles, S. A. Fuqua, V. C. Jordan, J. A. Katzenellenbogen, K. S. Korach, A. Maggi, M. Muramatsu, M. G. Parker and J. A. Gustafsson (2006).
  "International Union of Pharmacology. LXIV. Estrogen receptors." *Pharmacol Rev* 58(4): 773-781.
- Daniel, C. W., G. B. Silberstein and P. Strickland (1987). "Direct action of 17 betaestradiol on mouse mammary ducts analyzed by sustained release implants and steroid autoradiography." *Cancer Res* **47**(22): 6052-6057.
- Darne, J., H. H. McGarrigle and G. C. Lachelin (1987). "Saliva oestriol, oestradiol, oestrone and progesterone levels in pregnancy: spontaneous labour at term is preceded by a rise in the saliva oestriol:progesterone ratio." *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 94(3): 227-235.
- DeBaun, M. R. and M. A. Tucker (1998). "Risk of cancer during the first four years of life in children from The Beckwith-Wiedemann Syndrome Registry." J Pediatr 132(3 Pt 1): 398-400.
- DeCoursey, T. E., K. G. Chandy, S. Gupta and M. D. Cahalan (1984). "Voltage-gated K+ channels in human T lymphocytes: a role in mitogenesis?" *Nature* **307**(5950): 465-468.
- Dedek, K. and S. Waldegger (2001). "Colocalization of KCNQ1/KCNE channel subunits in the mouse gastrointestinal tract." *Pflugers Arch* **442**(6): 896-902.

- Deeds, J., F. Cronin and L. M. Duncan (2000). "Patterns of melastatin mRNA expression in melanocytic tumors." *Hum Pathol* 31(11): 1346-1356.
- Dent, S., S. Verma, J. Latreille, D. Rayson, M. Clemons, J. Mackey, S. Verma, J. Lemieux, L. Provencher, S. Chia, B. Wang and K. Pritchard (2009). "The role of her2-targeted therapies in women with her2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer." *Curr Oncol* 16(4): 25-35.
- Devor, D. C., A. K. Singh, R. A. Frizzell and R. J. Bridges (1996). "Modulation of Clsecretion by benzimidazolones. I. Direct activation of a Ca(2+)-dependent K+ channel." *Am J Physiol* 271(5 Pt 1): L775-784.
- Devor, D. C., A. K. Singh, L. C. Lambert, A. DeLuca, R. A. Frizzell and R. J. Bridges (1999). "Bicarbonate and chloride secretion in Calu-3 human airway epithelial cells." J Gen Physiol 113(5): 743-760.
- Dhaka, A., A. N. Murray, J. Mathur, T. J. Earley, M. J. Petrus and A. Patapoutian (2007). "TRPM8 is required for cold sensation in mice." *Neuron* **54**(3): 371-378.
- Dickson, C., V. Fantl, C. Gillett, S. Brookes, J. Bartek, R. Smith, C. Fisher, D. Barnes and G. Peters (1995). "Amplification of chromosome band 11q13 and a role for cyclin D1 in human breast cancer." *Cancer Lett* **90**(1): 43-50.
- Dietrich, A. and T. Gudermann (2007). "Trpc6." Handb Exp Pharmacol(179): 125-141.
- Ding, X., Z. He, Y. Shi, Q. Wang and Y. Wang (2010a). "Targeting TRPC6 channels in oesophageal carcinoma growth." *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 14(5): 513-527.
- Ding, X., Z. He, K. Zhou, J. Cheng, H. Yao, D. Lu, R. Cai, Y. Jin, B. Dong, Y. Xu and Y. Wang (2010b). "Essential role of TRPC6 channels in G2/M phase transition and development of human glioma." *J Natl Cancer Inst* 102(14): 1052-1068.
- Doisneau-Sixou, S. F., C. M. Sergio, J. S. Carroll, R. Hui, E. A. Musgrove and R. L. Sutherland (2003). "Estrogen and antiestrogen regulation of cell cycle progression in breast cancer cells." *Endocr Relat Cancer* 10(2): 179-186.
- Douglass, J., P. B. Osborne, Y. C. Cai, M. Wilkinson, M. J. Christie and J. P. Adelman (1990). "Characterization and functional expression of a rat genomic DNA clone encoding a lymphocyte potassium channel." *J Immunol* 144(12): 4841-4850.
- Dubin, A. E., M. M. Liles and G. L. Harris (1998). "The K+ channel gene ether a go-go is required for the transduction of a subset of odorants in adult Drosophila melanogaster." *J Neurosci* **18**(15): 5603-5613.
- Dubois, J. M. and B. Rouzaire-Dubois (2004). "The influence of cell volume changes on tumour cell proliferation." *Eur Biophys J* **33**(3): 227-232.
- Duncan, L. M., J. Deeds, F. E. Cronin, M. Donovan, A. J. Sober, M. Kauffman and J. J. McCarthy (2001). "Melastatin expression and prognosis in cutaneous malignant melanoma." J Clin Oncol 19(2): 568-576.
- Eichhorn, B. and D. Dobrev (2007). "Vascular large conductance calcium-activated potassium channels: functional role and therapeutic potential." *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **376**(3): 145-155.
- El Boustany, C., G. Bidaux, A. Enfissi, P. Delcourt, N. Prevarskaya and T. Capiod (2008). "Capacitative calcium entry and transient receptor potential canonical 6 expression control human hepatoma cell proliferation." *Hepatology* 47(6): 2068-2077.
- El Hiani, Y., A. Ahidouch, V. Lehen'kyi, F. Hague, F. Gouilleux, R. Mentaverri, S. Kamel, K. Lassoued, G. Brule and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2009a). "Extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 and TRPC1 channels are required for calcium-sensing receptor-stimulated MCF-7 breast cancer cell proliferation." *Cell Physiol Biochem* 23(4-6): 335-346.
- El Hiani, Y., A. Ahidouch, M. Roudbaraki, S. Guenin, G. Brule and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2006). "Calcium-sensing receptor stimulation induces nonselective cation channel activation in breast cancer cells." *J Membr Biol* **211**(2): 127-137.
- El Hiani, Y., V. Lehen'kyi, H. Ouadid-Ahidouch and A. Ahidouch (2009b). "Activation of the calcium-sensing receptor by high calcium induced breast cancer cell proliferation and TRPC1 cation channel over-expression potentially through EGFR pathways." *Arch Biochem Biophys* **486**(1): 58-63.
- Engel, L. W. and N. A. Young (1978). "Human breast carcinoma cells in continuous culture: a review." *Cancer Res* **38**(11 Pt 2): 4327-4339.
- Enmark, E. and J. A. Gustafsson (1999). "Oestrogen receptors an overview." *J Intern Med* **246**(2): 133-138.
- Enomoto, K., K. Furuya, T. Maeno, C. Edwards and T. Oka (1987). "Mechanically induced electrical responses in murine mammary epithelial cells in primary culture." *FEBS Lett* **223**(1): 82-86.
- Enomoto, K., K. Furuya, T. Maeno, C. Edwards and T. Oka (1991). "Oscillating activity of a calcium-activated K+ channel in normal and cancerous mammary cells in culture." *J Membr Biol* **119**(2): 133-139.
- Evans, T., E. T. Rosenthal, J. Youngblom, D. Distel and T. Hunt (1983). "Cyclin: a protein specified by maternal mRNA in sea urchin eggs that is destroyed at each cleavage division." *Cell* **33**(2): 389-396.

- Fang, D. and V. Setaluri (2000). "Expression and Up-regulation of alternatively spliced transcripts of melastatin, a melanoma metastasis-related gene, in human melanoma cells." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 279(1): 53-61.
- Fanger, C. M., S. Ghanshani, N. J. Logsdon, H. Rauer, K. Kalman, J. Zhou, K. Beckingham, K. G. Chandy, M. D. Cahalan and J. Aiyar (1999). "Calmodulin mediates calcium-dependent activation of the intermediate conductance KCa channel, IKCa1." *J Biol Chem* 274(9): 5746-5754.
- Fantl, V., R. Smith, S. Brookes, C. Dickson and G. Peters (1993). "Chromosome 11q13 abnormalities in human breast cancer." *Cancer Surv* 18: 77-94.
- Faouzi, M., V. Chopin, A. Ahidouch and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2010). "Intermediate Ca2+-sensitive K+ channels are necessary for prolactin-induced proliferation in breast cancer cells." *J Membr Biol* 234(1): 47-56.
- Farias, L. M., D. B. Ocana, L. Diaz, F. Larrea, E. Avila-Chavez, A. Cadena, L. M. Hinojosa, G. Lara, L. A. Villanueva, C. Vargas, E. Hernandez-Gallegos, I. Camacho-Arroyo, A. Duenas-Gonzalez, E. Perez-Cardenas, L. A. Pardo, A. Morales, L. Taja-Chayeb, J. Escamilla, C. Sanchez-Pena and J. Camacho (2004). "Ether a go-go potassium channels as human cervical cancer markers." *Cancer Res* 64(19): 6996-7001.
- Felipe, A., R. Vicente, N. Villalonga, M. Roura-Ferrer, R. Martinez-Marmol, L. Sole, J. C. Ferreres and E. Condom (2006). "Potassium channels: new targets in cancer therapy." *Cancer Detect and Prev* **30**(4): 375-385.
- Fendrick, J. L., A. M. Raafat and S. Z. Haslam (1998). "Mammary gland growth and development from the postnatal period to postmenopause: ovarian steroid receptor ontogeny and regulation in the mouse." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* 3(1): 7-22.
- Filardo, E. J., J. A. Quinn, A. R. Frackelton, Jr. and K. I. Bland (2002). "Estrogen action via the G protein-coupled receptor, GPR30: stimulation of adenylyl cyclase and cAMP-mediated attenuation of the epidermal growth factor receptor-to-MAPK signaling axis." *Mol Endocrinol* 16(1): 70-84.
- Fixemer, T., U. Wissenbach, V. Flockerzi and H. Bonkhoff (2003). "Expression of the Ca2+-selective cation channel TRPV6 in human prostate cancer: a novel prognostic marker for tumor progression." *Oncogene* 22(49): 7858-7861.
- Flores, C. A., J. E. Melvin, C. D. Figueroa and F. V. Sepulveda (2007). "Abolition of Ca2+-mediated intestinal anion secretion and increased stool dehydration in mice lacking the intermediate conductance Ca2+-dependent K+ channel Kcnn4." J Physiol 583(Pt 2): 705-717.

- Flouriot, G., H. Brand, S. Denger, R. Metivier, M. Kos, G. Reid, V. Sonntag-Buck and F. Gannon (2000). "Identification of a new isoform of the human estrogen receptoralpha (hER-alpha) that is encoded by distinct transcripts and that is able to repress hER-alpha activation function 1." *EMBO J* 19(17): 4688-4700.
- Fonfria, E., P. R. Murdock, F. S. Cusdin, C. D. Benham, R. E. Kelsell and S. McNulty (2006). "Tissue distribution profiles of the human TRPM cation channel family." *J Recept Signal Transduct Res* 26(3): 159-178.
- Forster, C., S. Makela, A. Warri, S. Kietz, D. Becker, K. Hultenby, M. Warner and J. A. Gustafsson (2002). "Involvement of estrogen receptor beta in terminal differentiation of mammary gland epithelium." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 99(24): 15578-15583.
- Fraser, S. P., J. K. Diss, A. M. Chioni, M. E. Mycielska, H. Pan, R. F. Yamaci, F. Pani, Z. Siwy, M. Krasowska, Z. Grzywna, W. J. Brackenbury, D. Theodorou, M. Koyuturk, H. Kaya, E. Battaloglu, M. T. De Bella, M. J. Slade, R. Tolhurst, C. Palmieri, J. Jiang, D. S. Latchman, R. C. Coombes and M. B. Djamgoz (2005). "Voltage-gated sodium channel expression and potentiation of human breast cancer metastasis." *Clin Cancer Res* 11(15): 5381-5389.
- Fraser, S. P., J. K. Diss, L. J. Lloyd, F. Pani, A. M. Chioni, A. J. George and M. B. Djamgoz (2004). "T-lymphocyte invasiveness: control by voltage-gated Na+ channel activity." *FEBS Lett* 569(1-3): 191-194.
- Fraser, S. P., J. A. Grimes, J. K. Diss, D. Stewart, J. O. Dolly and M. B. Djamgoz (2003a). "Predominant expression of Kv1.3 voltage-gated K+ channel subunit in rat prostate cancer cell lines: electrophysiological, pharmacological and molecular characterisation." *Pflugers Arch* 446(5): 559-571.
- Fraser, S. P., V. Salvador, E. A. Manning, J. Mizal, S. Altun, M. Raza, R. J. Berridge and M. B. Djamgoz (2003b). "Contribution of functional voltage-gated Na+ channel expression to cell behaviors involved in the metastatic cascade in rat prostate cancer: I. Lateral motility." *J Cell Physiol* 195(3): 479-487.
- Freed, K. A. and A. C. Herington (1989). "Insulin-like growth factor-I and its autocrine role in growth of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells in culture." *J Mol Endocrinol* 3(3): 183-190.
- Freedman, B. D., M. A. Price and C. J. Deutsch (1992). "Evidence for voltage modulation of IL-2 production in mitogen-stimulated human peripheral blood lymphocytes." *J Immunol* 149(12): 3784-3794.
- Friday, E., R. Oliver, 3rd, T. Welbourne and F. Turturro (2007). "Role of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)-signaling versus cellular acidosis via Na+/H+

exchanger1(NHE1)-inhibition in troglitazone-induced growth arrest of breast cancer-derived cells MCF-7." *Cell Physiol Biochem* **20**(6): 751-762.

- Frings, S., N. Brull, C. Dzeja, A. Angele, V. Hagen, U. B. Kaupp and A. Baumann (1998). "Characterization of ether-a-go-go channels present in photoreceptors reveals similarity to IKx, a K+ current in rod inner segments." J Gen Physiol 111(4): 583-599.
- Fuqua, S. A., R. Schiff, I. Parra, W. E. Friedrichs, J. L. Su, D. D. McKee, K. Slentz-Kesler, L. B. Moore, T. M. Willson and J. T. Moore (1999). "Expression of wildtype estrogen receptor beta and variant isoforms in human breast cancer." *Cancer Res* 59(21): 5425-5428.
- Furuya, K., K. Enomoto, S. Furuya, S. Yamagishi, C. Edwards and T. Oka (1989). "Single calcium-activated potassium channel in cultured mammary epithelial cells." *Pflugers Arch* **414**(2): 118-124.
- Ganetzky, B. and C. F. Wu (1983). "Neurogenetic analysis of potassium currents in Drosophila: synergistic effects on neuromuscular transmission in double mutants." *J Neurogenet* 1(1): 17-28.
- Gao, R., Y. Shen, J. Cai, M. Lei and Z. Wang (2010). "Expression of voltage-gated sodium channel alpha subunit in human ovarian cancer." Oncol Rep 23(5): 1293-1299.
- Garcia-Becerra, R., L. Diaz, J. Camacho, D. Barrera, D. Ordaz-Rosado, A. Morales, C. S. Ortiz, E. Avila, E. Bargallo, M. Arrecillas, A. Halhali and F. Larrea (2010).
  "Calcitriol inhibits Ether-a go-go potassium channel expression and cell proliferation in human breast cancer cells." *Exp Cell Res* 316(3): 433-442.
- Garcia-Ferreiro, R. E., D. Kerschensteiner, F. Major, F. Monje, W. Stuhmer and L. A. Pardo (2004). "Mechanism of block of hEag1 K+ channels by imipramine and astemizole." *J Gen Physiol* **124**(4): 301-317.
- Gavrilova-Ruch, O., K. Schonherr, G. Gessner, R. Schonherr, T. Klapperstuck, W. Wohlrab and S. H. Heinemann (2002). "Effects of imipramine on ion channels and proliferation of IGR1 melanoma cells." *J Membr Biol* 188(2): 137-149.
- Gavrilova-Ruch, O., R. Schonherr and S. H. Heinemann (2007). "Activation of hEAG1 potassium channels by arachidonic acid." *Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology* **453**(6): 891-903.
- Gerlach, A. C., N. N. Gangopadhyay and D. C. Devor (2000). "Kinase-dependent regulation of the intermediate conductance, calcium-dependent potassium channel, hIK1." *J Biol Chem* **275**(1): 585-598.

- Ghanshani, S., H. Wulff, M. J. Miller, H. Rohm, A. Neben, G. A. Gutman, M. D. Cahalan and K. G. Chandy (2000). "Up-regulation of the IKCa1 potassium channel during T-cell activation. Molecular mechanism and functional consequences." *J Biol Chem* 275(47): 37137-37149.
- Ghatta, S., D. Nimmagadda, X. Xu and S. T. O'Rourke (2006). "Large-conductance, calcium-activated potassium channels: structural and functional implications." *Pharmacol Ther* **110**(1): 103-116.
- Ghiani, C. A., X. Yuan, A. M. Eisen, P. L. Knutson, R. A. DePinho, C. J. McBain and V. Gallo (1999). "Voltage-activated K+ channels and membrane depolarization regulate accumulation of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p27(Kip1) and p21(CIP1) in glial progenitor cells." *J Neurosci* 19(13): 5380-5392.
- Goh, L. B. and C. W. Lee (1997). "Reduction of equilibrative nitrobenzylthioinosinesensitive nucleoside transporter in tamoxifen-treated MCF-7 cells: an oestrogenreversible phenomenon." *Biochem J* 327 (Pt 1): 31-36.
- Gomez-Varela, D., E. Zwick-Wallasch, H. Knotgen, A. Sanchez, T. Hettmann, D. Ossipov, R. Weseloh, C. Contreras-Jurado, M. Rothe, W. Stuhmer and L. A. Pardo (2007). "Monoclonal antibody blockade of the human Eag1 potassium channel function exerts antitumor activity." *Cancer Res* 67(15): 7343-7349.
- Gray, J. H., R. P. Owen and K. M. Giacomini (2004). "The concentrative nucleoside transporter family, SLC28." *Pflugers Arch* **447**(5): 728-734.
- Green, S., P. Walter, V. Kumar, A. Krust, J. M. Bornert, P. Argos and P. Chambon (1986). "Human oestrogen receptor cDNA: sequence, expression and homology to v-erb-A." *Nature* **320**(6058): 134-139.
- Greene, G. L., P. Gilna, M. Waterfield, A. Baker, Y. Hort and J. Shine (1986). "Sequence and expression of human estrogen receptor complementary DNA." *Science* 231(4742): 1150-1154.
- Grgic, I., I. Eichler, P. Heinau, H. Si, S. Brakemeier, J. Hoyer and R. Kohler (2005). "Selective blockade of the intermediate-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channel suppresses proliferation of microvascular and macrovascular endothelial cells and angiogenesis in vivo." *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 25(4): 704-709.
- Griffiths, J. R. (1991). "Are cancer cells acidic?" Br J Cancer 64(3): 425-427.
- Griffiths, M., S. Y. Yao, F. Abidi, S. E. Phillips, C. E. Cass, J. D. Young and S. A. Baldwin (1997). "Molecular cloning and characterization of a nitrobenzylthioinosine-insensitive (ei) equilibrative nucleoside transporter from human placenta." *Biochem J* 328 (Pt 3): 739-743.

- Grissmer, S., A. N. Nguyen, J. Aiyar, D. C. Hanson, R. J. Mather, G. A. Gutman, M. J. Karmilowicz, D. D. Auperin and K. G. Chandy (1994). "Pharmacological characterization of five cloned voltage-gated K+ channels, types Kv1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.5, and 3.1, stably expressed in mammalian cell lines." *Mol Pharmacol* 45(6): 1227-1234.
- Grodin, J. M., P. K. Siiteri and P. C. MacDonald (1973). "Source of estrogen production in postmenopausal women." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **36**(2): 207-214.
- Guilbert, A., I. Dhennin-Duthille, Y. E. Hiani, N. Haren, H. Khorsi, H. Sevestre, A. Ahidouch and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2008). "Expression of TRPC6 channels in human epithelial breast cancer cells." *BMC Cancer* 8: 125.
- Guilbert, A., M. Gautier, I. Dhennin-Duthille, N. Haren, H. Sevestre and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch (2009). "Evidence that TRPM7 is required for breast cancer cell proliferation." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **297**(3): C493-502.
- Gurkan, S., G. K. Estilo, Y. Wei and L. M. Satlin (2007). "Potassium transport in the maturing kidney." *Pediatr Nephrol* 22(7): 915-925.
- Gutman, G. A., K. G. Chandy, S. Grissmer, M. Lazdunski, D. McKinnon, L. A. Pardo, G. A. Robertson, B. Rudy, M. C. Sanguinetti, W. Stuhmer and X. Wang (2005).
  "International Union of Pharmacology. LIII. Nomenclature and molecular relationships of voltage-gated potassium channels." *Pharmacol Rev* 57(4): 473-508.
- Hanahan, D. and R. A. Weinberg (2000). "The hallmarks of cancer." Cell 100(1): 57-70.
- Hayden, T. J., R. C. Bonney and I. A. Forsyth (1979). "Ontogeny and control of prolactin receptors in the mammary gland and liver of virgin, pregnant and lactating rats." J Endocrinol 80(2): 259-269.
- Heldring, N., A. Pike, S. Andersson, J. Matthews, G. Cheng, J. Hartman, M. Tujague, A. Strom, E. Treuter, M. Warner and J. A. Gustafsson (2007). "Estrogen receptors: how do they signal and what are their targets." *Physiol Rev* 87(3): 905-931.
- Hemmerlein, B., R. M. Weseloh, F. Mello de Queiroz, H. Knotgen, A. Sanchez, M. E. Rubio, S. Martin, T. Schliephacke, M. Jenke, R. Heinz Joachim, W. Stuhmer and L. A. Pardo (2006). "Overexpression of Eag1 potassium channels in clinical tumours." *Mol Cancer* 5: 41.
- Hille, B. (2001). Ion channels of excitable membranes. Sunderland, Mass., Sinauer.
- Hoenderop, J. G., B. Nilius and R. J. Bindels (2005). "Calcium absorption across epithelia." *Physiol Rev* **85**(1): 373-422.

- Hoenderop, J. G., R. Vennekens, D. Muller, J. Prenen, G. Droogmans, R. J. Bindels and B. Nilius (2001). "Function and expression of the epithelial Ca(2+) channel family: comparison of mammalian ECaC1 and 2." *J Physiol* **537**(Pt 3): 747-761.
- Hoffmann, E. K., I. H. Lambert and S. F. Pedersen (2009). "Physiology of cell volume regulation in vertebrates." *Physiol Rev* **89**(1): 193-277.
- Hofmann, T., A. G. Obukhov, M. Schaefer, C. Harteneck, T. Gudermann and G. Schultz (1999). "Direct activation of human TRPC6 and TRPC3 channels by diacylglycerol." *Nature* 397(6716): 259-263.
- Hofmann, T., M. Schaefer, G. Schultz and T. Gudermann (2000). "Transient receptor potential channels as molecular substrates of receptor-mediated cation entry." J Mol Med 78(1): 14-25.
- Horne, M. C., G. L. Goolsby, K. L. Donaldson, D. Tran, M. Neubauer and A. F. Wahl (1996). "Cyclin G1 and cyclin G2 comprise a new family of cyclins with contrasting tissue-specific and cell cycle-regulated expression." J Biol Chem 271(11): 6050-6061.
- Horwitz, K. B., M. E. Costlow and W. L. McGuire (1975). "MCF-7; a human breast cancer cell line with estrogen, androgen, progesterone, and glucocorticoid receptors." *Steroids* **26**(6): 785-795.
- Horwitz, K. B., D. T. Zava, A. K. Thilagar, E. M. Jensen and W. L. McGuire (1978). "Steroid receptor analyses of nine human breast cancer cell lines." *Cancer Res* 38(8): 2434-2437.
- Hui, K., Y. Guo and Z. P. Feng (2005). "Biophysical properties of menthol-activated cold receptor TRPM8 channels." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 333(2): 374-382.
- Imagawa, W., G. K. Bandyopadhyay and S. Nandi (1990). "Regulation of mammary epithelial cell growth in mice and rats." *Endocr Rev* **11**(4): 494-523.
- Imai, Y., C. K. Leung, H. G. Friesen and R. P. Shiu (1982). "Epidermal growth factor receptors and effect of epidermal growth factor on growth of human breast cancer cells in long-term tissue culture." *Cancer Res* 42(11): 4394-4398.
- Improta-Brears, T., A. R. Whorton, F. Codazzi, J. D. York, T. Meyer and D. P. McDonnell (1999). "Estrogen-induced activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase requires mobilization of intracellular calcium." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**(8): 4686-4691.
- Ishii, T. M., C. Silvia, B. Hirschberg, C. T. Bond, J. P. Adelman and J. Maylie (1997). "A human intermediate conductance calcium-activated potassium channel." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94(21): 11651-11656.

- Jager, H., T. Dreker, A. Buck, K. Giehl, T. Gress and S. Grissmer (2004). "Blockage of intermediate-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channels inhibit human pancreatic cancer cell growth in vitro." *Mol Pharmacol* 65(3): 630-638.
- James, V. H., J. M. McNeill, L. C. Lai, C. J. Newton, M. W. Ghilchik and M. J. Reed (1987). "Aromatase activity in normal breast and breast tumor tissues: in vivo and in vitro studies." *Steroids* 50(1-3): 269-279.
- Jang, S. H., K. S. Kang, P. D. Ryu and S. Y. Lee (2009). "Kv1.3 voltage-gated K(+) channel subunit as a potential diagnostic marker and therapeutic target for breast cancer." *BMB Rep* **42**(8): 535-539.
- Jensen, B. S., D. Strobaek, P. Christophersen, T. D. Jorgensen, C. Hansen, A. Silahtaroglu, S. P. Olesen and P. K. Ahring (1998). "Characterization of the cloned human intermediate-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channel." Am J Physiol 275(3 Pt 1): C848-856.
- Jensen, H. M. (1986). "On the origin and progression of human breast cancer." *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **154**(6): 1280-1284.
- Jespersen, T., M. Grunnet and S. P. Olesen (2005). "The KCNQ1 potassium channel: from gene to physiological function." *Physiology (Bethesda)* **20**: 408-416.
- Joiner, W. J., L. Y. Wang, M. D. Tang and L. K. Kaczmarek (1997). "hSK4, a member of a novel subfamily of calcium-activated potassium channels." *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA **94**(20): 11013-11018.
- Jordan, C. (2002). "Historical perspective on hormonal therapy of advanced breast cancer." *Clin Ther* 24 Suppl A: A3-16.
- Kaczorowski, G. J., H. G. Knaus, R. J. Leonard, O. B. McManus and M. L. Garcia (1996). "High-conductance calcium-activated potassium channels; structure, pharmacology, and function." *J Bioenerg Biomembr* 28(3): 255-267.
- Kahl, C. R. and A. R. Means (2003). "Regulation of cell cycle progression by calcium/calmodulin-dependent pathways." *Endocr Rev* 24(6): 719-736.
- Kaplan, D. L. and W. F. Boron (1994). "Long-term expression of c-H-ras stimulates Na-H and Na(+)-dependent Cl-HCO3 exchange in NIH-3T3 fibroblasts." *J Biol Chem* 269(6): 4116-4124.
- Kato, S., H. Endoh, Y. Masuhiro, T. Kitamoto, S. Uchiyama, H. Sasaki, S. Masushige, Y. Gotoh, E. Nishida, H. Kawashima, D. Metzger and P. Chambon (1995).
  "Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogenactivated protein kinase." *Science* 270(5241): 1491-1494.

- Key, T. J., P. K. Verkasalo and E. Banks (2001). "Epidemiology of breast cancer." Lancet Oncol 2(3): 133-140.
- Keydar, I., L. Chen, S. Karby, F. R. Weiss, J. Delarea, M. Radu, S. Chaitcik and H. J. Brenner (1979). "Establishment and characterization of a cell line of human breast carcinoma origin." *Eur J Cancer* 15(5): 659-670.
- Khaitan, D., U. T. Sankpal, B. Weksler, E. A. Meister, I. A. Romero, P. O. Couraud and N. S. Ningaraj (2009). "Role of KCNMA1 gene in breast cancer invasion and metastasis to brain." *BMC Cancer* 9: 258.
- Kim, S. H., J. H. Nam, E. J. Park, B. J. Kim, S. J. Kim, I. So and J. H. Jeon (2009). "Menthol regulates TRPM8-independent processes in PC-3 prostate cancer cells." *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1792(1): 33-38.
- King, A. E., M. A. Ackley, C. E. Cass, J. D. Young and S. A. Baldwin (2006). "Nucleoside transporters: from scavengers to novel therapeutic targets." *Trends Pharmacol Sci* 27(8): 416-425.
- Klein-Hitpass, L., G. U. Ryffel, E. Heitlinger and A. C. Cato (1988). "A 13 bp palindrome is a functional estrogen responsive element and interacts specifically with estrogen receptor." *Nucleic Acids Res* **16**(2): 647-663.
- Kleinberg, D. L., M. Feldman and W. Ruan (2000). "IGF-I: an essential factor in terminal end bud formation and ductal morphogenesis." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **5**(1): 7-17.
- Klimatcheva, E. and W. F. Wonderlin (1999). "An ATP-sensitive K(+) current that regulates progression through early G1 phase of the cell cycle in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells." *J Membr Biol* **171**(1): 35-46.
- Kohler, R., B. P. Kaistha and H. Wulff (2010). "Vascular KCa-channels as therapeutic targets in hypertension and restenosis disease." *Expert Opin Ther Targets* 14(2): 143-155.
- Korach, K. S., J. F. Couse, S. W. Curtis, T. F. Washburn, J. Lindzey, K. S. Kimbro, E. M. Eddy, S. Migliaccio, S. M. Snedeker, D. B. Lubahn, D. W. Schomberg and E. P. Smith (1996). "Estrogen receptor gene disruption: molecular characterization and experimental and clinical phenotypes." *Recent Prog Horm Res* 51: 159-186; discussion 186-158.
- Kramer, V. J., W. G. Helferich, A. Bergman, E. Klasson-Wehler and J. P. Giesy (1997). "Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyl metabolites are anti-estrogenic in a stably transfected human breast adenocarcinoma (MCF7) cell line." *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 144(2): 363-376.

- Kramer, W., G. Muller, F. Girbig, U. Gutjahr, S. Kowalewski, D. Hartz and H. D. Summ (1995). "The molecular interaction of sulfonylureas with beta-cell ATP-sensitive K(+)-channels." *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* **28 Suppl**: S67-80.
- Kratz, A., M. Ferraro, P. M. Sluss and K. B. Lewandrowski (2004). "Case records of the Massachusetts General Hospital. Weekly clinicopathological exercises. Laboratory reference values." N Engl J Med 351(15): 1548-1563.
- Kraus, M. H., N. C. Popescu, S. C. Amsbaugh and C. R. King (1987). "Overexpression of the EGF receptor-related proto-oncogene erbB-2 in human mammary tumor cell lines by different molecular mechanisms." *EMBO J* 6(3): 605-610.
- Kraus, W. L., M. M. Montano and B. S. Katzenellenbogen (1994). "Identification of multiple, widely spaced estrogen-responsive regions in the rat progesterone receptor gene." *Mol Endocrinol* 8(8): 952-969.
- Kubo, Y., J. P. Adelman, D. E. Clapham, L. Y. Jan, A. Karschin, Y. Kurachi, M. Lazdunski, C. G. Nichols, S. Seino and C. A. Vandenberg (2005). "International Union of Pharmacology. LIV. Nomenclature and molecular relationships of inwardly rectifying potassium channels." *Pharmacol Rev* 57(4): 509-526.
- Kuhn, N. J. (2009). "Progesterone withdrawal as the lactogenic trigger in the rat. 1969." J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 14(3): 327-342.
- Kuiper, G. G., B. Carlsson, K. Grandien, E. Enmark, J. Haggblad, S. Nilsson and J. A. Gustafsson (1997). "Comparison of the ligand binding specificity and transcript tissue distribution of estrogen receptors alpha and beta." *Endocrinology* 138(3): 863-870.
- Kuiper, G. G., E. Enmark, M. Pelto-Huikko, S. Nilsson and J. A. Gustafsson (1996).
  "Cloning of a novel receptor expressed in rat prostate and ovary." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93(12): 5925-5930.
- Kumaresan, P. and C. W. Turner (1967). "Effect of various hormones on mammary gland growth of ovariectomized rats." *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* **125**(2): 556-558.
- Kunzelmann, K. (2005). "Ion channels and cancer." J Membr Biol 205(3): 159-173.
- Lacroix, M. and G. Leclercq (2004). "Relevance of breast cancer cell lines as models for breast tumours: an update." *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **83**(3): 249-289.
- Lacroix, M., R. A. Toillon and G. Leclercq (2006). "p53 and breast cancer, an update." *Endocr Relat Cancer* **13**(2): 293-325.

- Lallet-Daher, H., M. Roudbaraki, A. Bavencoffe, P. Mariot, F. Gackiere, G. Bidaux, R. Urbain, P. Gosset, P. Delcourt, L. Fleurisse, C. Slomianny, E. Dewailly, B. Mauroy, J. L. Bonnal, R. Skryma and N. Prevarskaya (2009). "Intermediate-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channels (IKCa1) regulate human prostate cancer cell proliferation through a close control of calcium entry." *Oncogene* 28(15): 1792-1806.
- Lang, F., M. Foller, K. Lang, P. Lang, M. Ritter, A. Vereninov, I. Szabo, S. M. Huber and E. Gulbins (2007). "Cell volume regulatory ion channels in cell proliferation and cell death." *Methods Enzymol* **428**: 209-225.
- Lang, F., M. Ritter, N. Gamper, S. Huber, S. Fillon, V. Tanneur, A. Lepple-Wienhues, I. Szabo and E. Gulbins (2000). "Cell volume in the regulation of cell proliferation and apoptotic cell death." *Cell Physiol Biochem* 10(5-6): 417-428.
- Lastraioli, E., L. Guasti, O. Crociani, S. Polvani, G. Hofmann, H. Witchel, L. Bencini, M. Calistri, L. Messerini, M. Scatizzi, R. Moretti, E. Wanke, M. Olivotto, G. Mugnai and A. Arcangeli (2004). "herg1 gene and HERG1 protein are overexpressed in colorectal cancers and regulate cell invasion of tumor cells." *Cancer Res* 64(2): 606-611.
- Lauf, P. K., S. Misri, A. A. Chimote and N. C. Adragna (2008). "Apparent intermediate K conductance channel hyposmotic activation in human lens epithelial cells." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 294(3): C820-832.
- Lee, L. M., J. Cao, H. Deng, P. Chen, Z. Gatalica and Z. Y. Wang (2008). "ER-alpha36, a novel variant of ER-alpha, is expressed in ER-positive and -negative human breast carcinomas." *Anticancer Res* **28**(1B): 479-483.
- Lee, M. P., R. J. Hu, L. A. Johnson and A. P. Feinberg (1997). "Human KVLQT1 gene shows tissue-specific imprinting and encompasses Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome chromosomal rearrangements." *Nat Genet* **15**(2): 181-185.
- Lee, S. Y., M. L. Palmer, P. J. Maniak, S. H. Jang, P. D. Ryu and S. M. O'Grady (2007). "P2Y receptor regulation of sodium transport in human mammary epithelial cells." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **293**(5): C1472-1480.
- Lee, W. J., G. R. Monteith and S. J. Roberts-Thomson (2006). "Calcium transport and signaling in the mammary gland: targets for breast cancer." *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1765**(2): 235-255.
- Lee, Y. R., J. Park, H. N. Yu, J. S. Kim, H. J. Youn and S. H. Jung (2005). "Upregulation of PI3K/Akt signaling by 17beta-estradiol through activation of estrogen receptor-alpha, but not estrogen receptor-beta, and stimulates cell growth in breast cancer cells." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 336(4): 1221-1226.

- Lee, Y. S., M. M. Sayeed and R. D. Wurster (1993). "Inhibition of cell growth by K+ channel modulators is due to interference with agonist-induced Ca2+ release." *Cell Signal* **5**(6): 803-809.
- Lehen'kyi, V., M. Flourakis, R. Skryma and N. Prevarskaya (2007). "TRPV6 channel controls prostate cancer cell proliferation via Ca(2+)/NFAT-dependent pathways." *Oncogene* **26**(52): 7380-7385.
- Levin, E. R. (2005). "Integration of the extranuclear and nuclear actions of estrogen." *Mol Endocrinol* **19**(8): 1951-1959.
- Li, H., L. Liu, T. Guo, J. Zhang, X. Li, W. Du, W. Liu, X. Chen and S. Huang (2007).
   "Expression and fuactional role of HERG1, K(+) channels in leukemic cells and leukemic stem cells." *J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci* 27(3): 257-260.
- Lin, H., J. Xiao, X. Luo, H. Wang, H. Gao, B. Yang and Z. Wang (2007). "Overexpression HERG K(+) channel gene mediates cell-growth signals on activation of oncoproteins SP1 and NF-kappaB and inactivation of tumor suppressor Nkx3.1." J Cell Physiol 212(1): 137-147.
- Linzell, J. L. and M. Peaker (1971). "Intracellular concentrations of sodium, potassium and chloride in the lactating mammary gland and their relation to the secretory mechanism." *J Physiol* **216**(3): 683-700.
- Linzell, J. L. and M. Peaker (2009). "Changes in colostrum composition and in the permeability of the mammary epithelium at about the time of parturition in the goat. 1974." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **14**(3): 271-293.
- Lippman, M., G. Bolan and K. Huff (1976). "The effects of estrogens and antiestrogens on hormone-responsive human breast cancer in long-term tissue culture." *Cancer Res* **36**(12): 4595-4601.
- Liu, H. F., X. C. Teng, J. C. Zheng, G. Chen and X. W. Wang (2008). "Effect of NHE1 antisense gene transfection on the biological behavior of SGC-7901 human gastric carcinoma cells." *World J Gastroenterol* 14(14): 2162-2167.
- Lubahn, D. B., J. S. Moyer, T. S. Golding, J. F. Couse, K. S. Korach and O. Smithies (1993). "Alteration of reproductive function but not prenatal sexual development after insertional disruption of the mouse estrogen receptor gene." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90(23): 11162-11166.
- Ludwig, J., H. Terlau, F. Wunder, A. Bruggemann, L. A. Pardo, A. Marquardt, W. Stuhmer and O. Pongs (1994). "Functional expression of a rat homologue of the voltage gated either a go-go potassium channel reveals differences in selectivity and activation kinetics between the Drosophila channel and its mammalian counterpart." *EMBO J* **13**(19): 4451-4458.

- Lundberg, A. S. and R. A. Weinberg (1999). "Control of the cell cycle and apoptosis." *Eur J Cancer* **35**(14): 1886-1894.
- MacVinish, L. J., J. Keogh and A. W. Cuthbert (2001). "EBIO, an agent causing maintained epithelial chloride secretion by co-ordinate actions at both apical and basolateral membranes." *Pflugers Arch* 443 Suppl 1: S127-131.
- Madsen, B., B. Georg, M. W. Madsen and J. Fahrenkrug (2000). "Downregulation of VPAC1R expression in breast cancer cell lines." *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **921**: 33-36.
- Malkia, A., R. Madrid, V. Meseguer, E. de la Pena, M. Valero, C. Belmonte and F. Viana (2007). "Bidirectional shifts of TRPM8 channel gating by temperature and chemical agents modulate the cold sensitivity of mammalian thermoreceptors." J Physiol 581(Pt 1): 155-174.
- Mallepell, S., A. Krust, P. Chambon and C. Brisken (2006). "Paracrine signaling through the epithelial estrogen receptor alpha is required for proliferation and morphogenesis in the mammary gland." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103(7): 2196-2201.
- Marino, A. A., I. G. Iliev, M. A. Schwalke, E. Gonzalez, K. C. Marler and C. A. Flanagan (1994). "Association between cell membrane potential and breast cancer." *Tumour Biol* **15**(2): 82-89.
- Martin, S. G. (2009). "Geometric control of the cell cycle." Cell Cycle 8(22): 3643-3647.
- Marty, A. (1981). "Ca-dependent K channels with large unitary conductance in chromaffin cell membranes." *Nature* **291**(5815): 497-500.
- Matsuzaki, T., N. Machida, Y. Tajika, A. Ablimit, T. Suzuki, T. Aoki, H. Hagiwara and K. Takata (2005). "Expression and immunolocalization of water-channel aquaporins in the rat and mouse mammary gland." *Histochem Cell Biol* 123(4-5): 501-512.
- McManaman, J. L. and M. C. Neville (2003). "Mammary physiology and milk secretion." *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* **55**(5): 629-641.
- McManaman, J. L., M. E. Reyland and E. C. Thrower (2006). "Secretion and fluid transport mechanisms in the mammary gland: comparisons with the exocrine pancreas and the salivary gland." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* 11(3-4): 249-268.
- Mello de Queiroz, F., G. Suarez-Kurtz, W. Stuhmer and L. A. Pardo (2006). "Ether a gogo potassium channel expression in soft tissue sarcoma patients." *Mol Cancer* 5: 42.

- Meyer, R., R. Schonherr, O. Gavrilova-Ruch, W. Wohlrab and S. H. Heinemann (1999).
   "Identification of ether a go-go and calcium-activated potassium channels in human melanoma cells." *J Membr Biol* 171(2): 107-115.
- Miki, T., K. Nagashima and S. Seino (1999). "The structure and function of the ATPsensitive K+ channel in insulin-secreting pancreatic beta-cells." *J Mol Endocrinol* **22**(2): 113-123.
- Mobasheri, A., B. H. Kendall, J. E. Maxwell, A. V. Sawran, A. J. German, D. Marples, M. R. Luck and M. D. Royal (2009). "Cellular localization of aquaporins along the secretory pathway of the lactating bovine mammary gland: An immunohistochemical study." *Acta Histochem*.
- Mobasheri, A. and D. Marples (2004). "Expression of the AQP-1 water channel in normal human tissues: a semiquantitative study using tissue microarray technology." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **286**(3): C529-537.
- Moiola, C., P. De Luca, K. Gardner, E. Vazquez and A. De Siervi (2010). "Cyclin T1 overexpression induces malignant transformation and tumor growth." *Cell Cycle* **9**(15): 3119-3126.
- Monteith, G. R., D. McAndrew, H. M. Faddy and S. J. Roberts-Thomson (2007). "Calcium and cancer: targeting Ca2+ transport." *Nat Rev Cancer* 7(7): 519-530.
- Morgan, D. O. (2007). <u>The cell cycle : principles of control</u>. London, New Science Press Ltd in association with Oxford University Press.
- Mujoomdar, M., A. Bennett, D. Hoskin and J. Blay (2004). "Adenosine stimulation of proliferation of breast carcinoma cell lines: evaluation of the [3H]thymidine assay system and modulatory effects of the cellular microenvironment in vitro." *J Cell Physiol* 201(3): 429-438.
- Napp, J., F. Monje, W. Stuhmer and L. A. Pardo (2005). "Glycosylation of Eagl (Kv10.1) potassium channels: intracellular trafficking and functional consequences." *J Biol Chem* 280(33): 29506-29512.
- Neville, M. C. (2005). "Calcium secretion into milk." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **10**(2): 119-128.
- Neville, M. C. and M. Peaker (1982). "Calcium fluxes in mouse mammary tissue in vitro: intracellular and extracellular calcium pools." *J Physiol* **323**: 497-517.
- Neyroud, N., F. Tesson, I. Denjoy, M. Leibovici, C. Donger, J. Barhanin, S. Faure, F. Gary, P. Coumel, C. Petit, K. Schwartz and P. Guicheney (1997). "A novel

mutation in the potassium channel gene KVLQT1 causes the Jervell and Lange-Nielsen cardioauditory syndrome." *Nat Genet* **15**(2): 186-189.

- Nguyen, D. A. and M. C. Neville (1998). "Tight junction regulation in the mammary gland." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **3**(3): 233-246.
- Nilius, B., G. Schwarz and G. Droogmans (1993). "Control of intracellular calcium by membrane potential in human melanoma cells." *Am J Physiol* 265(6 Pt 1): C1501-1510.
- Occhiodoro, T., L. Bernheim, J. H. Liu, P. Bijlenga, M. Sinnreich, C. R. Bader and J. Fischer-Lougheed (1998). "Cloning of a human ether-a-go-go potassium channel expressed in myoblasts at the onset of fusion." *FEBS Lett* **434**(1-2): 177-182.
- Okazawa, M., K. Takao, A. Hori, T. Shiraki, K. Matsumura and S. Kobayashi (2002). "Ionic basis of cold receptors acting as thermostats." *J Neurosci* 22(10): 3994-4001.
- Onkal, R. and M. B. Djamgoz (2009). "Molecular pharmacology of voltage-gated sodium channel expression in metastatic disease: clinical potential of neonatal Nav1.5 in breast cancer." *Eur J Pharmacol* **625**(1-3): 206-219.
- Orlando, C. and S. Gelmini (2001). "Telomerase in endocrine and endocrine-dependent tumors." *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* **78**(3): 201-214.
- Osborne, C. K., B. Hamilton, G. Titus and R. B. Livingston (1980). "Epidermal growth factor stimulation of human breast cancer cells in culture." *Cancer Res* **40**(7): 2361-2366.
- Ouadid-Ahidouch, H., F. Chaussade, M. Roudbaraki, C. Slomianny, E. Dewailly, P. Delcourt and N. Prevarskaya (2000). "KV1.1 K(+) channels identification in human breast carcinoma cells: involvement in cell proliferation." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 278(2): 272-277.
- Ouadid-Ahidouch, H., X. Le Bourhis, M. Roudbaraki, R. A. Toillon, P. Delcourt and N. Prevarskaya (2001). "Changes in the K+ current-density of MCF-7 cells during progression through the cell cycle: possible involvement of a h-ether.a-gogo K+ channel." *Receptors & channels* 7(5): 345-356.
- Ouadid-Ahidouch, H., M. Roudbaraki, A. Ahidouch, P. Delcourt and N. Prevarskaya (2004a). "Cell-cycle-dependent expression of the large Ca2+-activated K+ channels in breast cancer cells." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **316**(1): 244-251.
- Ouadid-Ahidouch, H., M. Roudbaraki, P. Delcourt, A. Ahidouch, N. Joury and N. Prevarskaya (2004b). "Functional and molecular identification of intermediate-

conductance Ca(2+)-activated K(+) channels in breast cancer cells: association with cell cycle progression." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **287**(1): C125-134.

- Ousingsawat, J., M. Spitzner, S. Puntheeranurak, L. Terracciano, L. Tornillo, L. Bubendorf, K. Kunzelmann and R. Schreiber (2007). "Expression of voltage-gated potassium channels in human and mouse colonic carcinoma." *Clin Cancer Res* 13(3): 824-831.
- Pande, G., N. A. Kumar and P. S. Manogaran (1996). "Flow cytometric study of changes in the intracellular free calcium during the cell cycle." *Cytometry* **24**(1): 55-63.
- Panner, A. and R. D. Wurster (2006). "T-type calcium channels and tumor proliferation." *Cell Calcium* **40**(2): 253-259.
- Panyi, G. (2005). "Biophysical and pharmacological aspects of K+ channels in T lymphocytes." *Eur Biophys J* **34**(6): 515-529.
- Pappas, C. A., N. Ullrich and H. Sontheimer (1994). "Reduction of glial proliferation by K+ channel blockers is mediated by changes in pHi." *Neuroreport* **6**(1): 193-196.
- Paproski, R. J., A. M. Ng, S. Y. Yao, K. Graham, J. D. Young and C. E. Cass (2008). "The role of human nucleoside transporters in uptake of 3'-deoxy-3'fluorothymidine." *Mol Pharmacol* 74(5): 1372-1380.
- Pardo, L. A. (2004). "Voltage-gated potassium channels in cell proliferation." *Physiology* (*Bethesda, Md.*) **19**: 285-292.
- Pardo, L. A., A. Bruggemann, J. Camacho and W. Stuhmer (1998). "Cell cycle-related changes in the conducting properties of r-eag K+ channels." *J Cell Biol* **143**(3): 767-775.
- Pardo, L. A., C. Contreras-Jurado, M. Zientkowska, F. Alves and W. Stuhmer (2005).
  "Role of voltage-gated potassium channels in cancer." *J Membr Biol* 205(3): 115-124.
- Pardo, L. A., D. del Camino, A. Sanchez, F. Alves, A. Bruggemann, S. Beckh and W. Stuhmer (1999). "Oncogenic potential of EAG K(+) channels." *The EMBO journal* 18(20): 5540-5547.
- Parihar, A. S., M. J. Coghlan, M. Gopalakrishnan and C. C. Shieh (2003). "Effects of intermediate-conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channel modulators on human prostate cancer cell proliferation." *Eur J Pharmacol* 471(3): 157-164.
- Pasqualini, J. R., G. Chetrite, C. Blacker, M. C. Feinstein, L. Delalonde, M. Talbi and C. Maloche (1996). "Concentrations of estrone, estradiol, and estrone sulfate and

evaluation of sulfatase and aromatase activities in pre- and postmenopausal breast cancer patients." *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **81**(4): 1460-1464.

- Payne, A. H. and D. B. Hales (2004). "Overview of steroidogenic enzymes in the pathway from cholesterol to active steroid hormones." *Endocr Rev* **25**(6): 947-970.
- Peier, A. M., A. Moqrich, A. C. Hergarden, A. J. Reeve, D. A. Andersson, G. M. Story, T. J. Earley, I. Dragoni, P. McIntyre, S. Bevan and A. Patapoutian (2002). "A TRP channel that senses cold stimuli and menthol." *Cell* 108(5): 705-715.
- Pendergrass, W. R., J. C. Angello, M. D. Kirschner and T. H. Norwood (1991). "The relationship between the rate of entry into S phase, concentration of DNA polymerase alpha, and cell volume in human diploid fibroblast-like monokaryon cells." *Exp Cell Res* 192(2): 418-425.
- Peng, J. B., X. Z. Chen, U. V. Berger, P. M. Vassilev, H. Tsukaguchi, E. M. Brown and M. A. Hediger (1999). "Molecular cloning and characterization of a channel-like transporter mediating intestinal calcium absorption." *J Biol Chem* 274(32): 22739-22746.
- Perou, C. M., T. Sorlie, M. B. Eisen, M. van de Rijn, S. S. Jeffrey, C. A. Rees, J. R. Pollack, D. T. Ross, H. Johnsen, L. A. Akslen, O. Fluge, A. Pergamenschikov, C. Williams, S. X. Zhu, P. E. Lonning, A. L. Borresen-Dale, P. O. Brown and D. Botstein (2000). "Molecular portraits of human breast tumours." *Nature* 406(6797): 747-752.
- Peroz, D., N. Rodriguez, F. Choveau, I. Baro, J. Merot and G. Loussouarn (2008). "Kv7.1 (KCNQ1) properties and channelopathies." *J Physiol* **586**(7): 1785-1789.
- Phelps, C. B. and R. Gaudet (2007). "The role of the N terminus and transmembrane domain of TRPM8 in channel localization and tetramerization." *J Biol Chem* 282(50): 36474-36480.
- Pitelka, D. R., S. T. Hamamoto, J. G. Duafala and M. K. Nemanic (1973). "Cell contacts in the mouse mammary gland. I. Normal gland in postnatal development and the secretory cycle." *J Cell Biol* 56(3): 797-818.
- Prall, O. W., E. M. Rogan, E. A. Musgrove, C. K. Watts and R. L. Sutherland (1998a). "c-Myc or cyclin D1 mimics estrogen effects on cyclin E-Cdk2 activation and cell cycle reentry." *Mol Cell Biol* 18(8): 4499-4508.
- Prall, O. W., E. M. Rogan and R. L. Sutherland (1998b). "Estrogen regulation of cell cycle progression in breast cancer cells." J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 65(1-6): 169-174.

- Prall, O. W., B. Sarcevic, E. A. Musgrove, C. K. Watts and R. L. Sutherland (1997). "Estrogen-induced activation of Cdk4 and Cdk2 during G1-S phase progression is accompanied by increased cyclin D1 expression and decreased cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor association with cyclin E-Cdk2." J Biol Chem 272(16): 10882-10894.
- Pressacco, J., J. S. Wiley, G. P. Jamieson, C. Erlichman and D. W. Hedley (1995). "Modulation of the equilibrative nucleoside transporter by inhibitors of DNA synthesis." *Br J Cancer* **72**(4): 939-942.
- Preussat, K., C. Beetz, M. Schrey, R. Kraft, S. Wolfl, R. Kalff and S. Patt (2003). "Expression of voltage-gated potassium channels Kv1.3 and Kv1.5 in human gliomas." *Neurosci Lett* 346(1-2): 33-36.
- Prevarskaya, N., R. Skryma and Y. Shuba (2010). "Ion channels and the hallmarks of cancer." *Trends Mol Med* **16**(3): 107-121.
- Prevarskaya, N., L. Zhang and G. Barritt (2007). "TRP channels in cancer." *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1772(8): 937-946.
- Quesnell, R. R., X. Han and B. D. Schultz (2007). "Glucocorticoids stimulate ENaC upregulation in bovine mammary epithelium." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **292**(5): C1739-1745.
- Ramsey, I. S., M. Delling and D. E. Clapham (2006). "An introduction to TRP channels." *Annu Rev Physiol* **68**: 619-647.
- Razandi, M., A. Pedram, E. M. Rosen and E. R. Levin (2004). "BRCA1 inhibits membrane estrogen and growth factor receptor signaling to cell proliferation in breast cancer." *Mol Cell Biol* 24(13): 5900-5913.
- Ree, A. H., B. F. Landmark, W. Eskild, F. O. Levy, H. Lahooti, T. Jahnsen, A. Aakvaag and V. Hansson (1989). "Autologous down-regulation of messenger ribonucleic acid and protein levels for estrogen receptors in MCF-7 cells: an inverse correlation to progesterone receptor levels." *Endocrinology* 124(5): 2577-2583.
- Reid, G. and M. L. Flonta (2001). "Physiology. Cold current in thermoreceptive neurons." *Nature* **413**(6855): 480.
- Reiser, J., K. R. Polu, C. C. Moller, P. Kenlan, M. M. Altintas, C. Wei, C. Faul, S. Herbert, I. Villegas, C. Avila-Casado, M. McGee, H. Sugimoto, D. Brown, R. Kalluri, P. Mundel, P. L. Smith, D. E. Clapham and M. R. Pollak (2005). "TRPC6 is a glomerular slit diaphragm-associated channel required for normal renal function." *Nat Genet* 37(7): 739-744.

- Reshkin, S. J., A. Bellizzi, S. Caldeira, V. Albarani, I. Malanchi, M. Poignee, M. Alunni-Fabbroni, V. Casavola and M. Tommasino (2000). "Na+/H+ exchangerdependent intracellular alkalinization is an early event in malignant transformation and plays an essential role in the development of subsequent transformation-associated phenotypes." *FASEB J* 14(14): 2185-2197.
- Riordan, J. R., J. M. Rommens, B. Kerem, N. Alon, R. Rozmahel, Z. Grzelczak, J. Zielenski, S. Lok, N. Plavsic, J. L. Chou and et al. (1989). "Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: cloning and characterization of complementary DNA." *Science* 245(4922): 1066-1073.
- Robertson, B., D. Owen, J. Stow, C. Butler and C. Newland (1996). "Novel effects of dendrotoxin homologues on subtypes of mammalian Kv1 potassium channels expressed in Xenopus oocytes." *FEBS Lett* 383(1-2): 26-30.
- Roderick, H. L. and S. J. Cook (2008). "Ca2+ signalling checkpoints in cancer: remodelling Ca2+ for cancer cell proliferation and survival." *Nat Rev Cancer* 8(5): 361-375.
- Rodriguez-Mora, O. G., M. M. LaHair, J. A. McCubrey and R. A. Franklin (2005). "Calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase I and calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase kinase participate in the control of cell cycle progression in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells." *Cancer Res* 65(12): 5408-5416.
- Roger, S., M. Potier, C. Vandier, J. Y. Le Guennec and P. Besson (2004). "Description and role in proliferation of iberiotoxin-sensitive currents in different human mammary epithelial normal and cancerous cells." *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1667**(2): 190-199.
- Rosati, B., P. Marchetti, O. Crociani, M. Lecchi, R. Lupi, A. Arcangeli, M. Olivotto and E. Wanke (2000). "Glucose- and arginine-induced insulin secretion by human pancreatic beta-cells: the role of HERG K(+) channels in firing and release." *FASEB J* 14(15): 2601-2610.
- Rouzaire-Dubois, B. and J. M. Dubois (1991). "A quantitative analysis of the role of K+ channels in mitogenesis of neuroblastoma cells." *Cell Signal* **3**(4): 333-339.
- Rouzaire-Dubois, B. and J. M. Dubois (1998). "K+ channel block-induced mammalian neuroblastoma cell swelling: a possible mechanism to influence proliferation." J Physiol 510 (Pt 1): 93-102.
- Rouzaire-Dubois, B., M. Malo, J. B. Milandri and J. M. Dubois (2004). "Cell size-proliferation relationship in rat glioma cells." *Glia* **45**(3): 249-257.

- Rouzaire-Dubois, B., J. B. Milandri, S. Bostel and J. M. Dubois (2000). "Control of cell proliferation by cell volume alterations in rat C6 glioma cells." *Pflugers Arch* 440(6): 881-888.
- Roy, J., E. Cowley, J. Blay and P. Linsdell (2009). "The intermediate conductance Ca(2+)-activated K(+) channel inhibitor TRAM-34 stimulates proliferation of breast cancer cells via activation of oestrogen receptors." *Br J Pharmacol*.
- Roy, J., E. Cowley, J. Blay and P. Linsdell (2010). "The intermediate conductance Ca(2+)-activated K(+) channel inhibitor TRAM-34 stimulates proliferation of breast cancer cells via activation of oestrogen receptors." *Br J Pharmacol* 159(3): 650-658.
- Roy, J., E. M. Denovan-Wright, P. Linsdell and E. A. Cowley (2006). "Exposure to sodium butyrate leads to functional downregulation of calcium-activated potassium channels in human airway epithelial cells." *Pflugers Arch* 453(2): 167-176.
- Roy, J., B. vanTol, E. A. Cowley, J. Blay and P. Linsdell (2008). "Pharmacological separation of hEAG and hERG K+ channel function in the human mammary carcinoma cell line MCF-7." *Oncol Rep* **19**(6): 1511-1516.
- Russo, J., X. Ao, C. Grill and I. H. Russo (1999). "Pattern of distribution of cells positive for estrogen receptor alpha and progesterone receptor in relation to proliferating cells in the mammary gland." *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **53**(3): 217-227.
- Russo, J., R. H. Bradley, C. McGrath and I. H. Russo (1977). "Scanning and transmission electron microscopy study of a human breast carcinoma cell line (MCF-7) cultured in collagen-coated cellulose sponge." *Cancer Res* **37**(7 Pt 1): 2004-2014.
- Russo, J., H. D. Soule, C. McGrath and M. A. Rich (1976). "Reexpression of the original tumor pattern by a human breast carcinoma cell line (MCF-7) in sponge culture." *J Natl Cancer Inst* 56(2): 279-282.
- Salata, J. J., N. K. Jurkiewicz, A. A. Wallace, R. F. Stupienski, 3rd, P. J. Guinosso, Jr. and J. J. Lynch, Jr. (1995). "Cardiac electrophysiological actions of the histamine H1-receptor antagonists astemizole and terfenadine compared with chlorpheniramine and pyrilamine." *Circ Res* 76(1): 110-119.
- Sanchez, M. G., A. M. Sanchez, B. Collado, S. Malagarie-Cazenave, N. Olea, M. J. Carmena, J. C. Prieto and I. I. Diaz-Laviada (2005). "Expression of the transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) in LNCaP and PC-3 prostate cancer cells and in human prostate tissue." *Eur J Pharmacol* 515(1-3): 20-27.
- Santella, L., E. Ercolano and G. A. Nusco (2005). "The cell cycle: a new entry in the field of Ca2+ signaling." *Cell Mol Life Sci* 62(21): 2405-2413.

- Scaloni, A., C. Bottiglieri, L. Ferrara, M. Corona, G. B. Gurrola, C. Batista, E. Wanke and L. D. Possani (2000). "Disulfide bridges of ergtoxin, a member of a new subfamily of peptide blockers of the ether-a-go-go-related K+ channel." *FEBS Lett* 479(3): 156-157.
- Schlichter, L. C., G. Sakellaropoulos, B. Ballyk, P. S. Pennefather and D. J. Phipps (1996). "Properties of K+ and Cl- channels and their involvement in proliferation of rat microglial cells." *Glia* 17(3): 225-236.
- Schliess, F., R. Schreiber and D. Haussinger (1995). "Activation of extracellular signalregulated kinases Erk-1 and Erk-2 by cell swelling in H4IIE hepatoma cells." *Biochem J* 309 (Pt 1): 13-17.
- Schreiber, M. and L. Salkoff (1997). "A novel calcium-sensing domain in the BK channel." *Biophys J* **73**(3): 1355-1363.
- Schreiber, R. (2005). "Ca2+ signaling, intracellular pH and cell volume in cell proliferation." *J Membr Biol* **205**(3): 129-137.
- Schuuring, E., E. Verhoeven, W. J. Mooi and R. J. Michalides (1992). "Identification and cloning of two overexpressed genes, U21B31/PRAD1 and EMS1, within the amplified chromosome 11q13 region in human carcinomas." Oncogene 7(2): 355-361.
- Schwarz, E. C., U. Wissenbach, B. A. Niemeyer, B. Strauss, S. E. Philipp, V. Flockerzi and M. Hoth (2006). "TRPV6 potentiates calcium-dependent cell proliferation." *Cell Calcium* 39(2): 163-173.
- Scodelaro Bilbao, P., R. Boland, A. Russo de Boland and G. Santillan (2007). "ATP modulation of mitogen activated protein kinases and intracellular Ca2+ in breast cancer (MCF-7) cells." *Arch Biochem Biophys* **466**(1): 15-23.
- Sergeev, I. N. (2005). "Calcium signaling in cancer and vitamin D." J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 97(1-2): 145-151.
- Shen, M. R., G. Droogmans, J. Eggermont, T. Voets, J. C. Ellory and B. Nilius (2000). "Differential expression of volume-regulated anion channels during cell cycle progression of human cervical cancer cells." *J Physiol* **529 Pt 2**: 385-394.
- Shennan, D. B. (1989). "Evidence for furosemide-sensitive Na+-K+-Cl- co-transport in lactating rat mammary tissue." *Q J Exp Physiol* 74(6): 927-938.
- Shennan, D. B. (1998). "Mammary gland membrane transport systems." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **3**(3): 247-258.

- Shennan, D. B. (2008). "Calcium transport by mammary secretory cells: mechanisms underlying transpithelial movement." *Cell Mol Biol Lett* 13(4): 514-525.
- Shennan, D. B. and M. Peaker (2000). "Transport of milk constituents by the mammary gland." *Physiol Rev* **80**(3): 925-951.
- Shepherd, M. C., S. M. Duffy, T. Harris, G. Cruse, M. Schuliga, C. E. Brightling, C. B. Neylon, P. Bradding and A. G. Stewart (2007). "KCa3.1 Ca2+ activated K+ channels regulate human airway smooth muscle proliferation." *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 37(5): 525-531.
- Shi, Y., X. Ding, Z. H. He, K. C. Zhou, Q. Wang and Y. Z. Wang (2009). "Critical role of TRPC6 channels in G2 phase transition and the development of human oesophageal cancer." Gut 58(11): 1443-1450.
- Shillingford, J. M., K. Miyoshi, M. Flagella, G. E. Shull and L. Hennighausen (2002). "Mouse mammary epithelial cells express the Na-K-Cl cotransporter, NKCC1: characterization, localization, and involvement in ductal development and morphogenesis." *Mol Endocrinol* 16(6): 1309-1321.
- Silberstein, G. B., K. Van Horn, G. Shyamala and C. W. Daniel (1994). "Essential role of endogenous estrogen in directly stimulating mammary growth demonstrated by implants containing pure antiestrogens." *Endocrinology* **134**(1): 84-90.
- Silverthorn, D. U. and B. R. Johnson (2010). <u>Human physiology : an integrated approach</u>. San Francisco, Pearson/Benjamin Cummings.
- Simpson, E. R. (2003). "Sources of estrogen and their importance." J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 86(3-5): 225-230.
- Smith, A. J., T. K. Taneja, J. Mankouri and A. Sivaprasadarao (2007). "Molecular cell biology of KATP channels: implications for neonatal diabetes." *Expert Rev Mol Med* 9(21): 1-17.
- Smith, G. A., H. W. Tsui, E. W. Newell, X. Jiang, X. P. Zhu, F. W. Tsui and L. C. Schlichter (2002). "Functional up-regulation of HERG K+ channels in neoplastic hematopoietic cells." *J Biol Chem* 277(21): 18528-18534.
- Soule, H. D., J. Vazguez, A. Long, S. Albert and M. Brennan (1973). "A human cell line from a pleural effusion derived from a breast carcinoma." *J Natl Cancer Inst* 51(5): 1409-1416.
- Speirs, V., G. P. Skliris, S. E. Burdall and P. J. Carder (2002). "Distinct expression patterns of ER alpha and ER beta in normal human mammary gland." *J Clin Pathol* **55**(5): 371-374.

- Spitzner, M., J. R. Martins, R. B. Soria, J. Ousingsawat, K. Scheidt, R. Schreiber and K. Kunzelmann (2008). "Eag1 and Bestrophin 1 are up-regulated in fast-growing colonic cancer cells." *J Biol Chem* 283(12): 7421-7428.
- Spitzner, M., J. Ousingsawat, K. Scheidt, K. Kunzelmann and R. Schreiber (2007). "Voltage-gated K+ channels support proliferation of colonic carcinoma cells." *FASEB J* 21(1): 35-44.
- Sternlicht, M. D., H. Kouros-Mehr, P. Lu and Z. Werb (2006). "Hormonal and local control of mammary branching morphogenesis." *Differentiation* **74**(7): 365-381.
- Sternlicht, M. D. and S. W. Sunnarborg (2008). "The ADAM17-amphiregulin-EGFR axis in mammary development and cancer." J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 13(2): 181-194.
- Stinnakre, M. G., J. L. Vilotte, S. Soulier and J. C. Mercier (1994). "Creation and phenotypic analysis of alpha-lactalbumin-deficient mice." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 91(14): 6544-6548.
- Strobaek, D., P. Christophersen, N. R. Holm, P. Moldt, P. K. Ahring, T. E. Johansen and S. P. Olesen (1996). "Modulation of the Ca(2+)-dependent K+ channel, hslo, by the substituted diphenylurea NS 1608, paxilline and internal Ca2+." *Neuropharmacology* 35(7): 903-914.
- Stuhmer, W., F. Alves, F. Hartung, M. Zientkowska and L. A. Pardo (2006). "Potassium channels as tumour markers." *FEBS Lett* **580**(12): 2850-2852.
- Sutherland, R. L., R. E. Hall and I. W. Taylor (1983). "Cell proliferation kinetics of MCF-7 human mammary carcinoma cells in culture and effects of tamoxifen on exponentially growing and plateau-phase cells." *Cancer Res* 43(9): 3998-4006.
- Sutherland, R. L. and E. A. Musgrove (2004). "Cyclins and breast cancer." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **9**(1): 95-104.
- Suzuki, M., T. Morita and T. Iwamoto (2006). "Diversity of Cl(-) channels." *Cell Mol Life Sci* 63(1): 12-24.
- Suzuki, T. and K. Takimoto (2004). "Selective expression of HERG and Kv2 channels influences proliferation of uterine cancer cells." *Int J Oncol* **25**(1): 153-159.
- Szatkowski, C., J. B. Parys, H. Ouadid-Ahidouch and F. Matifat (2010). "Inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate-induced Ca2+ signalling is involved in estradiol-induced breast cancer epithelial cell growth." *Mol Cancer* **9**: 156.
- Szego, C. M. and J. S. Davis (1967). "Adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate in rat uterus: acute elevation by estrogen." *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **58**(4): 1711-1718.

- Tavassoli, F. A., P. Devilee, World Health Organization. and International Agency for Research on Cancer. (2003). <u>Pathology and genetics of tumours of the breast and</u> <u>female genital organs</u>. Lyon, IARC.
- Taylor, J. T., L. Huang, J. E. Pottle, K. Liu, Y. Yang, X. Zeng, B. M. Keyser, K. C. Agrawal, J. B. Hansen and M. Li (2008a). "Selective blockade of T-type Ca2+ channels suppresses human breast cancer cell proliferation." *Cancer Lett* 267(1): 116-124.
- Taylor, J. T., X. B. Zeng, J. E. Pottle, K. Lee, A. R. Wang, S. G. Yi, J. A. Scruggs, S. S. Sikka and M. Li (2008b). "Calcium signaling and T-type calcium channels in cancer cell cycling." *World J Gastroenterol* 14(32): 4984-4991.
- Thebault, S., M. Flourakis, K. Vanoverberghe, F. Vandermoere, M. Roudbaraki, V. Lehen'kyi, C. Slomianny, B. Beck, P. Mariot, J. L. Bonnal, B. Mauroy, Y. Shuba, T. Capiod, R. Skryma and N. Prevarskaya (2006). "Differential role of transient receptor potential channels in Ca2+ entry and proliferation of prostate cancer epithelial cells." *Cancer Res* 66(4): 2038-2047.
- Thebault, S., L. Lemonnier, G. Bidaux, M. Flourakis, A. Bavencoffe, D. Gordienko, M. Roudbaraki, P. Delcourt, Y. Panchin, Y. Shuba, R. Skryma and N. Prevarskaya (2005). "Novel role of cold/menthol-sensitive transient receptor potential melastatine family member 8 (TRPM8) in the activation of store-operated channels in LNCaP human prostate cancer epithelial cells." *J Biol Chem* 280(47): 39423-39435.
- Thompson-Vest, N., Y. Shimizu, B. Hunne and J. B. Furness (2006). "The distribution of intermediate-conductance, calcium-activated, potassium (IK) channels in epithelial cells." *J Anat* 208(2): 219-229.
- Toyama, K., H. Wulff, K. G. Chandy, P. Azam, G. Raman, T. Saito, Y. Fujiwara, D. L. Mattson, S. Das, J. E. Melvin, P. F. Pratt, O. A. Hatoum, D. D. Gutterman, D. R. Harder and H. Miura (2008). "The intermediate-conductance calcium-activated potassium channel KCa3.1 contributes to atherogenesis in mice and humans." J Clin Invest 118(9): 3025-3037.
- Tsavaler, L., M. H. Shapero, S. Morkowski and R. Laus (2001). "Trp-p8, a novel prostate-specific gene, is up-regulated in prostate cancer and other malignancies and shares high homology with transient receptor potential calcium channel proteins." *Cancer Res* **61**(9): 3760-3769.
- Tsukimi, Y., K. Mizuyachi, T. Yamasaki, T. Niki and F. Hayashi (2005). "Cold response of the bladder in guinea pig: involvement of transient receptor potential channel, TRPM8." *Urology* **65**(2): 406-410.

- VanHouten, J. N. and J. J. Wysolmerski (2007). "Transcellular calcium transport in mammary epithelial cells." *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia* **12**(4): 223-235.
- vanTol, B. L., S. Missan, J. Crack, S. Moser, W. H. Baldridge, P. Linsdell and E. A. Cowley (2007). "Contribution of KCNQ1 to the regulatory volume decrease in the human mammary epithelial cell line MCF-7." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 293(3): C1010-1019.
- Voets, T., G. Droogmans, U. Wissenbach, A. Janssens, V. Flockerzi and B. Nilius (2004). "The principle of temperature-dependent gating in cold- and heat-sensitive TRP channels." *Nature* **430**(7001): 748-754.
- Voets, T., G. Szucs, G. Droogmans and B. Nilius (1995). "Blockers of volume-activated Cl- currents inhibit endothelial cell proliferation." *Pflugers Arch* **431**(1): 132-134.
- Wang, D., Y. Sun, W. Zhang and P. Huang (2008). "Apical adenosine regulates basolateral Ca2+-activated potassium channels in human airway Calu-3 epithelial cells." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 294(6): C1443-1453.
- Wang, H., Y. Zhang, L. Cao, H. Han, J. Wang, B. Yang, S. Nattel and Z. Wang (2002a). "HERG K+ channel, a regulator of tumor cell apoptosis and proliferation." *Cancer Res* 62(17): 4843-4848.
- Wang, J., Y. Q. Xu, Y. Y. Liang, R. Gongora, D. G. Warnock and H. P. Ma (2007a). "An intermediate-conductance Ca(2+)-activated K (+) channel mediates B lymphoma cell cycle progression induced by serum." *Pflugers Arch* 454(6): 945-956.
- Wang, L., L. Chen, L. Zhu, M. Rawle, S. Nie, J. Zhang, Z. Ping, C. Kangrong and T. J. Jacob (2002b). "Regulatory volume decrease is actively modulated during the cell cycle." *J Cell Physiol* 193(1): 110-119.
- Wang, S., Z. Melkoumian, K. A. Woodfork, C. Cather, A. G. Davidson, W. F. Wonderlin and J. S. Strobl (1998). "Evidence for an early G1 ionic event necessary for cell cycle progression and survival in the MCF-7 human breast carcinoma cell line." J *Cell Physiol* 176(3): 456-464.
- Wang, S., D. J. Xu, J. B. Cai, Y. Z. Huang, J. G. Zou and K. J. Cao (2009). "Rapid component I(Kr) of cardiac delayed rectifier potassium currents in guinea-pig is inhibited by alpha(1)-adrenoreceptor activation via protein kinase A and protein kinase C-dependent pathways." *Eur J Pharmacol* 608(1-3): 1-6.
- Wang, W., L. Dong, B. Saville and S. Safe (1999). "Transcriptional activation of E2F1 gene expression by 17beta-estradiol in MCF-7 cells is regulated by NF-Y-Sp1/estrogen receptor interactions." *Mol Endocrinol* 13(8): 1373-1387.

- Wang, Z. (2004). "Roles of K+ channels in regulating tumour cell proliferation and apoptosis." *Pflugers Arch* 448(3): 274-286.
- Wang, Z., C. Chen, Z. Li, X. Luo, J. Xiao, H. Lin, J. Zhang, D. Dong, Y. Lu and B. Yang (2010). "EAG K+ channel joins the p53-miR-34-E2F1 signaling pathway as a terminal effecter component for its oncogenic overexpression and action." *Available* from Nature Precedings <<u>http://hdl.handle.net/10101/npre.2010.4507.1></u>.
- Wang, Z. H., B. Shen, H. L. Yao, Y. C. Jia, J. Ren, Y. J. Feng and Y. Z. Wang (2007b).
  "Blockage of intermediate-conductance-Ca(2+) -activated K(+) channels inhibits progression of human endometrial cancer." *Oncogene* 26(35): 5107-5114.
- Wangemann, P., J. Liu and D. C. Marcus (1995). "Ion transport mechanisms responsible for K+ secretion and the transpithelial voltage across marginal cells of stria vascularis in vitro." *Hear Res* 84(1-2): 19-29.
- Warmke, J., R. Drysdale and B. Ganetzky (1991). "A distinct potassium channel polypeptide encoded by the Drosophila eag locus." *Science* **252**(5012): 1560-1562.
- Watson, C. S. and B. Gametchu (2003). "Proteins of multiple classes may participate in nongenomic steroid actions." *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* **228**(11): 1272-1281.
- Watters, J. J., J. S. Campbell, M. J. Cunningham, E. G. Krebs and D. M. Dorsa (1997). "Rapid membrane effects of steroids in neuroblastoma cells: effects of estrogen on mitogen activated protein kinase signalling cascade and c-fos immediate early gene transcription." *Endocrinology* **138**(9): 4030-4033.
- Watters, J. J. and D. M. Dorsa (1998). "Transcriptional effects of estrogen on neuronal neurotensin gene expression involve cAMP/protein kinase A-dependent signaling mechanisms." J Neurosci 18(17): 6672-6680.
- Weber, C., F. Mello de Queiroz, B. R. Downie, A. Suckow, W. Stuhmer and L. A. Pardo (2006). "Silencing the activity and proliferative properties of the human EagI Potassium Channel by RNA Interference." *J Biol Chem* 281(19): 13030-13037.
- Wegman, E. A., J. A. Young and D. I. Cook (1991). "A 23-pS Ca2(+)-activated K+ channel in MCF-7 human breast carcinoma cells: an apparent correlation of channel incidence with the rate of cell proliferation." *Pflugers Arch* 417(6): 562-570.
- Wei, A. D., G. A. Gutman, R. Aldrich, K. G. Chandy, S. Grissmer and H. Wulff (2005). "International Union of Pharmacology. LII. Nomenclature and molecular relationships of calcium-activated potassium channels." *Pharmacol Rev* 57(4): 463-472.

- Weigelt, B. and J. S. Reis-Filho (2009). "Histological and molecular types of breast cancer: is there a unifying taxonomy?" *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* **6**(12): 718-730.
- Weksberg, R., C. Shuman and J. B. Beckwith (2010). "Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome." *Eur J Hum Genet* 18(1): 8-14.
- Wellings, S. R. and H. M. Jensen (1973). "On the origin and progression of ductal carcinoma in the human breast." *J Natl Cancer Inst* **50**(5): 1111-1118.
- Wellings, S. R., H. M. Jensen and R. G. Marcum (1975). "An atlas of subgross pathology of the human breast with special reference to possible precancerous lesions." J Natl Cancer Inst 55(2): 231-273.
- Wills, N. K., L. Reuss and S. A. Lewis (1996). <u>Epithelial transport : a guide to methods</u> <u>and experimental analysis</u>. London, Chapman & Hall.
- Wilson, G. F. and S. Y. Chiu (1993). "Mitogenic factors regulate ion channels in Schwann cells cultured from newborn rat sciatic nerve." *J Physiol* **470**: 501-520.
- Winn, M. P., P. J. Conlon, K. L. Lynn, M. K. Farrington, T. Creazzo, A. F. Hawkins, N. Daskalakis, S. Y. Kwan, S. Ebersviller, J. L. Burchette, M. A. Pericak-Vance, D. N. Howell, J. M. Vance and P. B. Rosenberg (2005). "A mutation in the TRPC6 cation channel causes familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis." *Science* 308(5729): 1801-1804.
- Wissenbach, U., B. Niemeyer, N. Himmerkus, T. Fixemer, H. Bonkhoff and V. Flockerzi (2004). "TRPV6 and prostate cancer: cancer growth beyond the prostate correlates with increased TRPV6 Ca2+ channel expression." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 322(4): 1359-1363.
- Wonderlin, W. F. and J. S. Strobl (1996). "Potassium channels, proliferation and G1 progression." *J Membr Biol* **154**(2): 91-107.
- Wonderlin, W. F., K. A. Woodfork and J. S. Strobl (1995). "Changes in membrane potential during the progression of MCF-7 human mammary tumor cells through the cell cycle." *J Cell Physiol* 165(1): 177-185.
- Woodfork, K. A., W. F. Wonderlin, V. A. Peterson and J. S. Strobl (1995). "Inhibition of ATP-sensitive potassium channels causes reversible cell-cycle arrest of human breast cancer cells in tissue culture." *J Cell Physiol* 162(2): 163-171.
- Wright, M., J. Grim, J. Deshane, M. Kim, T. V. Strong, G. P. Siegal and D. T. Curiel (1997). "An intracellular anti-erbB-2 single-chain antibody is specifically cytotoxic to human breast carcinoma cells overexpressing erbB-2." *Gene Ther* 4(4): 317-322.

- Wu, C. F., B. Ganetzky, F. N. Haugland and A. X. Liu (1983). "Potassium currents in Drosophila: different components affected by mutations of two genes." *Science* 220(4601): 1076-1078.
- Wulff, H., A. Kolski-Andreaco, A. Sankaranarayanan, J. M. Sabatier and V. Shakkottai (2007). "Modulators of small- and intermediate-conductance calcium-activated potassium channels and their therapeutic indications." *Curr Med Chem* 14(13): 1437-1457.
- Wulff, H., M. J. Miller, W. Hansel, S. Grissmer, M. D. Cahalan and K. G. Chandy (2000). "Design of a potent and selective inhibitor of the intermediateconductance Ca2+-activated K+ channel, IKCa1: a potential immunosuppressant." *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97(14): 8151-8156.
- Yamamura, H., S. Ugawa, T. Ueda, A. Morita and S. Shimada (2008). "TRPM8 activation suppresses cellular viability in human melanoma." *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 295(2): C296-301.
- Yang, I. C., M. W. Scherz, A. Bahinski, P. B. Bennett and K. T. Murray (2000).
  "Stereoselective interactions of the enantiomers of chromanol 293B with human voltage-gated potassium channels." *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 294(3): 955-962.
- Yang, Z. H., X. H. Wang, H. P. Wang and L. Q. Hu (2009). "Effects of TRPM8 on the proliferation and motility of prostate cancer PC-3 cells." *Asian J Androl* 11(2): 157-165.
- Yao, J. A., X. Du, D. Lu, R. L. Baker, E. Daharsh and P. Atterson (2005). "Estimation of potency of HERG channel blockers: impact of voltage protocol and temperature." *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods* 52(1): 146-153.
- Yee, N. S., W. Zhou and M. Lee (2010). "Transient receptor potential channel TRPM8 is over-expressed and required for cellular proliferation in pancreatic adenocarcinoma." *Cancer Lett*.
- Yin, L. T., Y. J. Fu, Q. L. Xu, J. Yang, Z. L. Liu, A. H. Liang, X. J. Fan and C. G. Xu (2007). "Potential biochemical therapy of glioma cancer." *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 362(2): 225-229.
- Yue, L., J. B. Peng, M. A. Hediger and D. E. Clapham (2001). "CaT1 manifests the pore properties of the calcium-release-activated calcium channel." *Nature* 410(6829): 705-709.
- Zhang, L. and G. J. Barritt (2004). "Evidence that TRPM8 is an androgen-dependent Ca2+ channel required for the survival of prostate cancer cells." *Cancer Res* **64**(22): 8365-8373.

- Zhang, L. and G. J. Barritt (2006). "TRPM8 in prostate cancer cells: a potential diagnostic and prognostic marker with a secretory function?" *Endocr Relat Cancer* **13**(1): 27-38.
- Zhu, Y., C. M. Golden, J. Ye, X. Y. Wang, H. I. Akbarali and J. D. Huizinga (2003).
   "ERG K+ currents regulate pacemaker activity in ICC." Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 285(6): G1249-1258.
- Zhuang, L., J. B. Peng, L. Tou, H. Takanaga, R. M. Adam, M. A. Hediger and M. R. Freeman (2002). "Calcium-selective ion channel, CaT1, is apically localized in gastrointestinal tract epithelia and is aberrantly expressed in human malignancies." *Lab Invest* 82(12): 1755-1764.
- Ziechner, U., R. Schonherr, A. K. Born, O. Gavrilova-Ruch, R. W. Glaser, M. Malesevic, G. Kullertz and S. H. Heinemann (2006). "Inhibition of human ether a go-go potassium channels by Ca2+/calmodulin binding to the cytosolic N- and Ctermini." *The FEBS journal* 273(5): 1074-1086.
- Zivadinovic, D., B. Gametchu and C. S. Watson (2005a). "Membrane estrogen receptoralpha levels in MCF-7 breast cancer cells predict cAMP and proliferation responses." *Breast Cancer Res* 7(1): R101-112.
- Zivadinovic, D. and C. S. Watson (2005b). "Membrane estrogen receptor-alpha levels predict estrogen-induced ERK1/2 activation in MCF-7 cells." *Breast Cancer Res* 7(1): R130-144.

## **APPENDIX A: FIGURES**



### Figure 1. Mammary gland structure of the adult female human.

Schematic diagram highlighting the major components of the mammary gland structure including: nipple, duct, alveoli, terminal duct lobular unit (TDLU), stroma, adipose tissue, suspensory ligaments, skin, clavicle, rib and loose connective tissue. Epithelial cells lining the TDLUs produce milk that travels through the ducts and exits via the nipple. Adapted from (Ali *et al.* 2002)



# Figure 2. Ion distribution and transepithelial transport pathways in mammary epithelial cells.

The main transepithelial ion transport pathways in mammary epithelial cells. Apical refers to the plasma membrane separating the milk from the inside of the cell and basolateral refers to the plasma membrane separating the blood from the inside of the cell. Na<sup>+</sup> (yellow) transport is dependent on apical epithelial Na<sup>+</sup> channel (ENaC), basolateral Na<sup>+</sup>K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase and Na<sup>+</sup>K<sup>+</sup>Cl<sup>-</sup>-cotransporter 1 (NKCC1). Cl<sup>-</sup> (green) transport is dependent on apical Cl<sup>-</sup> channels, such as cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR), and NKCC1. K<sup>+</sup> (black) transport is dependent on apical K<sup>+</sup> channels, such as KCNQ1 and basolateral KCNN4 and NKCC1. Ca<sup>2+</sup> (red) transport is dependent on apical plasma membrane Ca<sup>2+</sup>-ATPase (PMCA) and other basolateral Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels. For simplicity only the ion channel-mediated transepithelial transport of Ca<sup>2+</sup> is shown. Free ion concentration of Ca<sup>2+</sup> is shown. Adapted from (Shennan *et al.* 2000).



## Figure 3. Six hallmarks of cancer.

During malignant transformation cancer cells acquire, to variable degrees and at different stages, six hallmark phenotypes including the abilities to be *self-sufficient in growth signals*, to be *insensitive to anti-growth signals*, to *evade apoptosis*, to have *limitless replicative potential*, to posses *sustained angiogenesis*, and to *invade surrounding tissues and metastasize*. Taken from (Hanahan *et al.* 2000).



#### Figure 4. Simplified schematic of the cell cycle.

The cell cycle is divided into four phases gap phase 1 (G<sub>1</sub>), synthesis phase (S), gap phase 2 (G<sub>2</sub>), and mitosis (M). During G<sub>1</sub> cyclin D-cyclin dependent kinases (cyclin D-CDK4/6) and cyclin E-cyclin dependent kinases (cyclin E-CDK2) phosphorulate (P) the retinoblastoma protein (pRB) inhibiting its repression of the transcription factor E2F. Once unrepressed E2F is able to modulate gene expression and allow the progression of the cell cycle. The activities of cyclin D-CDK4/6 and cyclin E-CDK2 complexes are inhibited by the CDK inhibitors p21 <sup>CIP1/WAF1</sup> and p27<sup>KIP1</sup>. Taken from (Abukhdeir *et al.* 2008).



**Figure 5. Molecular identification of K**<sup>+</sup> **channel mRNA and protein in MCF-7 cells.** Total MCF-7 RNA was screened for the mRNA expression of selected K<sup>+</sup> channels. (A) MCF-7 cells express mRNA transcripts for KCNJ8 (336 bp), KCNQ1 (154 bp), KCNH1 (177 bp), KCNH2 (172 bp), KCNN4 (158 bp) and KCNMA1 (153 bp). Lane M is a DNA ladder and Neg. is a negative control containing H<sub>2</sub>O instead of cDNA. Representative example of five trials. (B) Western blotting confirmed the protein presence of selected K<sup>+</sup> channels. hEAG (KCNH1; lane 1, arrows indicate 130 and 110 kDa) was detected as two glycosylated forms, whereas hERG (KCNH2; lane 3, arrow indicates 155 kDa) was detected as a single form in total cell lysate from MCF-7 cells. Primary antibodies incubated with K<sub>V</sub>10.1 and K<sub>V</sub>11.1 control antigens prior to immunoblotting resulted in no protein presence (+P, lanes 2 and 4, respectively), confirming the specificity of the antibodies.



Figure 6. Contribution of K<sup>+</sup> channel activity to MCF-7 cell proliferation.

MCF-7 cell proliferation was quantified using [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation in the presence of K<sup>+</sup> channel blockers specifically targeting different channel types - glibenclamide (Glib, 30  $\mu$ M), chromanol 293B (293B, 100  $\mu$ M), imipramine (Imip, 20  $\mu$ M), astemizole (Ast, 3  $\mu$ M), E-4031 (3  $\mu$ M), ERGtoxin (300 nM), clotrimazole (Clt, 30  $\mu$ M), TRAM-34 (TRAM, 30  $\mu$ M) and iberiotoxin (Ibx, 100 nM). Mean normalized to control data from 3-11 experiments ± standard error of the mean (SEM). \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls.





MCF-7 cells were treated with E2 (1  $\mu$ M) for 24 hr and mRNA expression of numerous genes was determined using qPCR. (A) The level of mRNA expression for KCNH1, KCNN4, KCNMA1 and KCNJ8 after E2 treatment (n = 3). (B) The level of cyclin D1 and VIPR1 mRNA expression after E2 treatment (n = 3). For (A) and (B) gray bars represent control and black bars represent E2 treated. Data were normalized to 18S rRNA expression and the ratio expressed as a % of control ± SEM. \* P< 0.05 when compared to controls.


# Figure 8. Concentration-response and time course of KCNH1 mRNA expression with E2 treatment.

(A) MCF-7 cells were treated for 24 hr with increasing concentrations of E2 (1 pM – 1  $\mu$ M) and KCNH1 mRNA expression of was determined using qPCR (n = 3). Data fitted to a concentration-response curve yielded a maximum expression of ~455% compared to control and an EC<sub>50</sub> of 18.9 ± 28.5 pM. (B) MCF-7 cells were treated with E2 (1 nM) and KCNH1 mRNA expression was determined 2, 6, 12, 18 and 24 hr after treatment (n = 3). Gray bar represents control and black bars represent E2 treated. Data were normalized to 18S rRNA expression and the ratio expressed as a % of control ± SEM. \* P< 0.05 when compared to controls.



Figure 9. Contribution of  $K_v 10.1$  and  $K_{Ca} 3.1$  channel activity to E2-stimulated MCF-7 cell proliferation.

MCF-7 cell proliferation was quantified following treatment with  $K_v 10.1$  (astemizole and imipramine) and  $K_{Ca}3.1$  (clotrimazole and TRAM-34) channel blockers with or without E2. Concentrations of drugs used were: E2 (1 nM), astemizole (Ast, 3  $\mu$ M), imipramine (Imip, 20  $\mu$ M), clotrimazole (Clt, 10  $\mu$ M) and TRAM-34 (TRAM, 10  $\mu$ M). Gray bars represent control and black bars represent E2 treated. In each case, mean data were normalized to control data from 4-28 experiments  $\pm$  SEM. \* P< 0.05 when compared to controls, **†** P < 0.05 when compared between two indicated treatments and N.S. not statistically significant when compared between two indicated treatments.



# Figure 10. Biphasic concentration-dependent effects of TRAM-34 on MCF-7 cell proliferation.

(A) Raw data from a single representative [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation experiment. Data are mean counts per minute  $\pm$  SEM from six wells. (B) Concentration-dependent effects of TRAM-34 in the absence and presence of the estrogen receptor antagonist ICI182,780. Average normalized data from multiple trials expressed as a percentage of control. Each data point is the average of 3-10 trials  $\pm$  SEM. Results are shown for TRAM-34 treatment alone (TRAM, filled circles) and for TRAM-34 treatment in the presence of ICI182,780 (1 nM, TRAM + ICI, open circles). \* P< 0.05 when compared to controls and  $\pm$  P< 0.05 when compared between two indicated treatments at a common concentration of TRAM-34.



20

0

(0.7%)

Clt-

DMSO

Control

3 10 30 10 TRAM-34 (μM)

100



t

ICI

N.S

\*

+

E2 + ICI

× CI

N.S.

\*

E2

+

N.S

Concentration-dependent effects of clotrimazole on  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine incorporation. Each data point represents the mean from 3-4 trials ± SEM. (B) Inhibition of E2-stimulated proliferation by ICI182,780. Mean ['H]thymidine incorporation data in the presence of E2 (0.3 nM), ICI182,780 (ICI, 1 nM) or both (E2 + ICI). (C) Inhibition of TRAM-34stimulated proliferation by tamoxifen. Mean <sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation data in the

presence of TRAM-34 (TRAM, 10 µM), tamoxifen (1 µM) and TRAM-34 plus tamoxifen (TRAM + Tamoxifen). (D) Mean cell counting data from three separate trials  $\pm$  SEM. Concentration of E2 and ICI182,780 used was 0.3 and 1 nM, respectively. (E) Mean percentage cell viability from 3 trypan blue assays. Concentration of clotrimazole (Clt) used was 10  $\mu$ M. \* P< 0.05 when compared to controls, † P < 0.05 when compared between two indicated treatments and N.S. not statistically significant when compared between two indicated treatments.





Normalized average PR/HPRT (A) and ER- $\alpha$ /HPRT (B) ratios (± SEM) from 4 qPCR experiments. MCF-7 cells were treated for 24 hr with E2 (1 nM), TRAM-34 (TRAM, 10  $\mu$ M), ICI182,780 (1 nM), TRAM-34 plus ICI182,780 (TRAM + ICI) and clotrimazole (10  $\mu$ M). \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls, † P < 0.05 when compared between two indicated treatments and N.S. not statistically significant when compared between two indicated treatments.



**Figure 13. TRAM-34 and clotrimazole compete with** [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2 for binding to the ER. Competitive ligand binding assays were performed to determine the direct binding of TRAM-34 and clotrimazole to MCF-7 ER protein. TRAM-34 (0.01-0.1  $\mu$ M) did not reduce the binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2. These data were determined from four sample replicates from one protein extraction, therefore only n = 1. Statistical analysis (Student's *t*-test) performed on this one protein extraction comparing the mean of four control sample versus four TRAM-34 samples yielded a P > 0.05, and was determined to be not statistically significant. TRAM-34 at higher concentrations (1-100  $\mu$ M) significantly reduced the specific binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]-E2. (P < 0.05, n = 3 independent protein extractions). Unless indicated, data are from 3 independent protein extractions and are expressed as a percentage of vehicle control ± SEM. \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls.



 $(Clt, 100 \ \mu\text{M})$ , EBIO (100  $\ \mu\text{M}$ ), and chromanol 293B (293B, 100  $\ \mu\text{M}$ ) on  $^{45}\text{Ca}^{2+}$  uptake after 60 min incubation (n = 3). (E) Concentration-response of DMSO on  $^{45}\text{Ca}^{2+}$  uptake after 60 min incubation (n = 3). In panels B-E data are expressed as a % of vehicle control ± SEM. \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls.





(A) Effect of elevated external [K<sup>+</sup>] on TRAM-34-dependent <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake. Results are shown for 40 mM [K<sup>+</sup>], TRAM-34 (TRAM, 30  $\mu$ M), and 40 mM [K<sup>+</sup>] plus TRAM-34 (40 mM [K<sup>+</sup>] + TRAM) from 4 independent experiments. The percent decrease attributable to TRAM-34 is indicated between groups. (B) Effect of mannitol on TRAM-34-dependent <sup>45</sup>Ca<sup>2+</sup> uptake. Results are shown for mannitol (80 mM), TRAM-34 (30  $\mu$ M) and mannitol plus TRAM-34 (mannitol + TRAM) from 4 independent experiments. Data are expressed as a % of vehicle control ± SEM.\* P < 0.05 when compared between two indicated treatments and N.S. not statistically significant when compared between two indicated treatments.



## Figure 16. The molecular identification of TRPM8 channel mRNA in MCF-7 cells.

Total MCF-7 and LnCAP RNA was screened for TRPM8 channel mRNA expression. (A) TRPM8 mRNA expression was detected as a 115 bp amplicon in both LnCAP (+ve control) and MCF-7 total RNA. No amplicon was detected in the negative RT (data not shown) and  $H_2O$ .





TRPM8 channel activity was assessed using the TRPM8 channel modulators BCTC and icilin. (A) BCTC concentration-dependent decrease in  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  uptake after 60 min incubation (n = 4). Data was fitted to a concentration-response curve (solid line). (B) Effects of capsezapine (30  $\mu$ M) and piperine (100  $\mu$ M) on  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  uptake (n = 4). C) Stimulatory effect of the TRPM8 activator icilin on  ${}^{45}Ca^{2+}$  uptake (n = 3). Results are shown for icilin (10  $\mu$ M), BCTC (30  $\mu$ M) and icilin plus BCTC (Icilin + BCTC). Data are expressed as a % of vehicle control ± SEM. \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls and **†** P < 0.05 when compared between two indicated treatments.



Figure 18. BCTC and icilin inhibit [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation in MCF-7 cells. MCF-7 cell proliferation was quantified using [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation in the presence of TRPM8 modulators BCTC and icilin. (A) Concentration-dependent effects of BCTC on [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation (n = 3-7). (B) Concentration-dependent effects of icilin on [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine incorporation (n = 3-6). Data are expressed as a % of vehicle control  $\pm$  SEM. \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls.



Figure 19. BCTC and icilin are nucleoside transport inhibitors in MCF-7 cells. (A) [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake by MCF-7 cells was measured following a 10 min incubation in [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine. Data were fitted using a linear equation (R<sup>2</sup>= 0.99). (B) Concentration-dependent effects of BCTC on [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake (n = 3). (C) Concentration-dependent effects of icilin on [<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine uptake (n = 3). Data are expressed as a % of vehicle control ± SEM. \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls.



Figure 20. Effect of TRPM8 modulators BCTC and icilin on MCF-7 cell proliferation.

The number of MCF-7 cells was counted following 72 hr treatment with TRPM8 modulators BCTC and icilin and the specific nucleoside transport inhibitor NBTI. (A) MCF-7 cells treated with NBTI (1  $\mu$ M; n = 3) and different concentrations of the TRPM8 channel inhibitor BCTC (1-30  $\mu$ M; n = 3-8). (B) MCF-7 cells treated different concentrations of the TRPM8 activator icilin (0.1-30  $\mu$ M; n = 4-10). \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls.





MCF-7 cells were transfected with specific siRNA sequences targeting the mRNA for the TRPM8 channel and the amount of TRPM8 channel protein was quantified using Western blotting from total MCF-7 cell lysate. (A) Representative Western blot demonstrating the protein abundance of TRPM8 after no siRNA transfection (Control), commercial negative control siRNA (Neg. siRNA), and two siRNA sequences targeting TRPM8 (TRPM8 #1 and TRPM8#2). TRPM8 protein was detected as a band at 128 kDa.  $\beta$ -actin was used a loading control and was detected at 45 kDa. (B) Densitometry was used to measure the amount of TRPM8 and  $\beta$ -actin protein in multiple siRNA transfection experiments (n = 3). TRPM8 protein abundance was converted to a ratio of TRPM8 to  $\beta$ -actin protein and expressed as a percentage of control for each experiment. \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls.





TRPM8 channel expression was reduced using TRPM8 channel specific siRNA and the effect on cell proliferation was measured using cell counting. MCF-7 cells were treated with either opti-MEM media (Control), negative control siRNA (Neg. siRNA), TRPM8 siRNA sequences (TRPM8 #1 and #2) or transfection reagent (siPORT). (A) Average cell counting data from multiple siRNA experiments showing that TRPM8 gene knock down reduces cell proliferation (n = 3). (B) Data was converted to a % of cell growth after siRNA treatment. \* P < 0.05 when compared to controls.



Figure 23. Chemical structures of  $K_{Ca}$ 3.1 channel inhibitors and E2.

Shown are the structures of clotrimazole (A), TRAM-34 (B) and  $17-\beta$  estradiol (E2). Note the substitution of an imidazole ring in (A) for a pyrazole ring in (B). The parent compound for both clotrimazole and TRAM-34 is triarylmethane, whereas for E2 it is cholesterol.





(A) The proposed model to explain how  $K_V10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8 channels contribute to basal breast cancer cell progression through the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle. (B) The proposed model to explain how inhibiting the activity of  $K_V10.1$ ,  $K_{Ca}3.1$  and TRPM8 channels arrests cells in the G<sub>1</sub> phase of the cell cycle. See Section 4.5 for a more detailed description.

#### **APPENDIX B: SOLUTION RECIPES**

RIPA buffer 0.08% Sodium deoxycholate 1% Triton x100 0.1% SDS 150 mM NaCl 1 mM EDTA 10 mM Tris pH 7.4

Running buffer 1.92 M Glycine 0.25 Tris 1% SDS pH 8.5

Transfer buffer 25 mM Tris 192 mM Glycine 0.01% SDS 20% methanol pH 8.3

## TBS

20 mM Tris 0.5 mM NaCl pH 7.5

#### TBS-T

20 mM Tris 0.5 mM NaCl 0.1% Tween20 (Bio-Rad) pH 7.5